INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each original is also photographed in one exposure and is included in reduced form at the back of the book.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

UMI

A Bell & Howell Information Company 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor MI 48106-1346 USA 313/761-4700 800/521-0600

University of Alberta

BIOLISTIC TRANSFECTION OF IMMUNOMODULATING GENES INTO MOUSE ISLETS TO PROMOTE ALLOGRAFT SURVIVAL

by

ANITA LILLIAN GAINER

 \bigcirc

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

EXPERIMENTAL SURGERY

DEPARTMENT OF SURGERY EDMONTON, ALBERTA

SPRING 1997

-



National Library of Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your feel Valme réference

Our file Notre reference

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced with the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-21571-7

Canadä

University of Alberta

Library Release Form

Name of Author:	Anita Lillian Gainer			
Title of Thesis:	Biolistic Transfection of Immunomodulating Genes into Mouse Islets to Promote Allograft Survival			
Degree: Doctor	of Philosophy			

Year this Degree Granted: 1997

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permission.

a L Daine

8364-120 St Edmonton, Alberta T6G 1X2

April 18, 1997

University of Alberta

Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled **BIOLISTIC TRANSFECTION OF IMMUNOMODULATING GENES INTO MOUSE ISLETS TO PROMOTE ALLOGRAFT SURVIVAL** submitted by **ANITA LILLIAN GAINER** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY in EXPERIMENTAL SURGERY.**

Dr. G.L. Warnock

Elliott

V. Rajotte Dr. R.

Kane

Dr. A. Rabinovitch

2/1 Dr. R.G. Gill

March 24, 1997

This text is dedicated to Peter, Andrew and Ian who endured the loss of the wife and mother they once knew

and to

Margaret Irving and Lara Hale

who helped maintain my perspective on the truly important things in this life

ABSTRACT

Localized delivery of immunosuppressive molecules, limited to the graft site, may allow transplantation of tissue in the absence of systemic immunosuppressive agents. To investigate this approach we required an efficient method to transfect intact islets. The biolistic method transforms cells by bornbarding them with microprojectiles coated with DNA. Once internalized, the DNA is solubilized and expressed.

We compared transfection efficiencies of the biolistic method, lipofection and recombinant adenoviral infection. The biolistic method achieved a 35-fold higher level of reporter gene activity than the lipofection method; adenoviral infection achieved a further 25-fold increase. Control and biolistically-transformed islets responded similarly to an in vitro glucose challenge. Syngeneic, biolistically-transfected islets functioned in vivo to reverse the diabetic state.

We then tested the survival of purified CBA (H-2^k) islets, biolistically transfected with a cDNA encoding human CTLA4-Ig under control of the human CMV immediate early promoter, in allogeneic alloxan-induced diabetic BALB/c (H-2^d) recipients receiving no systemic immunosuppression. Functional survival was demonstrated in 50% of grafts transfected with CTLA4-Ig until follow up was concluded at 50, 130 or 165 days. Immunohistochemistry showed well-granulated, insulin-positive islets lying adjacent to, but not infiltrated by, dense aggregates of mononuclear cells.

We subsequently increased our biolistic transfection efficiency through improvement of our biolistic blasting conditions. The optimal helium pressure, gold particle size, number of islets used per blast and the optimal sample loading procedure were determined.

With the improved methodology, islet allograft survival within the same mouse model was determined with islets biolistically transfected with human CTLA4-Ig, human soluble Fas ligand, or a combination of the two molecules. Graft survival beyond 45 days was 50%, 80% and 43% in the CTLA4-Ig, soluble Fas ligand and CTLA4-Ig/Fas ligand groups, respectively. Measurement of expressed protein by ELISA revealed very variable transfection efficiencies within all groups.

We conclude that the local production of human CTLA4-Ig and/or human soluble Fas ligand by biolistically-transfected islets promotes allograft survival. The success rate is at least partially limited by the transfection efficiency, which is determined by technical limitations of our current biolistic technology. Improvements in biolistic technology may allow greater success rates in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. G.L. Warnock, for his generous and unconditional support. I appreciate the opportunity he gave me to return to the research arena after a long hiatus, and his willingness to branch into a new area of study with such enthusiasm. I am also extremely indebted to my co-supervisor, Dr. J.F. Elliott, who so very generously gave of his time, expertise and advice, on both a scientific and personal level. He also granted me full access to his laboratory and its assets, which was an invaluable resource. I wish also to thank Dr. R.V. Rajotte for his guidance and insights, as well as Dr. A. Rabinovitch for his interest and advice.

I am especially grateful to Wilma Suarez-Pinzon for all of her assistance, helpful advice and islet expertise. She provided a phenomenal driving force along with great organizational skills, and is in large part responsible for the final completion of this work. Thanks also to Dr. Tom Churchill, primarily for his personal support and friendship, but also for his assistance in statistical analysis of the data. Dr. Ming Chen's skill and advice within the realm of electron microscopy was much appreciated, as was Dawne Colwell's incredible skill and patience in the preparation of the figures included within this work.

I am also grateful to the graduate students and post-doctoral fellows both in Dr. Elliott's laboratory and within the islet group. In particular, Camille Hancock-Friesen, who spent many months of incredibly hard work preparing and characterizing the Fas ligand molecule which was ultimately used in this study. Also, Wei-ping Min, for his dedicated work in development and performance of the ELISA used to measure human Fas ligand. Thanks to Joud Shafiq who rescued me from the mire of genomic PCR, Brian Taylor for provision of the pPSC1 expression vector which he developed, and to Dean Smith who was always

willing to provide assistance when I was lost, and helpful, topical discussion otherwise. I also appreciated the company, insights and advice of Dan Denney, particularly in the wee hours of the morning! Alexey Atrazhev was also very helpful. In SMRI, thanks particularly to Greg Korbutt, who was instrumental in the provision of islets used for these studies. Gina Rayat's ever-present enthusiasm was always a breath of fresh air and her friendship was much appreciated.

I am very much indebted to the skillful technicians who provided me with isolated mouse islets and assisted with some of the islet transplants - James Lyon, Doreen Dixon, Stephanie Stang and Carl Bengtson. The help of Doug Bracewell was also appreciated. Karen Marlin and Rick Fawcett were also of assistance in Dr. Elliott's laboratory. Lastly, many thanks to Dr. Sami Zaki who was an invaluable asset, both technically and personally.

Finally, I would like to gratefully acknowledge the following agencies for their financial support: the Alberta Heritage Fund for Medical Research through a clinical fellowship, and the Juvenile Diabetes Foundation International. The prizes awarded by the Canadian Society for Clinical Investigation and the Canadian Diabetes Association were also much appreciated.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.

GENERAL INTRODUCTION	PAGE
DIABETES MELLITUS	. 1
ISLET TRANSPLANTATION	3
1. Advantages	. 3
2. Past experience	. 4
3. Outstanding problems	. 5
CELLULAR IMMUNOMODULATION TO OVERCOME ISLET	
ALLOGRAFT REJECTION	. 6
THEORY OF GENE THERAPY (MOLECULAR IMMUNOMODULATION	N)
IN ISLET TRANSPLANTATION	7
GENERAL TRANSFECTION METHODS	8
1. Non-viral methods of gene transfer	9
2. Viral methods of gene transfer	12
TRANSFECTION EXPERIENCE RELATED TO ISLET	
TRANSPLANTATION	15
CANDIDATE MOLECULES FOR IMMUNE INTERFERENCE BY GENE	
THERAPY IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION	18
1. The prevention of T _H cell activation	18
B7:CD28 interactions	19
CTLA4	20
B7:CTLA4-Ig intereactions	20
Other potential interactions for targeting	22
2. Removal or neutralization of effector lymphocytes	23
Fas receptor	24
Fas ligand	25
FasR:FasL interactions	26

Neutralization of effector cytokines	28	
3. Reprogramming of the overall immune response through		
production of immune-modulating cytokines	28	
PURPOSES AND GENERAL OUTLINE OF THESE STUDIES		
REFERENCES	35	
KEFERENCES	32	

II. SUCCESSFUL BIOLISTIC TRANSFORMATION OF MOUSE PANCREATIC ISLETS WHILE PRESERVING CELLULAR FUNCTION

INTRODUCTION	50
MATERIALS AND METHODS	51
1. Islet isolation	51
2. Molecular constructs	51
3. Transfection methods	51
4. Electron microscopy studies	53
5. Characterization of biolistically transfected islets	53
6. Luciferase assays	54
7. Functional studies	55
RESULTS	55
1. Optimization of the biolistic procedure	55
2. Particle penetration	56
3. Recovery and efficacy of transfection	56
4. Functional studies	57
DISCUSSION	57
REFERENCES	67

III. EXPRESSION OF CTLA4-Ig BY BIOLISTICALLY TRANSFECTED MOUSE ISLETS PROMOTES ISLET ALLOGRAFT SURVIVAL

INTRODUCTION	69
MATERIALS AND METHODS	70
1. Islet isolation	70
2. Molecular constructs	70
3. Transfection methods	71
4. Functional studies	71
5. Histologic methods	71
RESULTS	72
1. Allograft survival	72
2. Histological appearance of grafts	73
DISCUSSION	74
REFERENCES	80

IV. OPTIMIZATION OF THE BIOLISTIC TRANSFECTION PROCESS IN MOUSE ISLETS

INTRODUCTION	82
1. Principle	83
2. Optimization	85
MATERIALS AND METHODS	86
1. Islet isolation	86
2. Molecular constructs	87
3. Biolistic transfection	87
4. Reproducibility of blasting procedure	88
5. Viability staining	89
6. Luciferase assays	89

RESULTS	90
1. Effect of the number of islets exposed per biolistic blast	90
2. Effect of different helium pressures per blast	90
3. Effect of gold particle size	91
4. Effect of sample loading procedure	91
DISCUSSION	93
REFERENCES	106

V. PROLONGATION OF ALLOGRAFT SURVIVAL OF BIOLISTICALLY TRANSFECTED ISLETS EXPRESSING HUMAN CTLA4-Ig, HUMAN SOLUBLE FAS LIGAND OR A COMBINATION OF THE TWO.

INTRODUCTION	108
MATERIALS AND METHODS	109
1. Islet isolation	109
2. Molecular constructs	110
3. Biolistic transfection	111
4. Islet transplants	112
5. Insulin determinations	112
6. ELISAs	113
i) Human CTLA4-Ig	113
ii) Human Fas ligand	114
7. Histologic methods	114
RESULTS	115
Optimizing the amount of DNA and gold particles used for transfection	115
1. Assessing islet damage by insulin levels	115
2. Levels of transfected gene expression	116
Transfection control grafts	117

Transfected allogeneic islet transplants	117
1. Allograft survival	117
2. Histology of kidneys harvested at 60 days	120
3. Relationship between allograft survival and pre-transplant	
transgene expression	121
DISCUSSION Optimizing the amount of DNA and gold particles used for transfection	121 121
Transfection control grafts	123
Transfected allogeneic islet transplants	124
REFERENCES	141

VI. GENERAL DISCUSSION

BIOLISTIC TRANSFECTION OF INTACT ISLETS	144
1. Advantages	145
2. Limitations	146
GENE THERAPY AND ISLET TRANSPLANTATION	148
1. Human CTLA4-Ig	148
2. Human soluble Fas ligand	150
ACHIEVEMENTS OF THIS STUDY	152
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	153
REFERENCES	156
APPENDIX	

DETAILS	OF	GENE	CONSTRUCTION	160
---------	----	------	--------------	-----

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
1-1	Immunomodulation protocols which have achieved prolonged islet graft survival.	31
1-2	Summary of transfection methods used with pancreatic islet tissue.	32
2-1	Efficacy of gene introduction into mouse islets.	61
2-2	Insulin response of islets to static glucose challenge following biolistic transformation.	62
3-1	Survival of islet allografts: BALB/c mice transplanted with 500 biolistically transfected CBA islets.	77
4-1	The effect of the number of islets exposed per biolistic blast.	96
4-2	The effect of different helium pressures per blast.	97
4-3	The effect of gold particle size.	98
4-4	Comparison of sample in hanging drop vs sitting drop.	99
5-1	The effect of the quantity of DNA and gold particles on islet damage and transfected gene expression.	131
5-2	Insulin levels of transfection control grafts.	132
5-3	Graft survival and insulin extractions of transfected islet transplants.	133
5-4	Histological appearance of long term allografts harvested at 60 days.	134
5-5	Relationship between allograft survival and pre-transplant expression.	135

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURI	E DESCRIPTION	PAGE
1-1	Mechanisms of allograft rejection.	33
1-2	The Two Signal Hypothesis of T cell activation.	34
2-1	Effect of helium pressure and number of islets per biolistic exposure.	63
2-2	Scanning electron micrograph of a biolistically transfected mouse islet.	64
2-3	Natural scanning electron micrographs of a biolistically transfected mouse islet at two different electron-accelerating voltages.	65
2-4	In vivo function of tranplanted biolistically transfected islets.	66
3-1	Blood glucose levels of mice transplanted with islets biolistically transfected with human CTLA4-Ig.	78
3-2	Photomicrographs of biolistically transfected CBA mouse islet grafts harvested from BALB/c recipients.	79
4-1	Principle of biolistic transfection procedure.	100
4-2	The effect of helium pressure on viability of blasted islets.	101
4-3	The effect of gold particle size on viability of blasted islets.	102
4-4	Reproducibility of biolistic particle acceleration onto cell strainer targets.	103
4-5	Reproducibility of biolistic particle acceleration onto Petri dish targets.	104
4-6	Patterns of gold particle bombardment with different tissue loading procedures.	105

FIGURE	DESCRIPTION	PAGE
5-1	Blood glucose levels of mice bearing transfected long-term allografts, harvested at 60 days.	136
5-2	Photomicrographs of histological sections from kidneys harvested at 60 days which were transplanted with allogeneic islets transfected with human CTLA4-Ig.	137
5-3	Photomicrographs of histological sections from kidneys harvested at 60 days which were transplanted with allogeneic islets transfected with human soluble Fas ligand.	138
5-4	Photomicrographs of histological sections from kidneys harvested at 60 days which were transplanted with allogeneic islets transfected with a combination of human CTLA4-Ig and human soluble Fas ligand.	139
5-5	Hypothetical scenarios of allograft and pancreatic insulin content in alloxan-induced diabetic mice.	140
	Schematic of immunomodulatory molecules used in allotransplant studies.	161
A-2	Cloning strategy for human CTLA4-Ig.	162
A-3	Synthetic oligonucleotides used in synthesis of human CTLA4-Ig.	163
A-4	DNA sequence of the human CTLA4-Ig gene construct.	164
A-5	DNA sequence of the human soluble Fas ligand gene construct.	165

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APC	antigen presenting cell
CMV	cytomegalovirus
CTL	cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DAF	decay accelerating factor
DMEM	Dubellco's modified Eagle's medium
DTH	delayed-type hypersensitivity
DTT	dithiothreitol
FasL	Fas ligand
FasR	Fas receptor
G-CSF	granulocyte colony stimulating factor
ICAM	intercellular adhesion molecule
IFN-γ	gamma interferon
IL	interleukin
LFA	lymphocyte function-associated
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PMA	phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate
pNPP	para-nitro phenylphosphate
RLU	relative light units
SEM	standard error of the mean
TCR	T cell receptor
TGF	transforming growth factor
T _H	T helper cell
TMB	tetramethylbenzidine
TNF	tumour necrosis factor

CHAPTER I

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

DIABETES MELLITUS

There are currently upwards of one million individuals in Canada who suffer from diabetes mellitus, with the incidence steadily increasing. In fact, the Canadian Diabetes Association of Canada has termed this disease "the epidemic of the 21st century". Apart from the medical issues, the disease is also responsible for a major expenditure of increasingly scarce health care dollars.

Clinical disease generally falls into one of two categories: Type I (juvenile onset) insulin dependent disease and Type II (maturity onset) disease which may or may not require exogenous insulin. Although both have a genetic component, the pathophysiology of the two diseases is quite different. Type II disease is responsible for the majority of the disease burden, and is basically a metabolic syndrome. In contrast, Type I disease, the result of an autoimmune process, is less common but is the major cause of chronic childhood disease in the western world. This treatise will focus on Type I disease, and its treatment by islet transplantation.

The history of diabetes mellitus is a long one. As early as the first century A.D., Arataeus described the disease as "a melting down of the flesh and limbs into urine" (for an excellent historical review see (1)). From the middle of the nineteenth century autopsy evidence gradually accumulated which demonstrated that the disease was often accompanied by damage to the pancreas. More importantly, extensive pancreatic damage almost always resulted in diabetes. However, the link remained tenuous until 1889 when Minkowski and von Mering, at the University of Strasbourg, demonstrated that total

pancreatectomy in dogs caused the development of diabetes. By then it was known that the pancreas had two functions. The digestive juices, released into the gut, were known as the pancreas' external secretion. An internal secretion, released directly into the blood stream, was linked to carbohydrate metabolism. In 1894, Watson Williams (Bristol) unsuccessfully attempted to treat a 15 year old diabetic child using walnut-sized grafts of sheep pancreas transplanted into the subcutaneous tissues (2). It was not until 1901, however, that the pathological connection between diabetes and the islets of Langerhans (which had been originally described by Paul Langerhans in 1869) was shown by Opie. Once the link between the pancreas and diabetes had been solidly established, the hunt for the elusive pancreatic extract began in earnest, and during the first two decades of the twentieth century many researchers used extracts to try to replace pancreatic function. The formal discovery of insulin is credited to Banting and Best, working with Macleod and Collip, in Toronto, Canada in 1921. Pharmaceutical companies were quick to see the therapeutic value of such a substance and rapidly developed commercially available injectable forms of insulin derived from animal sources. Although immune reactions to the xenogeneic protein did occur over time, they generally only meant that steadily increasing doses of the drug were required to maintain glycemic control. This problem has now been largely overcome by the availability of human recombinant insulin, where the gene for human insulin has been introduced into yeast and the 'human' protein is produced in large quantities.

Although the availability of injectable insulin revolutionized the treatment of diabetes mellitus, and had an enormous impact on the quality of life and life expectancy of afflicted individuals, it has not provided the ultimate answer. Infrequent intramuscular administration of a large bolus of exogenous insulin is a far cry from the physiologic state where a basal steady state is maintained with super-imposed rapid intravenous responses to increases in blood glucose levels. Although it was intuitively believed that tight control of blood glucose levels would result in lower disease complication rates, this was not formally

demonstrated until the release of the results of the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (3) in 1993. Various approaches have been used over the years to address the problem of intermittent dosing ranging from chemical formulations which resulted in longer action of the insulin, to pumps which provided constant infusion, to injection devices which allowed easier administration of multiple doses (insulin 'pens').

ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

1. Advantages.

Obviously, the best way to regain the normal physiological state of affairs including precise blood glucose control is to replace the ß cells which have been lost due to immune damage by healthy insulin-producing tissue. This could be achieved through transplantation of either an entire pancreas or isolated islets of Langerhans. Although whole organ transplantation has gained in popularity in several centres in the United States, it has not become well-accepted in Europe. Like any vascularized organ transplant, the surgical procedure is complex; it not only requiries access to a vascular supply but the organ also has to be anastomosed to the bladder to provide exocrine drainage. The morbidity associated with the procedure can therefore be considerable, and most of the transplanted tissue is functionally unnecessary. Although the rate of insulin independence at 1 year is 70%, long-term graft survival data in Type I diabetics may still be problematic (4). Therefore, it is still not clear whether the benefit of whole pancreas transplantation outweighs the morbidity of the procedure.

By contrast, in 1972 Ballinger and Lacy demonstrated the feasibility of islet isolation and transplantation in rodents (5). Although the <u>in vitro</u> isolation procedure of human islets is complex, the islet transplantation procedure is extremely simple. Once the umbilical vein has been cannulated, providing external access, the actual transplantation procedure is performed at the bedside where the tissue is simply infused into the liver bed. The greatest procedural complication is that of portal hypertension, requiring close monitoring of portal pressures during the infusion process.

Perhaps one of the greatest advantages of islet transplantation is that the isolation procedure provides an opportunity for <u>in vitro</u> treatment of the islets before transplantation into a recipient. A number of modalities have been used at both the molecular and cellular levels in order to influence the immune attack against the graft subsequent to transplantation. These various immunomodulatory strategies will be discussed in more detail below.

2. Past experience.

Clinical studies of islet transplantation began in earnest in 1974. Based on review of studies between 1990 and 1993, four characteristics were identified to be associated with long-term insulin independence (6). These included a pancreas preservation time of <8 h, infusion of >6000 islet equivalents per kilogram of body weight, liver as transplantation site , and immunosuppression with anti-T cell antibodies. When these criteria were met, 46% of patients had persistent C-peptide secretion at 1 year follow-up, although 83% of patients showed initial C-peptide levels >1 ng/mL. Of those, 29% were insulin independent for 1 year (6). Therefore, 30-40% of islet allografts unfortunately completely lost their function within the first two months following transplantation. In 1994, 28 adult islet allotransplants were performed, with C-peptide levels >1ng/mL for >1 month in 32% of cases, and insulin independence >1 week in only 7% (6). Obviously the issues of primary non-function and immune attack on the transplanted tissue remain largely unresolved.

3. Outstanding problems.

Consistent availability of large numbers of highly purified, viable human islets from cadaveric sources continues to be a problem. Donor numbers have, in fact, progressively decreased over the past several years. Commercial availability of a reproducible high grade collagenase has been an enormous frustration and barrier to further improvements in the field. Fortunately this problem is now being seriously addressed by some of the major enzyme manufacturers.

Allograft rejection of the transplanted islets also has to be overcome. Currently, this is achieved through chronic use of systemic immunosuppressive agents. For this reason islet transplants to date have either largely been carried out simultaneously with, or subsequent to the transplantation of another solid organ, most often a kidney. Immunosuppressive drugs such as Cyclosporine A (7), azathioprine (8) and corticosteroids (9) all have adverse effects on early islet graft survival. In addition, they all have toxic side effects and require close monitoring of blood levels in patients. Some of the recent immunomodulation approaches, such as the gene therapy approach proposed in this thesis, may mean that systemic immunosuppression can be circumvented. Other approaches to avoid allograft rejection are cellular immunodulation and immunoisolation techniques.

Another remaining barrier to long-term islet (as well as whole pancreas) graft survival in diabetes, is the destruction of the transplanted tissue by the autoimmune process, leading to ultimate recurrence of the disease. This phenomenon has been documented in cases of segmental pancreatic transplants between identical twins, where MHC incompatibility was obviously not a factor (10). Graft destruction by recurrent autoimmunity has also been shown in a case of a human islet allograft transplantation (11). Although the following study is limited to addressing immunity to allogeneic tissue, with further understanding of the autoimmune process it may be possible to address the autoimmunity problem through similar gene therapy immunomodulatory approaches.

CELLULAR IMMUNOMODULATION TO OVERCOME ISLET ALLOGRAFT REJECTION

As early as 1975, it was shown by Lafferty et al. that survival of thyroid allografts in mice could be prolonged by first subjecting the tissue to 7 day culture at $37^{\circ}C(12)$. This was followed by a number of studies which showed that various types of tissue treatment could cause a prolongation of islet allograft survival. A brief overview of the protocols which have been used successfully in a variety of systems is presented in Table 1-1. They are all based on the assumption that MHC Class II positive, costimulatory antigen presenting cells (APCs) which were present within the graft as passenger leukocytes were the main source of graft immunogenicity (13), and that inactivation or removal of these passenger APCs caused a decrease in immunogenicity of the engrafted tissue. In other words, it appeared that the major pathway responsible for the triggering of allograft rejection was the direct, donor APC-dependent pathway. This is in contrast to the indirect, recipient APC-dependent pathway, which seems to play a more major role in the process of xenograft rejection (14).

As shown in Table 1-1, similar immunomodulation protocols have been utilized in both the murine and rat rodent systems. However, it appears that in the case of the rat model, most treatments have also required some degree of immunosuppression in the recipients in order to achieve a significant prolongation of the islet graft survival (15-18). Unfortunately, many fewer studies have been carried out using large animal models, due mainly to the technical problems and the cost of conducting these experiments. Again, low dose immunosuppression seemed to be an additional requirement in the canine model (19, 20).

The concept of transplantation of xenogeneic tissue has recently become much more popular. Although success has been achieved in rodent systems, very few "human" studies have been performed. A small number of xenograft studies using human islets and murine recipients have been reported as outlined (21-23).

A few attempts have been made by Scharp et al. (24) to transplant human islets that have been cultured at 24°C for 7 days to human recipients. Unfortunately, although initial C-peptide production was detected, all grafts were rejected by 2 weeks. An interesting model system to examine the effects of immunomodulation protocols on human islets was described by London et al. (25), where a "human reconstituted" severe combined immunodeficient mouse was proposed for use as a recipient.

An ideal method to achieve the desired degree of immunomodulation has yet to be discovered, and the study and development of immunomodulation regimens is still being pursued today.

THEORY OF GENE THERAPY (MOLECULAR IMMUNOMODULATION) IN ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

For islet transplantation to become a generally accepted form of therapy for otherwise healthy, type I diabetic patients, a method must be found to successfully transplant the insulin-producing tissue without any requirement for ongoing systemic immunosuppression. Gene therapy represents an important advance which will move us closer to this goal.

With the advent of recombinant DNA technology and methods to transfer additional new genes into eukaryotic cells, it has become possible to perform gene therapy on isolated islets <u>ex vivo</u>, before their transplantation into a diabetic recipient. In this regard, isolated islets have a distinct advantage over the intact pancreas or other solid organs, since islets can be easily manipulated in tissue culture and can be maintained for some time <u>in vitro</u>.

The basic hypothesis underlying this approach is that by introducing genes which encode immunosuppressive or 'immune-blocking' molecules into isolated islets, the transplanted tissue can be protected from immune rejection. The assumption is that local immunosuppression can be acheived within the graft, while leaving the rest of the immune system intact. Once established, besides eliminating the untoward effects of systemic immunosuppressive agents, this technology may also have the added advantage of being less expensive than conventional immunosuppressive therapy.

Two main questions must be considered when applying gene therapy to the problem of preventing immune rejection of transplanted islets:

1) What are the most suitable methods for introducing new genes into islets?

2) What gene or genes are most useful in preventing the allograft immune response?

GENERAL TRANSFECTION METHODS

The process of introducing new genes into cells or tissues is known as DNAmediated gene transfection, or more simply as 'gene transfection'. Gene transfection methods can be divided into two major categories: 1) non-viral methods, and 2) viral methods. The former category uses purified, 'naked' DNA, which may or may not be complexed with some other macro-molecule or macromolecular complex, whereas in the latter category the DNA is packaged into an infectious recombinant viral particle.

Non-viral methods of transfection may be chemical approaches which rely on normal cellular processes for uptake, or they may be physical, wherein some deliberate manipulation is carried out on the cell to force DNA uptake. Typically, chemical methods cause little or no damage to the cell, whereas physical methods can destroy some or even many of the cells being transfected. Chemical methods generally involve co-precipitation or binding of DNA into macro-molecular complexes, such as crystals of calcium phosphate, complexes of cationic polymers such as DEAE dextran, or small liposomes with a positive surface charge which bind the negatively charged DNA. The macromolecular complexes containing the DNA either settle passively onto the cytoplasmic membrane of the target cells, or bind through charge interactions, and are taken up largely by endocytosis or pinocytosis. Alternatively, physical methods involve some type of additional cell insult, and therefore a certain degree of cell damage, to achieve uptake. Electroporation and biolistics are examples of these kinds of methods.

Viral methods use recombinant viral particles to carry the foreign DNA into the cells during the course of cellular viral infection. Although the engineered viruses maintain their infectivity, they have been engineered to render them replication deficient. Each of these transfection methods has its own set of limitations and potential problems and further specific discussion of each appears in the following section.

1. Non-viral methods of gene transfer.

DNA co-precipitation methods are still widely used to transfect eukaryotic cell lines. The methods are inexpensive, simple to perform, and transfection efficiencies can be reasonably high depending on the cell line used. A brief shock with DMSO or glycerol, and/or the presence of chloroquine can enhance the process of uptake and transformation. A key point is that the ingested DNA travels first into the phagolysosomal compartment of the cell, and if acid nucleases are present, the DNA will be largely or completely destroyed. Experience suggests that the reason that many established (i.e. immortalized) cell lines which have been carried for a long time in tissue culture transfect efficiently with chemical methods is because they have reduced levels of acid nucleases. In contrast, most <u>ex vivo</u> tissues or primary cell lines (i.e. taken directly from a live animal, and not immortalized) are very difficult to transfect by chemical methods.

Lipofection can be performed using either monovalent or multivalent cationic lipids (e.g. Lipofectin and Lipofectamine, respectively; GIBCO/BRL, Gaithersburg, MD,USA).

The multivalent forms have consistently been found to achieve higher transfection rates. The exact nature of the interaction between the negatively-charged DNA and the cationic lipid micelle is still not completely understood, but it is generally accepted that the majority of the DNA/liposome complexes are delivered into the cell through endocytosis (26). Once internalized, the membrane rupturing capability of cationic liposomes is thought to destabilize the endosomal membranes resulting in cytoplasmic release of the DNA/liposome complexes. This ability to rupture the endosome may result in protection from the actions of its degradative enzymes and be the explanation behind the higher transfection efficiencies obtained with this methodology than with the co-precipitation methods. However, it is still difficult to transfect primary tissues with high efficiencies using lipofection. It is also a relatively expensive procedure when using commercially prepared cationic liposomes.

A more recently developed chemical method of transfection involves the use of polylysine-ligand/DNA complexes (27). A targeting ligand is chemically coupled to positively-charged polylysine molecules, which in turn interact with negatively-charged DNA. The targeting ligands can include molecules such as transferrin or asialoglycoproteins, which bind to their specific receptors on the cell surface and stimulate receptor-mediated endocytosis. The advantage of this system is that it allows specific targeting of the DNA to the tissue. As with the co-precipitation methods, however, the DNA is subject to endolysosomal degradation. To circumvent this problem, chemicallyinactivated adenovirus has been used as a targeting ligand. The complex is internalized in a similar fashion, but the virus has an endosomolytic action which ruptures the endosomal membrane, thus avoiding degradation of the DNA. This technology is being further improved through the development of more superior ligands. For example, microorganism-derived peptides which lead to endosomal lysis are being investigated in order to develop virus-free, targeted transfection systems (28). The future should see the development of more specific cell-targeting, higher efficiencies and longer expression times with the addition of newer elements to the system.

With the exception of DMSO or glycerol shock, chemical gene transfer methodologies have little detrimental effect on the target tissue, since the DNA is basically taken up through a natural cellular process. Once within the cytosol, the DNA can be transported to the nuclear compartment where it exists almost entirely in an episomal form, and is therefore eventually degraded by the cell. Gene expression is thus transient, usually in the order of weeks to months, being affected also by the rate of division of the cells and the resultant dilution of the foreign gene.

As previously mentioned, non-viral gene transfection can also be performed by physically damaging the cells to enhance DNA uptake. In the case of electroporation, the cells are suspended in a cuvette in a solution containing the DNA. Upon momentary exposure to a high electrical field, it is hypothesized that small pores are transiently formed in the cellular membrane (29). Consequently, DNA-containing fluid flows into the cell. Although this procedure can be highly efficient, including application to primary tissues in some cases, the exposure to the electrical shock does damage a significant number of cells. A totally different approach is taken with biolistic transformation, or the gene gun (30). Here, DNA is precipitated onto gold or tungsten particles which are approximately 1.0 -4.0 μ m in diameter. With the currently available technology, the microparticles are accelerated to high velocity using high pressure helium gas, and shot into the cells. The rents torn in the cellular membrane are re-sealed by the cell. The inert particles remain in the cytosol, where the DNA is solubilized. This is probably the most harsh process of all of the outlined methods, with a large proportion of the cells being damaged from the effect of the helium shock wave. The advantage of the biolistic transfection system is that it can be used on virtually any cell type, including primary tissues. Disadvantages are the sometimes low transfection rates, and problems with reproducibility, related both to the efficiency and stability of the DNA/gold precipitation process and the technical limitations of the apparatus. Again, in both the case of electroporation and biolistics, the DNA is mainly in an episomal form and expression is therefore transient.

2. Viral methods of gene transfer.

Viral-based methods of transfection are currently very popular due to the high transfection efficiencies that can be obtained. The DNA of choice is inserted into a viral genome, which is then surrounded by viral packaging to form an infectious viral particle. During the process of cellular infection, the passenger DNA is transferred into the cell, a process referred to as transduction. Depending on the virus used, the DNA can either end up in an episomal form or integrated into the host chromosome. Several different viruses can be used as vectors, including pox-, herpes-, adeno-, adeno-associated (parvo) and retroviruses. Since the pox viruses are not replication deficient, they ultimately cause lysis of the target cells. For this reason, they are not widely employed for gene therapy. The latter four viruses, however, have been manipulated so that they are replication deficient despite being able to infect the target cell. Not surprisingly, however, each has associated problems. In addition, viral techniques can be costly due primarily to the expense of virus generation/preparation and biosafety requirements.

Adenoviruses are non-enveloped lytic DNA viruses. The most widely used replication-deficient recombinant adenoviral vectors have been engineered so that the E1 and/or E3 regions have been deleted. Adenoviral vectors have become very popular for a number of reasons (see (31) for review). High titre viral stocks can generally be produced although this is somewhat labour-intensive. Adenoviruses have a broad host species spectrum. They are capable of transfecting a wide range of target cell types, and generally do so with extremely high efficiencies. This is particularly true for epithelial cells since they are the virus' natural targets. The corollary of this, however, is that the DNA can be rapidly lost through epithelial shedding. Perhaps the greatest advantage of adenovirus is its ability to transfect primary, resting or non-dividing cells. Disadvantages of adenovirus include the following. Gene expression is transient since the DNA remains essentially in an episomal form and is therefore ultimately degraded after a period of weeks. In addition, there is now good evidence that the adenoviral proteins produced within the cells are immunogenic (32). An immune response is therefore mounted against them when used in <u>vivo</u>. However, new recombinants with further deletions of the viral genome are being developed (e.g. E2a region deleted) which may help to reduce this problem (33). In addition, re-insertion of the E3 portion may in fact reduce inflammation caused by the virus.

All of the chemical, physical and viral transfection methods previously discussed do not result in long-term gene expression because the DNA does not become permanently integrated into the host chromosome. In contrast, both adeno-associated viruses and retroviruses have this capability. Theoretically, gene expression should therefore be permanent. However, due to other problems associated with each of these vectors their use has been somewhat limited.

Retroviruses have a complex life cycle. The replicative cycle includes packaging of the RNA into virions which enter the target cell. The RNA undergoes reverse transcription to form a DNA provirus which is then stably integrated into the host genome (27). Advantages include a wide host range and stable integration. However, there are several disadvantages. In general, it is difficult to obtain high titre viral stocks of the retroviruses. In addition, the retroviral vectors which are available to date are derived from the Moloney murine leukemia virus, which means that integration is largely limited to proliferating cells. Perhaps most disappointing, however, is the fact that permanent gene expression has not proven to be the case with retroviruses (34). Although integration occurs, expression of the foreign gene wanes over time. Although the reasons are not completely understood, base methylation of the viral promoter/enhancer element by the eukaryotic host probably plays a role (34). While chromosomal integration is thought to be desirable on the one hand, it also poses serious concerns. In the case of retroviruses, integration occurs randomly within the chromosome, and there is the possibility of insertion within a protooncogene with the resultant serious consequences. As a result, these vectors have only been employed for gene therapy in cases where the alternative outweighed this risk,

and the incidence of tumour formation will be revealed over time. Finally, the possible creation of replication-competent retroviruses remains a persistent threat in terms of clinical applications. There has been at least one report of the development of a T cell neoplasm in primates which is thought to have originated from contaminating replication-competent recombinant retroviruses (*35*). On the other hand, rapid advances are being made to improve these vectors through further engineering to minimize or eliminate the current problems associated with them.

In contrast to retroviruses, infection of non-proliferating cells is possible with adeno-associated viruses (parvoviruses), although the chances of chromosomal integration under these circumstances may be lower (36). There have also been several reports of persistent episomal forms with recombinant adeno-associated viruses (reviewed in (37)). These viruses were thought to have the advantage of inserting at specific sites within the host chromosome (38), but this has only proven to be true with wild-type virus, not with the recombinant forms. Therefore, the same concerns regarding insertional mutagenesis apply to them as to the retroviruses, with respect to their use as gene therapy vectors.

Herpes simplex virus can also be employed as a viral vector although its use is less common. This virus is a double stranded DNA virus of which large segments can be deleted, allowing the insertion of very large fragments (up to 30 kb) of foreign DNA. Like the adenoviruses, they have been made replication-deficient and remain in an episomal form. They are capable of infecting non-dividing cells and their main advantage lies with their capability for gene therapy within the nervous system (27).

In summary, a wide range of methods, both viral and non-viral, is available to transfect eukaryotic cells, each with its own advantages and disadvantages. For any given series of experiments it is therefore important to carefully evaluate the long term goal of a study and to consider the type of target cell to be used, the required transfection efficiency, and whether transient gene expression will be sufficient to give a suitable readout.

TRANSFECTION EXPERIENCE RELATED TO ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

Three possible approaches can be considered within the context of using transfected cells in islet transplantation. Transfection could be performed on dissociated islet cells, intact islets or on some kind of unrelated cell which would be co-transplanted along with the islets. Although the number of studies is still small, each of these possibilities has been investigated. A summary of the studies performed to date appears in Table 1-2. Note that this is a summary of all of the transfection procedures attempted and not all of them have been successful.

In general, primary cells are much less receptive to transfection than cultured cell lines, particularly to chemical methods. As previously mentioned, this may be due to differences in acid nuclease levels. More specifically, however, intact islets present an additional difficulty related to their architecture. An islet is a spherical cluster of cells, with many cells buried within the core so that their membranes are relatively inaccessible. In addition, the entire structure is surrounded by a layer of connective tissue which further limits membrane accessibility. In the study by Saldeen et al. (39) intact islets from several species were found to be difficult to transfect using any of the chemical methods. We have also experienced very low transfection rates using Lipofectamine (GIBCO/BRL) on intact islets. Conversely, transfection rates are considerably improved, on the order of 20 to 50 times, if the islets are first dispersed into single cells (39). Interestingly, the same study demonstrates that there is a species difference as to which transfection method is optimal. Electroporation has also been successfully used to transfect single cells from dispersed islets (40-43). In these cases, islets from either obese, hyperglycemic mice or fetal Sprague-Dawley rats were dispersed using trypsin/EDTA, and the resultant single cells were electroporated and then cultured. Lipofection has been performed on similar cell

preparations using locally prepared liposomes (41). Unfortunately, the insulin-secreting capacity of the cells following the transfections was not assessed.

Perhaps more relevant to the transplant setting are the successful transfection studies performed on intact islets. In contrast to the studies mentioned above which failed to achieve successful transfection using lipofection, one group has reported success (44). Southern blots indicated successful uptake of the DNA, although there was no direct evidence of gene expression by these islets. While the transfected islets were transplanted into mice, analysis of their insulin-secreting function was not done since numbers were used which would not result in reversal of hyperglycemia.

We have not obtained efficient transfection of islets in suspension using lipofection, but we have successfully transfected intact islets using biolistics (45). Due to the nature of the transfection process, this method is able to overcome the architectural barriers of the intact islet. However, the process is damaging, with only 50-70% of the initial number of islets being recovered. Those islets that do survive the transfection process show that about 3% of the total cells are expressing the exogenous gene, with each of these cells containing multiple gene copies since each gold particle holds more than one molecule of DNA. Furthermore, transplanted biolistically-transfected islets functioned <u>in vivo</u> to reverse diabetes. We have recently improved the process such that we can now obtain luciferase activity encoded by the foreign DNA in the order of 140 times greater than that which we published previously (see Chapters II and IV).

By far the most efficient transfection process for intact islets is infection with recombinant viruses. Newgard's group pioneered the method of adenoviral infection in intact islets, achieving gene transfer into 70% of islet cells, with expression persisting up to 1 month in culture with no adverse effects on <u>in vitro</u> insulin-secreting capacity (46). Similar results have been obtained by others, including good <u>in vivo</u> function following transduction (47-49). Again, this system is only useful for short-term expression with one time exposure since immune responses to adenoviral antigens have been documented (32).
More recently, successful transfection of both intact islets and dispersed single cells has been achieved using a defective Herpes simplex virus-1 amplicon vector, with approximately 80% of islet cells transfected (50). Presently available retroviral vectors have been tried unsuccessfully on islets, failure presumably being due to the extremely low percentage of proliferating cells present (47).

Since gene transfer into intact islets has been either relatively inefficient or associated with viral immunogenicity which may result in graft clearance, another approach is to consider co-transplantation of an independent transfected cell along with nontransfected islets. This model has been employed using a transfected muscle cell line (51). The obvious problems associated with this concept are tumour formation and overgrowth of the graft by the accompanying immortalized 'nurse' cells. Ideally, one would wish to use a non-motile, non-proliferating cell which is efficiently transfected using a non-viral method. A study which utilized co-transplanted primary myoblasts transfected by lipofection and selected for gene expression appears to fulfill these criteria (52). However, with respect to an intra-islet passenger leukocyte (e.g. a donor antigen presenting cell), it may be advantageous to have protein production centrally from an islet cell, rather than from a peripheral location. Due to further improvements in transfection techniques, the number of studies using both transfected islets and co-transplanted transfected cells is rapidly increasing.

CANDIDATE MOLECULES FOR IMMUNE INTERFERENCE BY GENE THERAPY IN ALLOGRAFT REJECTION

The activation of recipient CD4+ T helper (T_H) lymphocytes by donor antigen presenting cells is thought to be a critical initial step in the process of allograft rejection (53). Classically, CD8+ cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) have been thought to inflict the majority of the tissue damage (54). However, a recent report challenges the paradigm that the CTL is the major effector cell responsible for allograft destruction (55). Furthermore, it is now known that the magnitude of a CTL response is significantly diminished in the absence of CD4+ T cell help (56). Although the relative contribution of each effector mechanism may still be an area of controversy, it is generally accepted that several additional processes are involved in allograft rejection, including delayed type hypersensitivity (DTH), CD4+ cell mediated damage and humoral responses (53). Figure 1-1 outlines the mechanisms involved and their respective interactions (53). With expansion of our knowledge of these events at a molecular level, it is now possible to attempt to disrupt specific key steps involved in the rejection process. The advantage of using a gene therapy approach as opposed to systemic agents is that the specific immune interference could be limited to the site of the graft.

In general, immune interference could be attempted in order to achieve three basic goals: the prevention of T_H cell activation, the removal or neutralization of effector cells, and/or the reprogramming of the overall immune response through the production of immune-modulating cytokines. Each of these concepts is briefly discussed below.

1. The prevention of $T_{\rm H}$ cell activation.

It is now generally accepted that two signals are required for T cell activation (57). Signal 1 occurs with engagement of the antigen-specific T cell receptor by either foreign antigen in self-MHC or by a foreign MHC molecule. Signal 2 is a co-stimulatory signal that is provided by metabolically active antigen presenting cells (APCs). In islet grafts, these intra-islet APCs have been termed passenger leukocytes (13) and a number of <u>in vitro</u> manipulations have been used effectively to remove or damage them before islet transplantation. This type of immunomodulation has been discussed earlier in this chapter. Rather than APC removal, however, an attractive concept is simply to block the costimulatory signal provided by the donor APCs, using a molecular immunosuppressive strategy.

The most important effect of the introduction of a gene encoding a co-stimulatory blocking protein would be the blockade of T_H cell activation. A diagrammatic representation of such an approach appears in Figure 1-2. Interference at the level of the APC: T_H lymphocyte interaction (and subsequent T_H activation) should in turn have a deleterious effect on all of allograft rejection effector mechanisms (see Figure 1-1). If ongoing prevention of activation required continuous blockade, permanent transfection would be a necessity, which is not yet possible for islets with currently available techniques. However, the presence of Signal 1 in the absence of Signal 2 has resulted in long-term lymphocyte hyporesponsiveness in vitro (58). If similar events occur in vivo, blockade of the co-stimulatory signal would theoretically only be required in the initial period following transplantation. It follows that transient transfection should be sufficient to achieve this initial blockade.

B7:CD28 interactions

Currently, the B7 (APC):CD28 (T cell) interaction is thought to be one of the principal co-stimulatory signals involved in T cell activation (56). The CD28 molecule was discovered to be a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily, and to contain a single extracellular V-like domain (59). It was subsequently discovered to have an accessory (co-stimulatory) function during T cell activation (60). Further study showed that the CD28 molecule adhered to 'B cell activation antigen', or B7, which is also a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily (61). Further to this, P.S. Linsley reported in 1991 that

CD28 was the primary receptor for B7 on activated peripheral T cells, and that the two molecules bound to each other in the absence of other accessory molecules. The K_d between B7 and a CD28-Ig fusion protein was calculated to be approximately 200 nM (62). The same study also demonstrated that theB7:CD28 interaction was co-stimulatory for T cell activation since it led to the proliferation of T cells and increased levels of IL-2 messenger RNA transcripts (62).

CTLA4

In 1987, Brunet et al. discovered a new molecule, CTLA4, which was homologous to CD28, when performing differential screening of a murine cytolytic T cell cDNA library (63). Transcripts for CTLA4 were then found in other T cell populations which had cytotoxic activity (63, 64). In 1988, the gene for human CTLA4 was cloned (65) and was mapped to the same chromosomal region as CD28 (66). Interestingly, significant homology exists between the CD28 and CTLA4 molecules, particularly in the cytoplasmic regions (64, 65). In addition, the cytoplasmic domains of the murine and human forms of the CTLA4 molecule are identical, suggesting an important signaling function (65). It has been shown that CTLA4 mRNA is present in only low levels, if at all, in naive T cells, but can be detected in both CD4+ and CD8+ cells, and in essentially all T-cell clones, following activation (67, 68).

B7:CTLA4-Ig interactions

In 1991, P.S. Linsley began his now extensive study of the CTLA4 molecule. As in previous studies of the CD28 molecule (62), a fusion protein was constructed which consisted of the extracellular portion of the human CTLA4 molecule linked to a human IgC γ 1 tail which had had the disulfide bridges in the hinge region disrupted by cys to ser substitutions (69). The calculated K_d of CTLA4-Ig for B7 was approximately 12 nM, in the order of 20 times greater than that of CD28-Ig (K_d of 200 nM). This value compares favourably with higher affinity monoclonal antibodies (K_d 2-10,000 nM (70)), K_d values of integrin receptors and their ligands (10-2,000 nM (71-73)), interactions between CD2 and LFA-3 (400 nM, (74)), and the binding of soluble alloantigen to the TCR of a murine T cell hybridoma (approximately 100 nM, (75)). Further, CTLA4-Ig inhibited a mixed lymphocyte reaction in a dose-dependent manner (69). The soluble CTLA4-Ig molecule binds to the various isoforms of B7 present on APCs (76), thereby preventing their interaction with both CD28 and CTLA4 receptors on T cells . Stable transfectants of mammalian cells were subsequently made, which allowed production of large amounts of the CTLA4-Ig fusion protein (69).

Simultaneous reports appeared which extended the in vitro immunosuppressive effects of CTLA4-Ig to the in vivo situation. The use of intravenous injections of CTLA4-Ig resulted in long-term islet xenograft survival (23), and suppression of antibody responses to both sheep red blood cells and a soluble protein antigen, keyhole limpet hemocyanin (77). Several studies have demonstrated prolonged survival of rat heterotopic cardiac allografts when this molecule has been administered intravenously around the time of transplantation (78, 79). Similar findings have been found in mouse models (80, 81), and long-term donor-specific tolerance could be induced (81). It has also been shown that CTLA4-Ig inhibited alloantibody responses to repeated blood transfusions in rats (82). Prolonged allograft survival has also been reported using CTLA4Ig in combination with other immunosuppressive strategies in several systems. CTLA4Ig combined with donorspecific blood transfusion (83, 84), low-dose cyclosporine A (85) or anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody (86) has been successful in the rat heterotopic cardiac allograft system. The latter combination also produced indefinite survival of rat small bowel allografts and tolerance to subsequent heart allografts (87). Using a rat lung allograft model, the combination of CTLA4-Ig, single-dose cylcosporine A and donor-specific transfusions resulted in the most prolongation, but long-term acceptance was not achieved (88). Similar approaches have been taken in murine cardiac allograft models, with prolonged allograft survival being achieved with a combination of CTLA4-Ig and donor bone marrow (89). CTLA4-Ig plus an anti-CD4, anti-CD8 and anti-LFA-1 monoclonal antibody led to excellent mouse

myoblast survival for > 1 month (90). Finally, a group has recently produced a form of CTLA4-Ig which has an IgM, rather than IgG tail which means that it exists in a pentameric form (91). When combined with sub-therapeutic doses of FK506, this molecule led to significant survival of mouse heterotopic, nonvascularized cardiac grafts. In summary, there is a substantial literature which indicates that systemic CTLA4-Ig can lead to prolongation of allograft survival in several systems.

Simply incubating mouse islets with the murine CTLA4-Ig protein in vitro before transplantation also resulted in long-term graft survival in 42% of allografts (92). In this case, there is no CTLA4-Ig directly administered to the mouse. These results again suggest that the direct, donor APC-dependent mechanism plays a significant role in allograft rejection. Co-transplantation of stable transfectants of a syngeneic murine muscle cell line along with mouse islets also conferred immune protection, allowing prolonged islet allograft survival (51). We have biolistically transfected mouse islets with the cDNA encoding for human CTLA4-Ig and achieved long-term survival in 50% of allografts (93). Further prolongation of allograft survival was obtained by the same group when an additional co-stimulatory molecule blocker, anti LFA-1, was used along with the transformed co-transplanted cells (94).

To reiterate, the rationale for all of these studies is that the soluble, higher affinity CTLA4-Ig molecule binds to B7 molecules present on the donor tissue, thus preventing interaction of these molecules with the lower affinity CD28 molecules on recipient T cells. Antigen-specific T cell activation is thus theoretically prevented. It is important to note that in all of the studies performed using CTLA4-Ig systemically (see above), there have been no adverse effects reported in terms of toxicity to the recipient.

Other potential interactions for targeting

Although we have limited our approach solely to the CD28:B7 interaction, there are several other lymphocyte:APC interactions whose disruption could potentially lead to prevention of T cell activation. It has been shown that blocking CD2:LFA-3 interactions

using a soluble 'LFA-3-Ig' molecule can block T cell activation (95-97), and that CD2:LFA-3 signaling can reverse human alloantigen-specific clonal anergy (98). Other investigators have shown that CD40:CD40 ligand signaling is important for T cell activation (99, 100), that this activation pathway plays a critical role in allograft rejection (101), and that by treating mice with allogeneic lymphocytes and antibody to CD40 ligand, pancreatic islet allografts (and in some cases even skin grafts) can be accepted long-term (102). Finally, monoclonal antibody blockade of ICAM-1:LFA-1 interactions alone have also been shown to allow acceptance of mouse cardiac allografts, and the transplanted mice show donor specific tolerance to allogeneic skin grafts (103). Other authors have argued that blockade of the ICAM-1:LFA-1 signaling pathway results in immunosuppression without inducing alloantigen-specific anergy (104). Larsen and colleagues reported that they could achieve long-term acceptance of mouse skin and cardiac allografts by blocking both the CD40 and CD28 pathway (105). It is only a matter of time before many of these molecules, both alone and in combination, will be tested through transfection studies.

2. Removal or neutralization of effector lymphocytes.

An alternative approach to interruption of T cell activation, is to remove or inactivate cells which have become activated, in order to prevent their destructive effector function. One of the advantages of such an approach is that activated T cells would be targeted for destruction regardless of whether they had been activated by donor APCs (direct pathway) or recipient APCs presenting shed donor antigens (indirect pathway). An example of such a strategy would be the introduction of Fas ligand, in the hopes of causing apoptosis of activated, Fas receptor-expressing target lymphocytes. This system is discussed in detail below.

FAS receptor

The Fas receptor and complementary Fas ligand system has been discovered and characterized relatively recently. The discovery of what is now known as Fas receptor came about as the result of investigations involving apparent inconsistencies in the cytotoxic actions of tumour necrosis factor (TNF). The authors isolated a murine IgM monoclonal antibody called anti-Fas antibody, which was cytotoxic to a number of human cell lines (*106*). Using this antibody, they were subsequently able to identify a unique membrane protein called Fas antigen (*106*). Another group independently isolated a murine IgG3 monoclonal antibody called anti-Apo-1, which induced tumour regression in a particular B cell lymphoma line called BJAB (*107*). The gene for Fas antigen (receptor) was subsequently isolated by expression cloning from a cDNA library prepared from cells with high levels of Fas expression and consequent susceptibility to anti-Fas antibody toxicity (*108*). The gene encoding Apo-1 was cloned shortly thereafter, which established that it had the same identity as Fas antigen (*109*). The molecule is now generally known as Fas, Fas receptor, or CD95. Further study localized the gene to chromosome 19 in mice and chromosome 10 in humans (*110*).

Fas receptor is a Type I protein (meaning that it has an extracellular amino terminus, a transmembrane domain and a cytoplasmic carboxy terminus) and the mature protein is composed of 325 amino acids (108). A soluble, truncated form of Fas receptor (sFasR) which lacks the transmembrane region has also been identified, the result of alternate mRNA splicing (111). Fas receptor is a member of the TNF receptor family, and has significant homology to the TNF receptor in the cytoplasmic region. Mutational analysis revealed that the 70 amino acid region which was homologous between the two molecules was necessary and sufficient for transduction of an apoptotic signal (112, 113).

Fas receptor is constitutively and abundantly expressed by a variety of tissues including mouse thymus, heart, lung, liver, kidney and ovary (110). However, the same authors found human thymocyte Fas expression to be weak. Fas receptor is also highly

expressed on activated mature lymphocytes (107). Further, Fas expression could be upregulated by IFN- γ in various cell lines (106, 108, 110), or IFN- γ in combination with TNF- α in human B cells (114).

Fas ligand

Fas ligand, the complementary molecule which binds Fas receptor, was identified by screening cell lines using fusion proteins composed of an IgG tail joined to either the extracellular region of the Fas receptor or TNF. It was found that the former molecule blocked the killing of Fas-expressing targets by a particular cell line called PC60-d10S (115). The authors were then able to purify the Fas ligand molecule from solubilized membrane fractions from a subline of PC60-d10S cells. The rat, murine and human genes were subsequently cloned, and localized to chromosome 1 in both humans and mice (116-118).

In addition to the protein isolated from solubilized membrane fractions, the Fas ligand molecule was isolated from supernatants of Fas ligand-expressing cell cultures. The membrane-bound and soluble forms were found to have equivalent biological activity (115, 116). Since the gene has no signal sequence, the soluble form of the protein is thought to arise through proteolytic cleavage of the membrane-bound form (119). Fas ligand has been characterized as a Type II protein (meaning it has a cytoplasmic amino terminus, a transmembrane region, and a extracellular carboxy terminus) and the mature protein is composed of 281 amino acids (115). There is 77% homology between the murine and human molecules and they are functionally interchangeable (119). In addition, significant homology with other members of the TNF family exists (118).

In contrast to the widespread expression of Fas receptor, constitutive Fas ligand expression is limited. It has been found on germ line cells (120), with abundant expression in mouse and rat testes (116). Interestingly, Nagata's group has not been able to find expression in human testes (119). Fas ligand is expressed within the anterior chamber of the eye (121). It is also present on activated T cells, but no Fas ligand-encoding mRNA

could be found in B cells, macrophages, fibroblasts or endothelium (122-124). Further, expression on T lymphocytes can be rapidly induced by activation with PMA (phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate), ionomycin or TCR engagement.

FasR:FasL interactions

Functional studies using mouse cell lines transformed with human Fas died by apoptosis within five hours following treatment with Fas ligand (109). Similar results have been obtained with Fas ligand-transformed COS cells and Fas receptor-expressing targets (116). The cell death caused by cross-linking of the Fas receptor has all of the hallmarks of apoptosis including the characteristic nuclear and cytoplasmic condensation and DNA fragmentation (107). The conclusions which can be drawn from these studies, are that Fas receptor transduces an apoptotic signal and that anti-Fas antibody and Fas ligand act as agonists. Isolated single, activated T cells have also been found to undergo apoptosis, indicating that one cell has both the stimulatory and effector mechanisms present to induce cellular 'suicide' (125). However, in other circumstances, Fas receptor can function in transduction of activation signals (126).

Based on experimental results to date, the Fas receptor/ligand system has a number of apparent functions. Firstly, the system provides an alternate CTL killing mechanism to the classically-described perforin system. While calcium is required for granzyme/perforin-dependent killing, in the absence of calcium, cytotoxic activity still remains and is attributed to the Fas/Fas ligand system (127). In addition, perforin knock-out mice retain their cytotoxic capacity towards Fas receptor-expressing cells (128, 129).

Secondly, the Fas receptor/ligand mechanism has also been postulated to play an important role in immunologic homeostasis. This conclusion has largely been based on findings in Fas receptor-deficient (lpr) and Fas ligand-deficient (gld) mice. Both strains develop lymphoproliferative disorders accompanied by lymphadenopathy, spenomegaly, and produce large quantities of antibodies including autoreactive anti-DNA and rheumatoid factor. They develop arthritis and nephritis and ultimately succumb to premature death

around the age of 5 months (117). However, positive and negative selection in the thymus of lpr mice is apparently normal, suggesting that the Fas-mediated system of apoptosis is not involved (130, 131). This has led to speculation that the Fas/Fas ligand system is instrumental in the maintenance of peripheral self tolerance (117, 132). Perhaps the role of this system in the periphery is the deletion of self reactive clones which have escaped thymic negative selection, and the containment of activated T cell clones following antigenic stimulation.

A third proposed function is the maintenance of the immune-privileged nature of certain anatomical sites and tissues. Some examples of such sites include testis, ovary, eye and brain. Although the presence of an anatomical barrier may play a role in some cases, it is not the sole explanation since lymphocytes are not sequestered from all immune privileged tissues (133). It has been found that some of these sites, such as the cells in the anterior chamber of the eye and the testis, express Fas ligand constitutively (120, 121). In addition, the avoidance of graft rejection of so-called immune-privileged tissues (sertoli cells) when ectopically transplanted across allogeneic barriers has been attributed to the production of Fas ligand (120). The authors based this conclusion on findings that sertoli cells isolated from mice which lack Fas ligand expression (gld) were rejected as opposed to sertoli cells from 'normal' mice which were protected and shown to express Fas ligand (120). Concurrently, another group reported that immune privilege of the anterior chamber and cornea of the eye was lost in animal models lacking Fas ligand production (gld), and that 'normal' tissue of the iris, cornea, ciliary body and retina all stained positive for Fas ligand (121). Taken together, these results suggest that Fas ligand produced by a tissue can protect it from damaging immune processes, presumably by causing apoptosis of Fas receptor-expressing cells which come into the area.

More recently, murine primary myoblasts were transfected to express FasL and were co-transplanted with allogeneic islets (52). Long-term allograft survival was achieved when the islets were accompanied by large numbers of the FasL-expressing myoblasts. The localized production of the protein encoded by the transfected gene is an important consideration within the Fas/Fas ligand system since, in contrast to CTLA4-Ig, systemic administration of soluble Fas ligand and monoclonal antibodies to Fas receptor produced systemic toxicity in the form of fulminant hepatic failure in mice (134).

Neutralization of effector cytokines

Rather than destroying activated cells, another approach would be to neutralize their secreted products. For example, soluble forms of a number of cell surface receptors could theoretically be produced to bind such cytokines as IL-2 and TNF and thereby block immune activation/expansion and prevent the detrimental effects of these cytokines on target islet cells. This approach will not be addressed in these studies.

3. Reprogramming of the overall immune response through production of immune-modulating cytokines.

Another potential approach to prevent graft rejection is to genetically engineer islets to locally express immune-modulating cytokines. The <u>in vitro</u> effects of the T_{H}^2 associated' cytokines IL-4, TGF-8, and IL-10 suggest that some or all of these might be used to inhibit the generation and/or activation of allospecific T effector cells, as well as the production of CTL-associated cytokines (*135*). There have not been any complete published reports of gene therapy trials using either transfected islets or co-transplantable cells which are expressing cytokines. However, one group has presented preliminary results suggesting that adenovirally-transfected islets producing IL-10 and TGF-8 have prolonged survival (*136*). Conversely, work done in Dr. J.F. Elliott's laboratory in Edmonton suggests that IL-10 or IL-4 alone offer no protection (unpublished results). Most of the studies to date have been done using transgenic animals whose islets produce the specific cytokine by virtue of being driven by an insulin promoter (*137-140*). Results have not been encouraging. A significant problem with cytokines is that the cellular response to them is concentration dependent. Therefore, different effects can be obtained depending on the local concentration of the cytokine around the islets. Generally the introduced gene is overexpressed and the cytokine product is therefore present in relatively large amounts.

PURPOSES AND GENERAL OUTLINE OF THESE STUDIES

As previously mentioned, transplantation of insulin-producing tissue is the most physiologic approach to the treatment of diabetes. In order for the use of islet transplantation to become widespread, we must ideally be able to perform it in the absence of systemic immunosuppression. The overall purpose of these studies was to determine whether this could be achieved by transfection of islets with DNA encoding immunomodulating molecules. Localized production of these molecules by the islets themselves, limited to the area of the graft, would theoretically protect the engrafted tissue from immune attack while leaving the rest of the immune system unaffected.

As the University of Alberta is a well-known centre for clinical islet transplantation, the ultimate aim is to use this approach in human islet transplantation. While a mouse model was used to test our hypotheses (being a convenient source of islets as well as a consistent allogeneic combination), it is anticipated that this methodology will be readily transferable to the human islet transplantation setting. With the ultimate goal of human islet transplantation in mind, it was felt that a non-viral transfection technique on intact islets would be most desirable, and that human versions of the immunomodulatory molecules would be cloned and tested.

The first task then, was to determine which transfection technique would be most advantageous and efficacious on intact islets (Chapter II). Having determined that biolistic transfection of islets was possible, a choice of CTLA4-Ig was made as a good candidate for molecular manipulation of the immune response in an <u>in vivo</u> transplant study (Chapter III). Based on the outcome of our <u>in vivo</u> study, it was felt that the efficiency of the biolistic transfection was sub-optimal, so the biolistic process was studied in more detail (Chapter IV). Finally, two candidate molecules, CTLA4-Ig and soluble Fas ligand, were studied in the transplant setting using the optimized transfection conditions (Chapter V). The final chapter (Chapter VI) includes a general discussion of the results obtained and possible future directions suggested by this work.

Table 1-1. Immunomodulation protocols which have achieved prolonged islet graft survival.

Allografts - mice

1. 12d culture of thyroid tissue at 37°C in 95% O_2 :5% CO ₂ (12).	1975
2. 7-12d culture of islet clusters at 37°C in 95% O_2 :5% O_2 (141).	1980
3. Incubation of islets with anti-Ia antibodies and complement (C') (142).	1981
4. Treatment of islets with anti-dendritic antibody and C' (143).	1985
5. Exposure of islets to gamma radiation (144).	1989

Allografts - rats

1. 7d culture at 24°C in 95% air:5% CO ₂ and one injection of ALS (15).		
2. Exposure to ultraviolet radiation (145).	1984	
3. Incubation with Ia antiserum and C' and 3d of Cyclosporine A (16).	1986	
4. 7d culture at 24°C and 3d of Cyclosporine A (16).	1986	
5. Incubation with anti-Ia immunotoxin (146).*	1986	
6. Exposure to gamma radiation and short course of Cyclosporine A (17).	1989	
7. 48h culture at 37°C with deoxyguanosine and Cyclosporine A (18).	1991	
8. 12d culture at 24°C in 95% air:5% CO ₂ (147).#	1986	

- * Showed abrogation of stimulating capacity in mixed lymphocyte islet co-culture; no graft performed. # Showed prevention of autoimmune insulitis.

Allografts - dogs

1. Exposure to ultraviolet-B radiation and low dose Cyclosporine A (19).	1 99 0
2. 7d culture at 22°C and low dose Cyclosporine A (20).	1991

Xenografts - rat islets to mouse recipient

1. 7d culture of mega-islets at 37°C in 95% O ₂ :5% CO ₂ (148).	1982
2. Cryopreservation and ALS (149).	1987

Xenografts - human islets to mouse recipient

1. 7d culture at 24°C and L3T4 (21).	1987
2. Incubation with HLA-I F(ab) ₂ fragments (22).	1991
3. Injection with B7 blocking agent (CTLA4 Ig) (23).	1992

Tissue Type	Method	Species	First Author	Reference
Dispersed Islet Cells	Lipofection	Rat Mouse, rat, pig, human	Welsh, M Saldeen, J	(41) (39)
	Electroporation	Rat Fetal rat, ob/ob mouse	Welsh, M Welsh, M	(41) (40)
		Rat Fetal rat	German, MS German, MS	(43) (42)
	Adenovirus- polylysine DNA	Mouse, rat, pig, human	Saldeen, J	(39)
	CaPO4 ppt.	Mouse, rat, pig, human	Saldeen, J	(39)
Intact Islets	Lipofection	Mouse Mouse	Welsh, M Gainer, AL	(44) (45)
	Adenovirus- polylysine DNA	Mouse, rat, pig, human	Saldeen, J	(<i>39</i>)
	Biolistics	Mouse	Gainer, AL	(45)
	Adenovirus	Rat Newborn mouse Mouse Pig	Becker, TC Csete, ME Korbutt, GS Mirenda, V	(150) (47) (48) (49)
	Herpes virus	Mouse	Liu, Y	(50)
Co-transplantation	CaPO ₄	Mouse/myoblasts	Chahine, AA	(51)
	Lipofection	Mouse/myoblasts	Lau, HT	(52)

 Table 1-2.
 Summary of transfection methods used with pancreatic islet tissue.







expressing B7 leads to T cell response due to presence of both Signal 1 & 2. C. Binding of soluble form of CTLA4 receptor (CTLA4-Ig) to B7 on APC prevents interaction with T cell CD28/CTLA4 The Two Signal Hypothesis of T cell activation. A. Parenchymal cells do not express costimulatory molecules responsible for Signal 2 (eg. B7) so there is no T cell response. B. APC The Two Signal Hypothesis of T cell activation. Figure 1-2.

REFERENCES

- Bliss M. The Discovery of Insulin. 75th Anniversary ed. Toronto, Ontario: McClelland & Stewart Inc., 1982.
- 2. Watson Williams P. Notes on diabetes treated with extract and by grafts of sheep's pancreas. British Medical Journal 1894; 2: 1303-1304.
- The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. NEJM 1993; 329: 977-986.
- 4. Sutherland D, Gruessner A, Moudry-Munns K. International Pancreas Transplant Registry report. Transplantation Proceedings 1994; 26: 407-411.
- Ballinger W, Lacy P. Transplantation of intact pancreatic islets in rats. Surgery 1972;
 72: 175-186.
- Hering B, Greier C, Schultz A, Bretzel R, Federlin K. International Islet Transplant Registry Report. Giessen, Germany: Department of Medicine, Justus-Liebig-University of Giessen, 1995.
- Andersson A, Borg H, Hallberg A, Hellerstrom C, Sandler S, Schnell A. Longterm effects of cyclosporin A on cultured mouse pancreatic islets. Diabetologia 1984; 27 (suppl): 66-69.
- 8. Viviani GL, Borgoglio M, Fontana I, et al. Azathioprine decreases insulin secretion in human islets. Transplantation Proceedings 1989; 21: 2714-2716.
- 9. Zeng Y, Ricordi C, Lendoire J, et al. The effect of prednisone on pancreatic islet autografts in dogs. Surgery 1993; 113: 98-102.
- Sibley R, Sutherland D, Goetz F, Michael A. Recurrent diabetes mellitus in the pancreas iso- and allograft. A light and electron microscopic and immunohistochemical analysis of four cases. Laboratory Investigation 1985; 53: 132-144.

- 11. Stegall MD, Lafferty KJ, Kam I, Gill RG. Evidence of recurrent autoimmunity in human allogeneic islet transplantation. Transplantation 1996; 61: 1272-1274.
- 12. Lafferty K, Cooley M, Woolnough J, Walker K. Thyroid allograft immunogenicity is reduced after a period in organ culture. Science 1975; 188: 259-261.
- Lafferty KJ, Prowse SJ, Simeonovic CJ, Warren HS. Immunobiology of tissue transplantation: A return to the passenger leukocyte concept. Ann Rev Immunol 1983; 1: 143-173.
- Wolf LA, Coulombe M, Gill RG. Donor antigen-presenting cell-dependent rejection of islet xenografts. Transplantation 1995; 60: 1164-1170.
- 15. Lacy P, Davie J, Finke E. Prolongation of islet allograft survival following in vitro culture (24C) and a single injection of ALS. Science 1979; 204: 312-313.
- Terasaka R, Lacy P, Hauptfeld V, Bucy R, Davie J. The effect of cyclosporin-A, low-temperature culture, and anti-Ia antibodies on prevention of rejection of rat islet allografts. Diabetes 1986; 35: 83-88.
- James R, Lake S, Chamberlain J, et al. Gamma irradiation of isolated rat islets pretransplantation produces indefinite allograft survival in cyclosporine-treated recipients. Transplantation 1089; 47: 929-933.
- Al-Abdullah I, Kumar A, Al-Adnani M, Abouna G. Prolongation of allograft survival in diabetic rats treated with cyclosporine by deoxyguanosine pretreatment of pancreatic islets of Langerhans. Transplantation 1991; 1991: 967-971.
- Kenyon N, Strasser S, Alejandro R. Immunomodulation of canine islets for prolongation of allograft survival. Diabetes 1990; 39: 305-311.
- 20. Warnock G, Dabbs K, Cattral M, Rajotte R. Improved survival of in vitro cultured canine islet allografts. Transplantation 1994; 57: 17-22.
- Ricordi C, Lacy P, Sterbenz K, Davie J. Low-temperature culture of human islets or in vivo treatment with L3T4 antibody produces a marked prolongation of islet human-to-mouse xenograft survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987; 84: 8080-8084.

- Faustman D, Coe C. Prevention of xenograft rejection by masking donor HLA class I antigens. Science 1991; 252: 1700-1702.
- 23. Lenschow DJ, Zeng Y, Thistlethwaite JR, et al. Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4Ig. Science 1992; 257: 789-792.
- Scharp D, Lacy P, Santiago J, et al. Results of our first nine intraportal islet allografts in Type I, insulin-dependent diabetic patients. Transplantation 1991; 51: 76-85.
- 25. London N, Thirdborough S, Swift S, Bell P, James R. The diabetic 'human reconstituted' severe combined immunodeficient (SCID-hu) mouse: A model for isogeneic, allogeneic, and xenogeneic human islet transplantation. Transplantation Proceedings 1991; 23: 749.
- Gao X, Huang L. Cationic liposome-mediated gene transfer. Gene Therapy 1995; 2: 710-722.
- 27. Anegon I, David A, Charreau B, Soulillou J-P. Somatic Gene Transfer in Transplantation. In: Tilney N, Strom T, Paul L, eds. Transplantation Biology: Cellular and Molecular Aspects. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven Publishers, 1996: 689-699.
- Plank C, Oberhauser B, Mechtler K, Koch C, Wagner E. The influence of endosome-disruptive peptides on gene transfer using synthetic virus-like gene transfer systems. J of Biol Chem 1994; 269: 12918-12924.
- Sambrook J, Fritsch E, Maniatis T. Molecular Cloning. A laboratory manual. 2nd ed: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1989.
- 30. Sanford JC. The biolistic process. TIBTECH 1988; 6: 299-302.
- Becker TC, Noel RJ, Coats WS, et al. Use of Recombinant Adenovirus for Metabolic Engineering of Mammalian Cells. In: Roth M, ed. Methods in Cell Biology: Protein Expression in Animal Cells, vol 43. New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1994: 161-189.

- McCoy RD, Davidson BL, Roessler BJ, et al. Pulmonary inflammation induced by incomplete or inactivated adenoviral particles. Human Gene Therapy 1995; 6: 1553-1560.
- 33. Yang Y, Nunes FA, Berencsi K, Gonczol E, Engelhardt JF, Wilson JM. Inactivation of E2a in recombinant adenoviruses improves the prospect for gene therapy in cystic fibrosis. Nature Genetics 1994; 7: 362-369.
- 34. Challita P-M, Skelton D, El-Khoueiry A, Yu X-J, Weinberg K, Kohn DB. Multiple modifications in cis elements of the long terminal repeat of retroviral vectors lead to increased expression and decreased DNA methylation in embryonic carcinoma cells. J Virology 1995; 69: 748-755.
- Donahue RE, Kessler SW, Bodine D, et al. Helper virus induced T cell lymphoma in nonhuman primates after retroviral mediated gene transfer. J Exp Med 1992; 176: 1125-1135.
- Flotte T, Afione S, Zeitlin P. Adeno-associated virus vector gene expression occurs in non-dividing cells in the absence of vector DNA integration. American Journal Resp. Cell Mol. Biol. 1994; 11: 517-521.
- Flotte T, Carter B. Adeno-associated virus vectors for gene therapy. Gene Therapy 1995; 2: 357-362.
- Kotin R, Linden R, Berns K. Characterization of a preferred site on chromosome 19q for integration of adeno-associated virus DNA by non-homologous recombination. EMBO J 1992; 11: 5071-5078.
- 39. Saldeen J, Curiel DT, Eizirik DL, et al. Efficient gene transfer to dispersed human pancreatic islet cells in vitro using adenovirus-polylysine/DNA complexes or polycationic liposomes. Diabetes 1996; 45: 1197-1203.
- 40. Welsh M, Welsh N, Nilsson T, et al. Stimulation of pancreatic islet beta-cell replication by oncogenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1988; 85: 116-120.

- 41. Welsh M, Claesson-Welsh L, Hallberg A, et al. Coexpression of the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) B chain and the PDGF b receptor in isolated pancreatic islet cells stimulates DNA synthesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1990; 87: 5807-5811.
- 42. German M, Moss L, Rutter W. Regulation of insulin gene expression by glucose and calcium in transfected primary islet cultures. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 22063-22066.
- 43. German M. Glucose sensing in pancreatic islet beta cells: The key role of glukinase and the glycolytic intermediates. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1993; 90: 1781-1785.
- Welsh M, Andersson A. Transplantation of transfected pancreatic islets Stimulation
 of β cell DNA synthesis by the SRC oncogene. Transplantation 1994; 57: 297-299.
- Gainer AL, Korbutt GS, Rajotte RV, Warnock GL, Elliott JF. Successful biolistic transformation of mouse pancreatic islets while preserving cellular function. Transplantation 1996; 61: 1567-1571.
- 46. Becker T, Noel R, Johnson J. Use of recombinant adenovirus vectors for high-efficiency gene transfer into the islets of Langerhans. Diabetes 1993; 42 (suppl 2): 11A.
- 47. Csete ME, Benhamou PY, Drazan KE, et al. Efficient gene transfer to pancreatic islets mediated by adenoviral vectors. Transplantation 1995; 59: 263-268.
- Korbutt G, Smith D, Rajotte R, Elliott J. Expression of β galactosidase in mouse pancreatic islets by adenoviral-mediated gene transfer. Transplantation Proceedings 1995; 27: 3414.
- Mirenda V, Charreau B, Sigalla J, et al. Xenoreactivity in the pig islet to human combination: Feasibility of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer into pig islets. Transplantation Proceedings 1996; 28: 808-810.
- Liu Y, Rabinovitch A, Suarez-Pinzon W, et al. Expression of the bcl-2 Gene from a Defective HSV-1 Amplicon Vector Protects Pancreatic β-cells from Apoptosis. Human Gene Therapy 1996; 7: 1719-1726.

- Chahine AA, Yu M, McKernan MM, Stoeckert C, Lau HT. Immunomodulation of pancreatic islet allografts in mice with CTLA4Ig secreting muscle cells. Transplantation 1995; 59: 1313-1318.
- 52. Lau HT, Yu M, Fontana A, Stoeckert CJ. Prevention of islet allograft rejection with engineered myoblasts expressing FasL in mice. Science 1996; 273: 109-112.
- 53. Kuby J. Immunology. 2nd ed. New York: W.H. Freeman and Company, 1994.
- 54. Hall BM. Cells mediating allograft rejection. Transplantation 1991; 51: 1141-1151.
- 55. Walsh CM, Hayashi F, Saffran DC, Ju S-T, Berke G, Clark WR. Cell-mediated cytotoxicity results from, but may not be critical for, primary allograft rejection. J of Immunology 1996; 156: 1436-1441.
- Abbas A, Lichtman A, Pober J. Cellular and Molecular Immunology. 2nd ed.
 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania: W.B. Saunders Company, 1994.
- Janeway CA, Bottomly K. Signals and signs for lymphocyte responses. Cell 1994;
 76: 275-285.
- 58. Tan P, Anasetti C, Hansen JA, et al. Induction of alloantigen-specific hyporesponsiveness in human T lymphocytes by blocking interaction of CD28 with its natural ligand B7/BB1. J Exp Med 1993; 177: 165-173.
- 59. Aruffo A, Seed B. Molecular cloning of a CD28 cDNA by a high-efficiency COS cell expression system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1987; 84: 8573-8577.
- 60. June C, Ledbetter J, Linsley P, Thompson C. Role of the CD28 receptor in T cell activation. Immunol. Today 1989; 11: 211-216.
- Freeman GJ, Freedman AS, Segil JM, Lee G, Whitman JF, Nadler LM. B7, a new member of the Ig superfamily with unique expression on activated and neoplastic B cells. J Immunology 1989; 143: 2714-2722.
- 62. Linsley PS, Brady W, Grosmaire L, Aruffo A, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. Binding of the B cell activation antigen B7 to CD28 costimulates T cell proliferation and interleukin 2 mRNA accumulation. J Exp Med 1991; 173: 721-730.

- 63. Brunet J-F, Denizot F, Luciani M-F, Roux-Dosseto M, Golstein P. A new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily - CTLA-4. Nature 1987; 328: 267-270.
- 64. Brunet J-F, Denzoit F, Golstein P. A differential molecular biology approach for genes preferentially expressed in functional T lymphocytes: the CTLA genes.
 Immunol. Rev. 1988; 103: 21-36.
- 65. Dariavich P, Mattei M-G, Golstein P, Lefranc M-P. Human Ig superfamily CTLA-4 gene: chromosomal localization and identity of protein sequence between murine and human CTLA-4 cytoplasmic domains. Eur J Immunol 1988; 18: 1901-1905.
- Lafage-Pochitaloff M, Costello R, Couez D, et al. Human CD28 and CTLA4-4 Ig superfamily genes are located on chromosone 2 at bands 933-934. Immunogenetics. 1990; 31: 198-201.
- 67. Freeman G, Lombard D, Gimmi C, et al. CTLA-4 and CD28 mRNA are coexpressed in most T cells after activation. J Immun 1992; 149: 3705-3801.
- 68. Lindsten T, Lee K, Harris E, et al. Characterization of CTLA-4 structure and expression on human T cells. J Immun 1993; 151: 3489-3499.
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. J Exp Med 1991; 174: 561-569.
- Alzari P, Lascombe M, Poljak R. Three-dimensional structure of antibodies. Annual Review of Immunology 1988; 6: 555-580.
- 71. Di Minno G, Thiagarajan P, Perussia B, et al. Exposure of platelet fibrinogenbinding sites by collagen, arachidonic acid, and ADP: inhibition by a monoclonal antibody to the glycoprotein IIb-IIIa complex. Blood 1983; 61: 140-148.
- 72. Hautanen A, Gailit J, Mann D, Ruoslahti E. Effects of modifications of the RGD sequence and its context on recognition by the fibronectin receptor. J Biol Chem 1989; 264: 1437-1442.

- 73. Thiagarajan P, Kelly K. Exposure of binding sites for vitronectin on platelets following stimulation. J Biol Chem 1988; 263: 3035-3038.
- 74. Recny M, Neidhardt E, Sayre P, Ciardelli T, Reinherz E. Structural and functional characterization of the CD2 immunoadhesion domain. Evidence for inclusion of CD2 in an alpha-beta protein folding class. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 8542-8549.
- 75. Schneck J, Maloy W, Coligan J, Margulies D. Inhibition of an allospecific T cell hybridoma by soluble class I proteins and peptides: estimation of the affinity of a T cell receptor for MHC. Cell 1989; 56: 47-55.
- 76. Azuma M, Ito D, Yagita H, et al. B70 antigen is a second ligand for CTLA-4 and CD28. Nature 1993; 366: 76-79.
- 77. Linsley PS, Wallace PM, Johnson J, et al. Immunosuppression in vivo by a soluble form of the CTLA-4 T cell activation molecule. Science 1992; 257: 792-794.
- 78. Turka LA, Linsley PS, Lin H, et al. T-cell activation by the CD28 ligand B7 is required for cardiac allograft rejection in vivo. PNAS 1992; 89: 11102-11105.
- 79. Bolling S, Lin H, Turka L. The time course of CTLAIg effect on cardiac allograft rejection. Journal of Surgical Research 1996; 63: 320-323.
- 80. Baliga P, Chavin KD, Qin L, et al. CTLA4Ig prolongs allograft survival while suppressing cell-mediated immunity. Transplantation 1994; 58: 1082-1090.
- Pearson TC, Alexander DZ, Winn KJ, Linsley PS, Lowry RP, Larsen CP. Transplantation tolerance induced by CTLA4-Ig. Transplantation 1994; 57: 1701-1706.
- Ibrahim S, Jakobs F, Kittur D, et al. CTLA4Ig inhibits alloantibody responses to repeated blood transfusions. Blood 1996; 88: 4594-4600.
- Lin H, Bolling Sf, Linsley PS, et al. Long-term acceptance of major histocompatibility complex mismatched cardiac allografts induced by CTLA4Ig plus donor-specific transfusion. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 1801-1806.

- Bolling S, Lin H, Wei R, Turka L. Preventing allograft rejection with CTLA4Ig: effect of donor-specific transfusion route or timing. Journal of Heart and Lung Transplantation. 1996; 15: 928-935.
- Bolling S, Lin H, Wei R, Linsley P, Turka L. The effect of combination cyclosporine and CTLA4-Ig therapy on cardiac allograft survival. Journal of Surgical Research 1994; 57: 60-64.
- 86. Yin D, Fathman CG. Induction of tolerance to heart allografts in high responder rats by combining anti-CD4 with CTLA4Ig. J Immunology 1995; 155: 1655-1659.
- Yin D, Sankary H, Williams J, Krieger N, Fathman C. Induction of tolerance to small bowel allografts in high-responder rats by combining anti-CD4 with CTLA4Ig. Transplantation 1996; 62: 1537-1539.
- 88. Jordan S, Masumara Y, Zuo X, Marchevsky A, Linsley P, Matloff J. Donor-specific transfusions enhance the immunosuppressive effects of single-dose cyclosporine A and CTLA4-Ig but do not result in long-term graft acceptance in a histoincompatible model of rat lung allograft rejection. Transplant Immunology 1996; 4: 33-37.
- Pearson T, Alexander D, Hendrix R, et al. CTLA4-Ig plus bone marrow induces long-term allograft survival and donor specific unresponsiveness in the murine model. Evidence for hematopoietic chimerism. Transplantation 1996; 61: 997-1004.
- Guerette B, Gingras M, Wood K, Roy R, Tremblay J. Immunosuppression with monoclonal antibodies and CTLA4-Ig after myoblast transplantation in mice. Transplantation 1996; 62: 962-967.
- 91. Yamada A, Murakami M, Ijima K, et al. Long-term acceptance of major histocompatibility complex-mismatched cardiac allograft induced by a low dose of CTLA4IgM plus FK506. Microbiology & Immunology 1996; 40: 513-518.
- 92. Steurer W, Nickerson PW, Steele AW, Steiger J, Zheng XX, Strom TB. Ex vivo coating of islet cell allografts with murine CTLA4/Fc promotes graft tolerance. J Immunology 1995; 155: 1165-1174.

- 93. Gainer A, Korbutt G, Rajotte R, Warnock G, Elliott J. Expression of CTLA4-Ig by biolistically transfected mouse islets promotes islet allograft survival. Transplantation 1997, in press.
- 94. Chahine AA, Yu M, McKernan M, Stoeckert C, Linsley PS, Lau HT. Local CTLA4Ig synergizes with one-dose anti-LFA-1 to achieve long-term acceptance of pancreatic islet allografts. Transplantation Proceedings 1994; 26: 3296.
- Miller G, Hochman P, Meier W, et al. Specific interaction of lymphocyte functionassociated antigen with CD2 can inhibit T cell responses. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 211-222.
- 96. Majeau G, Meier W, Jimmo B, Kioussis D, Hochman P. Mechanism of lymphocyte function-associated molecule 3-Ig fusion proteins inhibition of T cell responses. J Immunology 1994; 152: 2753-2767.
- 97. Osborn L, Day E, Miller G, et al. Amino acid residues required for binding of lymphocyte function-associated antigen 3 (CD58) to its counter-receptor CD2. J Exp Med 1995; 181: 429-434.
- 98. Boussiotic V, Freeman G, Griffin J, Gray G, Gribben J, Nadler L. CD2 is involved in maintenance and reversal of human alloantigen-specific clonal anergy. J Exp Med 1994; 180: 1665-1673.
- 99. Noelle R, Roy M, Shepherd D, Stamenkovic I, Ledbetter J, Aruffo A. A 39-kDa protein on activated helper T cells binds CD40 and transduces the signal for cognate activation of B cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1992; 98: 6550-6554.
- Banchereau J, Bazan F, Blanchard D, et al. The CD40 antigen and its ligand. Ann. Rev. Immunol. 1994; 12: 881-922.
- 101. Larsen C, Alexander D, Hollenbaugh D, et al. CD40-gp39 interactions play a critical role during allograft rejection. Transplantation 1996; 61: 4-9.

- 102. Parker D, Greiner D, Phillips N, et al. Survival of mouse pancreatic islet allografts in recipients treated with allogeneic small lymphocytes and antibody to CD40 ligand. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1995; 92: 9560-9564.
- 103. Isobe M, Yagita H, Okumura K, Ihara A. Specific acceptance of cardiac allograft after treatment with antibodies to ICAM-1 and LFA-1. Science 1992; 255: 1125-1127.
- 104. Boussiotis V, Freeman G, Gray G, Gribben J, Nadler L. B7 but not intercellular adhesion molecule-1 costimulation prevents the induction of human alloantigenspecific tolerance. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 1753-1763.
- 105. Larsen C, Elwood E, Alexander D, et al. Long-term acceptance of skin and cardiac allografts after blocking CD40 and CD28 pathways. Nature 1996; 381: 434-438.
- 106. Yonehara S, Ishii A, Yonehara M. A cell-killing monoclonal antibody (anti-Fas) to a cell surface antigen co-downregulated with the receptor of tumor necrosis factor. J Exp Med 1989; 169: 1747-1756.
- 107. Trauth B, Klas C, Peters A, et al. Monoclonal antibody-mediated tumor regression by induction of apoptosis. Science 1989; 245: 301-305.
- 108. Itoh N, Yonehara S, Ishii A, et al. The polypeptide encoded by the cDNA for human cell surface antigen Fas can mediate apoptosis. Cell 1991; 66: 233-243.
- 109. Oehm A, Behrmann I, Falk W, et al. Purification and molecular cloning of the APO-1 cell surface antigen, a member of the tumor necrosis factor/nerve growth factor receptor superfamily. Sequence identity with the Fas antigen. J Biol Chem 1992; 267: 10709-10715.
- 110. Watanabe-Fukunaga R, Brannan C, Itoh N, et al. The cDNA structure, expression, and chromosomal assignment of the mouse Fas antigen. J Immunol 1992; 148: 1274-1279.

- 111. Cascino I, Fiucci G, Papoff G, Ruberti G. Three functional soluble forms of the human apoptosis-inducing Fas molecule are produced by alternative splicing. J Immunol 1995; 154: 2706-2713.
- 112. Itoh N, Nagata S. A novel protein domain required for apoptosis. Mutational analysis of human Fas antigen. J Biol Chem 1993; 268: 10932-10937.
- 113. Tartaglia L, Ayres T, Wong G, Goeddel D. A novel domain within the 55 kd TNF receptor signals cell death. Cell 1993; 74: 845-853.
- 114. Moller P, Henne C, Leithauser F, et al. Coregulation of the APO-1 antigen with intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (CD54) in tonsillar B cells and coordinate expression in follicular center B cells and in follicle center and mediastinal B-cell lymphomas. Blood 1993; 81: 2067-2075.
- 115. Suda T, Nagata S. Purification and characterization of the Fas-ligand that induces apoptosis. J Exp Med 1994; 179: 873-879.
- 116. Suda T, Takahashi T, Golstein P, Nagata S. Molecular cloning and expression of the Fas ligand, a novel member of the tumor necrosis factor family. Cell 1993; 75: 1169-1178.
- 117. Takahashi T, Tanaka M, Brannan C, et al. Generalized lymphoproliferative disease in mice, caused by a point mutation in the Fas ligand. Cell 1994; 76: 969-976.
- 118. Takahashi T, Tanaka M, Inazawa J, Abe T, Suda T, Nagata S. Human Fas ligand: gene structure, chromosomal location and species specificity. International Immunology 1994; 6: 1567-1574.
- 119. Nagata S, Golstein P. The Fas death factor. Science 1995; 267: 1449-1456.
- 120. Bellgrau D, Gold D, Selawry H, Moore J, Franzusoff A, Duke RC. A role for CD95 ligand in preventing graft rejection. Nature 1995; 377: 630-632.
- 121. Griffith TS, Brunner T, Fletcher SM, Green DR, Ferguson TA. Fas ligand-induced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. Science 1995; 270: 1189-1192.

- 122. Anel A, Buferne M, Boyer C, Schmitt-Verhulst A, Golstein P. T cell receptorinduced Fas ligand expression in cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones is blocked by protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors and cyclosporine A. Eur J Imm 1994; 24: 2469-2476.
- 123. Vignaux F, Vivier E, Malissen B, Depraetere V, Nagata S, Golstein P. TCR/CD3 coupling to Fas-based cytotoxicity. J Exp Med 1995; 181: 781-786.
- 124. Suda T, Okazaki T, Naito Y, et al. Expression of the Fas ligand in cells of T cell lineage. J Immun 1995; 154: 3806-3813.
- 125. Brunner T, Mogil R, LaFace D, et al. Cell-automonous Fas (CD95)/Fas ligand interaction mediates activation-induced apoptosis in T-cell hybridomas. Nature 1995; 373: 441-444.
- 126. Alderson M, Armitage R, Maraskowsky E, et al. Fas transduces activation signals in normal human T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 2231-2235.
- 127. Ju S, Cui H, Panka D, Ettinger R, Marshak-Rothstein A. Participation of target Fas protein in apoptosis pathway induced by CD4+ Th1 and CD8+ cytotoxic T cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1994; 91: 4185-4189.
- 128. Kagi D, Vignaux F, Ledermann B, et al. Fas and perforin pathways as major mechanisms of T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. Science 1994; 265: 528-530.
- 129. Lowin B, Hahne M, Mattmann C, Tschopp J. Cytolytic T-cell cytotoxicity is mediated through perforin and Fas lytic pathways. Nature 1994; 370: 650-652.
- 130. Sidman C, Marshall J, Von Boehmer H. Transgenic T cell receptor interactions in the lymphoproliferative and autoimmune syndromes of lpr and gld mutant mice. European J Imm 1992; 22: 499-504.
- Herron L, Eisenberg R, Roper E, Kakkanaiah V, Cohen P, Kotzin B. Selection of the T cell receptor repertoire in Lpr mice. J Immun 1993; 151: 3450-3459.

- 132. Fisher G, Rosenberg F, Straus S, et al. Dominant interfering Fas gene mutations impair apoptosis in a human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. Cell 1995; 81: 935-946.
- 133. Streilein JW. Unraveling immune privilege. Science 1995; 270: 1158-1159.
- 134. Ogasawara J, Watanabe-Fukunaga R, Adachi M, et al. Lethal effect of the anti-Fas antibody in mice. Nature 1993; 364: 806-809.
- Howard M, Muchamuel T, Andrande S, Menon S. Interleukin 10 protects mice from lethal endotoxemia. J Exp Med 1993; 177: 1205-1208.
- 136. Golsorkhi AA, Min JK, Shaked A, Barker C, Naji A. Prolongation of islet allograft survival by vector-mediated gene transfer of TGF-β and IL-10. International Transplant Congress. Barcelona, Spain, 1996: 375.
- 137. Sarvetnick N, Liggitt D, Pitts S, Hansen S, Stewart T. Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus induced in transgenic mice by ectopic expression of class II MHC and interferon-gamma. Cell 1988; 52: 773-782.
- 138. Wogensen L, Huang X, Sarvetnick N. Leukocyte extravasation into the pancreatic tissue in transgenic mice expressing interleukin 10 in the Islets of Langerhans. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 175-185.
- 139. Wogensen L, Lee M-S, Sarvetnick N. Production of interleukin 10 by islet cells accelerates immune-mediated destruction of ß cells in nonobese diabetic mice. J Exp Med 1994; 179: 1379-1384.
- 140. Lee M-S, Wogensen L, Shizuru J, Oldstone MBA, Sarvetnick N. Pancreatic islet production of murine interleukin-10 does not inhibit immune-mediated tissue destruction. J Clin Invest 1994; 93: 1332-1338.
- 141. Bowen K, Andrus L, Lafferty K. Allotransplantation of mouse pancreatic islets to nonimmunosuppressed recipients. Diabetes 1980; 29 (suppl 1): 98-104.

- 142. Faustman D, Hauptfeld V, Lacy P, Davie J. Prolongation of murine islet allograft survival by pretreatment of islets with antibody directed to Ia determinants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1981; 78: 5156-5159.
- 143. Faustman D, Steinman R, Gebel H, Hauptfeld V, Davie J, Lacy P. Prevention of rejection of murine islet allografts by pretreatment with anti-dendritic cell antibody. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1984; 81: 3864-3868.
- 144. Kanai T, Porter J, Gotoh M, Monaco P, Maki T. Effect of gamma-irradiation on mouse pancreatic islet-allograft survival. Diabetes 1989; 38 (Suppl1): 154-156.
- 145. Lau H, Reemtsma K, Hardy M. Prolongation of rat islet allograft survival by direct ultraviolet irradiation of the graft. Science 1984; 223: 607-609.
- 146. Shizuru J, Ramakrishnan S, Hunt T, Merrell R, Fathman C. Inhibition of rat mixed lymphocyte pancreatic islet cultures with anti-Ia immunotoxin. Transplantation 1986; 42: 660-666.
- 147. Woehrle M, Markmann J, Silbers W, Barker C, Naji A. Effect of temperature of pretransplant culture on islet allografts in BB rats. Transplantation Proceedings 1986; 18: 1845-1847.
- 148. Lacy P, Finke E, Janney C, Davie J. Prolongation of islet xenograft survival by in vitro culture of rat megaislets in 95% O2. Transplantation 1982; 33: 588-59?.
- 149. Coulombe M, Warnock G, Rajotte R. Prolongation of islet xenograft survival by cryopreservation. Diabetes 1987; 36: 1086-1088.
- 150. Becker T, Beltran del Rio H, Noel R, Johnson J, Newgard C. Overexpression of hexokinase I in isolated islets of Langerhans via recombinant adenovirus. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 21234-21238.

CHAPTER II

SUCCESSFUL BIOLISTIC TRANSFORMATION OF MOUSE PANCREATIC ISLETS WHILE PRESERVING CELLULAR FUNCTION¹

INTRODUCTION

We are interested in using gene therapy to achieve immunomodulation of isolated, intact islets. In these studies, we sought an efficient method to transfect intact islets, which may be practical for application in transplantation.

Biolistic transfection is accomplished by accelerating gold or tungsten particles coated with DNA to high velocity by means of high pressure helium gas. The particles bombard the cells, penetrate their cellular membrane, and enter the cytosol where the exogenous DNA is solubilized and subsequently expressed. The cellular membrane defects undergo repair and the particles themselves are thought to be inert.

Biolistic particle bombardment was first developed for use in plants (1). It has since been employed successfully in microbes (2), cellular organelles such as chloroplasts (3) and mitochondria (4), and tissues of live mice (5). Recent studies have extended its use to murine cell line systems (6) and to *Xenopus* oocytes (7). These studies all report high efficiencies of gene introduction, some into primary cell systems which were previously found difficult to transfect, but the effect of the treatment on other cellular functions has not been previously evaluated. We found the biolistic method of transfection of freshlyisolated mouse islets with a reporter gene, firefly luciferase, to be far superior to lipofection using lipofectamine, although inferior to adenoviral infection in terms of transfection efficiency. Furthermore, the <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u> function of the islets is preserved.

> ¹A version of this chapter has been published in Transplantation 1996, 61: 1567

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Islet isolation.

BALB/c mice were anaesthetized using tribromoethanol (Avertin). Pancreatic islets were isolated using collagenase digestion (8), and purified on a dextran gradient followed by hand-picking. Islets were isolated and then divided into control and test groups.

2. Molecular constructs.

The firefly luciferase gene driven by the human CMV Immediate Early promoter/enhancer in a pBR322-derived plasmid (kindly supplied by Dr. D. Drucker, University of Toronto) was used as a reporter construct in the biolistic and lipofection transfection efficiency studies. A recombinant E1 deletant of adenovirus 5 containing the firefly luciferase gene under control of the CMV Immediate Early promoter/enhancer (AdCA18-3) was a gift from Dr. Frank Graham of McMaster University, Hamilton. The β-galactosidase gene driven by the human CMV Immediate Early promoter/enhancer in a pBR322-derived plasmid (pAC CMV β-Gal, kindly supplied by Dr. R.D. Gerrard, University of Texas, Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas) was used to determine the percentage of transfected cells.

3. Transfection methods.

Gold particles 2.5 μ m in diameter (BioRad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) were used as microprojectiles and were found to have good uniformity by scanning electron microscopy (Hitachi S-2500). Particles (30 mg) were washed initially with 95% ethanol, twice with sterile water, then pelleted and resuspended in 500 μ L of sterile water (final concentration of 60 mg/mL). DNA precipitation onto the particles was achieved by adding 20 μ g (14.3 μ L) of DNA (1.4 μ g/ μ L) to 50 μ L of Au particles (60 mg/mL), followed by 64.3 μ L of 2.5 M CaCl₂ (i.e. a volume equal to the volume of DNA and Au particles) and

12.9 µL of 1 M spermidine (1/5 of the volume of CaCl₂ used). The mixture was vortexed, left to settle at room temperature for a minimum of 10 min, and spun briefly. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, re-pelleted, washed with 95% ethanol, re-pelleted and resuspended in 50 μ L of 95% ethanol. The central area of a macrocarrier disc (~7.5 mm in diameter) was then covered with $6 \,\mu$ L of particle slurry (~3 μ g DNA) and allowed to dry in a desiccator. For exposure to the biolistic blast, the islets were suspended in 0.10 mL of media on the top of an inverted cell strainer with a mesh size of 40 μ m (Falcon). The strainer was encased in a small vacuum chamber, (a modification to a hand-held version of the BioRad biolistic apparatus) resulting in a distance of 25 mm between the stopping screen and the suspended cells (9). Particles continued through the screen and bombarded the islets. Initially, groups of islets ranging from 250 to 1350 were used, and the macrocarrier-particle disc was accelerated toward the stopping screen using a helium pressure of either 1000 or 1200 psi under a vacuum of 15" Hg. All subsequent experiments used 1000 islets per exposure to 1200 psi of helium. The islets were resuspended in Ham's F10 media supplemented with 14.3 mM NaHCO₃, 10 mM glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 mM nicotinamide, 0.5 % BSA, 50 mM IBMX (isobutyl-methyl-xanthine), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin, and incubated at 37°C in 95% air/5% CO₂. Control groups were put directly into culture.

Lipofection using Lipofectamine (GIBCO/BRL, Burlington, Ontario, Canada) was performed generally according to the manufacturer's instructions. In keeping with their guidelines, we looked at DNA quantities ranging from 0.5 to 3 μ g, Lipofectamine amounts from 2 to 8 μ L, and islet numbers from 200 to 1300 per mL of final reaction. Optimal efficiency was achieved when 2 μ g DNA in 100 μ L of serum-free DMEM was added to 6 μ L of Lipofectamine pre-mixed in 100 μ L of serum-free DMEM, and the mixture incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The DNA:Lipofectamine complexes were then gently added to 1000 islets suspended in 0.8 mL of serum-free DMEM, with frequent mixing. Following 6 h of incubation at 37°C in 95% air/5% CO₂, 4 mL of DMEM
containing 10% fetal calf serum was added to the cells and incubation continued for 48 h. Control islets were exposed to the same conditions in the absence of DNA.

Viral infection was performed by adding 0.5 mL of adenoviral stock $(2.5 \times 10^6 \text{ pfu/mL in Ham's F10 containing 2% FCS})$ to 500 drained, intact islets, and incubating at 37°C for 1 h. The islets were harvested, washed 3 times with Ham's F10, then transferred to 10 mL of Ham's F10 and further incubated at 37°C in 95% air/5% CO₂ for 48 h.

4. Electron microscopy studies.

To demonstrate particle penetration, islets were prepared for conventional scanning electron microscopy (SEM) in standard fashion, immediately following biolistic transformation. This included glutaraldehyde/OsO₄ fixation, ethanol dehydration, critical point drying and mounting. Specimens were sputter-coated with gold and examined (Hitachi S-2500). In addition, islets were cultured for 24 h and then subjected to natural SEM. In this case, samples were prepared initially as outlined above, but were not sputter-coated with gold. They were viewed directly using a natural scanning electron microscope (Hitachi S-2460N). An electron accelerating voltage of 5 kV was used initially, followed by an electron accelerating voltage of 15 kV so that the electron beam penetrated to a deeper level within the cells.

5. Characterization of biolistically transfected islets.

Recovery of intact islets following exposure to the biolistic blast was determined by recounting the exposed islets following 48 h of culture and expressing the results as a percentage of the original. To determine the percentage of remaining cells expressing the foreign gene following biolistic transfection, islets that had been blasted with the β -galactosidase gene were harvested following 48 h of culture and dissociated into single cells in a medium of 123 mM NaCl, 5.4 mM KCl, 0.4 mM KH₂PO₄, 1.0 mM Na₂HPO₄, 4.2 mM NaHCO₃, 0.8 mM MgSO₄, 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA and 2.8 mM D-glucose

(10). The cells were fixed for 5 min at room temperature in a solution of 1 % formaldehyde and 0.2 % glutaraldehyde in PBS. Following thorough washing in PBS, the cells were immersed in 0.5 mL of stain composed of 4 mM potassium ferrocyanide, 2 mM MgCl₂, 4 mM potassium ferricyanide and 0.4 mg/mL of X-galactosidase (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-b-D-galactoside) and incubated at 37°C for 12-16 h. The percentage of cells expressing the β-galactosidase gene was determined by manually counting the proportion of cells that appeared bright blue in colour under light microscopy.

6. Luciferase assays.

To determine transfection efficiency, the groups of 1000 islets (or 500 in the case of the viral transfections) were harvested after 48 h of culture and washed 3 times with fresh media. The resulting pellet was mixed with 50 μ L of cell lysis buffer consisting of 0.1 M Tris pH 7.8, 0.5% NP 40, and 1.0 mM dithiothreitol and the lysate spun in a microcentrifuge x 16,000 g for 15 min at 4°C. Luciferase enzyme activity was measured immediately on a Lumat LB 9501 (Berthold) using 20 μ L of cellular lysate in 100 μ L of assay buffer consisting of 0.5 mM luciferin in 20 mM Tricine, 1 mM MgCO₃, 2.7 mM MgSO₄, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.03 M DTT, 0.5 mM ATP, 0.3 mM Coenzyme A, and 1 ng/mL bovine serum albumin (Sigma Fraction V), final pH 7.8. Results are expressed as relative light units (RLU)/islet.

To determine the kinetics of gene expression over time, islets were biolistically transfected with the gene for firefly luciferase and cultured for 24 h at 37°C. Hand-picked islets (500) were transplanted under the kidney capsule of diabetic mice as described below. Nephrectomies of the engrafted kidneys were performed over various time intervals, and the organs either snap frozen in liquid nitrogen or extracted for luciferase immediately. Extraction was achieved by initially forcing the kidney through a fine metal mesh and then rinsing with 150 μ L of cold PBS. To this, 150 μ L of cold 2X lysis buffer

(see above) was added. Following thorough mixing, samples were spun in a microcentrifuge at 4°C for 15 min and assayed as above.

7. Functional studies.

Following 24 h of culture, <u>in vitro</u> islet function (50 islets/assay) was assessed by determining insulin release after a 2 h static glucose challenge using either 2.8 mM or 20.0 mM glucose. Stimulation indices were calculated by dividing the insulin release at 20.0 mM glucose by the insulin release at 2.8 mM glucose. <u>In vivo</u> function after 24 h of culture was determined by the ability of 500 islets to reverse the diabetic state when transplanted under the kidney capsule of a syngeneic, diabetic recipient, anaesthetized with halothane. Diabetes was chemically-induced using 90 mg/kg of alloxan via the penile vein. Glycemic response was determined by assay of capillary blood glucose using a Medisense Companion 2 glucometer following tail snips. Reversal of diabetes due to graft function was confirmed in all cases by return to the diabetic state following nephrectomy of the engrafted kidney.

RESULTS

1. Optimization of the biolistic procedure.

Figure 2-1 shows the luciferase activity obtained from a range of different islet numbers per blast using He pressures of 1000 and 1200 psi to accelerate the gold particles. Gene expression was consistently higher using the higher helium pressure. Expression also increased as islet number per exposure increased up to a level of 1000 islets. Beyond this, expression dropped off at 1000 psi probably due to a larger number of islets not being penetrated by particles. At helium levels of 1200 psi, only a small increase in expression was achieved above 1000 islets. Therefore, due to limitations in islet availability, parameters of 1200 psi of helium and groups of 1000 islets were chosen for subsequent experiments.

2. Particle penetration.

Figure 2-2 is a conventional scanning electron micrograph of a BALB/c mouse pancreatic islet taken immediately after biolistic exposure. A hole in the cellular membrane, presumably caused by particle entry since it is of compatible size, is clearly visible. Figure 2-3 shows electron micrographs using natural SEM. When an electron accelerating voltage of 5 kV was used, a few gold particles are seen on the islet surface as highly refractile spheres (Fig 2-3A). With an increase in the electron accelerating voltage to 15 kV, the electrons in the beam travel a further distance into the sample, and many more particles are visible (Fig 2-3B), indicating at least some degree of penetration of the particles into the islet.

3. Recovery and efficacy of transfection.

The mean recovery of islets following exposure to the biolistic blast (n=20) was 53%; in other words, 47% of the islets are lost simply through exposure to the process. Of the remaining blasted islets, an average of 3% of dissociated cells stained positively for expression of the introduced b-galactosidase gene (n=6). Data for islets from 4 separate islet isolations, subjected to independent transformations by either biolistics, lipofection or adenoviral infection is presented in Table 2-1. The biolistic method achieved, on average, a 35-fold higher level of luciferase activity than did lipofection using Lipofectamine. Adenoviral infection achieved, on average, a further 25-fold increase over that of biolistics. There is considerably more variability within the biolistic and adenoviral groups than the lipofectamine group (mean \pm SEM of 42.6 \pm 14.2 and 1136.0 \pm 271.0 RLU/islet compared to 1.1 \pm 0.2 RLU/islet respectively). Luciferase activity was not detected in control islets.

Extraction of biolistically-transformed islet grafts (500 islets/graft) and assay for luciferase activity indicated a transient <u>in vivo</u> expression, with levels of 24,070 RLU and 26,233 RLU at 48 h and 1 wk post-transfection, respectively, dropping to 9,747 RLU and 3,155 RLU by 3 and 4 wks, respectively.

4. Functional studies.

Table 2-2 demonstrates <u>in vitro</u> insulin release by biolistically-transfected islets after glucose challenge. The mean \pm SEM stimulation index was 2.8 \pm 0.3 in the non-transfected, control group versus 3.0 \pm 1.0 in the biolistics group. Although there were trends to increased insulin release by the biolistically exposed islets, there was no significant difference between the groups in terms of their ability to respond to an <u>in vitro</u> glucose challenge (p=0.9). Figure 2-3 shows the function of biolistically-transfected islets <u>in vivo</u>. Although 2 cases took longer to reach completely normal blood glucose levels, hyperglycemia was reversed in 7 of 7 mice that received biolistically-transfected islets. Prompt return to hyperglycemia was seen after nephrectomy of the graft-bearing kidneys, conclusively proving dependence on islet graft function for diabetes reversal.

DISCUSSION

When considering transplantation of insulin-producing tissue for the treatment of diabetes, it has been shown previously that the function of isolated beta cells is compromised, compared to beta cells in the presence of the other endocrine cells normally present in an intact islet (11). To pursue gene therapy approaches, we therefore desired a method to achieve transfection of intact islets, since we hope to achieve long-term reversal of the diabetic state. Previous transfection studies using either lipofection (12) or electroporation (13) attained modest levels of transient gene expression when monolayers

of cells prepared from dispersed islets were used. However, one would not expect that these techniques would achieve the same efficiency on intact islets, which are a cluster of some 2,000 cells surrounded by a network of collagen and connective tissue. In spite of this, successful transfection of intact islets using lipofectin has been reported (14). Viral vectors would be expected to be capable of penetrating the cellular clusters, although, since an islet is composed mainly of non-dividing cells, existing retroviral vectors cannot be employed. Adenoviral vectors are being used successfully in several eukaryotic systems including islets (15-18), but immune responses to the carrier virus have been documented (19). As we are working within a transplantation framework, we desired a method of transfection which would leave the transfected cells as immunologically unaffected as possible. Transfection by particle bombardment would theoretically overcome many of the above problems. Since the particles are accelerated to high velocity, they are capable of penetrating several cell layers, including connective tissues (5), so cellular access should not present a major problem. Additionally, there should be no immunological response since there is no introduction of viral proteins or viral gene products to the system. There is no requirement for actively dividing cells and the method has been used successfully in several types of primary cells.

Our natural scanning electron microscopy studies indicate that the gold particles are not simply situated on the surface of the islet, but have penetrated the islet to at least some degree. We attempted to use transmission electron microscopy to detect individual cells containing gold particles, but with so few cells affected, it was an extremely timeconsuming and costly task and had to be abandoned. However, there is no doubt that at least some of the particles are indeed penetrating the cells, since in order to detect any luciferase activity at all, the DNA has had to have been internalized, solubilized, transcribed and translated into a functional protein. These processes all occur intra-cellularly. It is possible that the particles are predominately penetrating the islet periphery, that is, the glucagon-secreting alpha cells. Depending on the ultimate aim to be achieved, however, it may in fact be beneficial for a non-beta cell to be producing the foreign protein thus leaving the beta cells unaffected.

We have demonstrated that after dissociation of islets into single cells, the proportion of the transformed cells producing the foreign gene product is small (i.e. about 3%). It is possible that some of the peripheral cells are damaged and lost during the dissociation process, making this experimental value somewhat lower than the real value. Although the exact gene copy number per transformed cell is difficult to determine in all the methods of transfection used in this study, we do know that each particle carries in many molecules of DNA. For this reason, although we have included data to show the apparent percentage of cells transfected, we feel that a more meaningful comparison of expression efficiency is obtained using the total levels of reporter protein production per islet. However, total levels of luciferase obtained by biolistic transformation versus recombinant adenoviral infection (roughly 25-fold higher for the adenovirus), is in keeping with the proportion of cells transfected per islet by these two different methods (~3% for biolistics versus ~50% by adenoviral infection at the viral titres used; data not shown).

Transfection of intact islets by the biolistic method does, however, present its own unique problems. Since islets are aggregates of cells which remain in suspension, we had to develop a novel system to allow exposure of the islets to the blast, since all previous <u>in</u> <u>vitro</u> biolistic studies involved eukaryotic cells which were attached to a culture dish. The system we developed does result in some variability in the number of cells which contain particles, and a great number of particles do not actually collide with a cell but are seen merely suspended within the media.

Using our system, there was a significant degree of immediate islet damage seen following the biolistic blast. This was not unexpected considering the nature of the process, and seemed to be the result of exposure to both the high pressure helium shock wave, and the high level of vacuum. The damage manifested as dispersal of approximately 50% of the islets into free floating cells in the media and an obvious loosening of the cells around the perimeter of the remaining islets Following the culture period, surviving islets appeared to regain a more compact appearance. Despite the loss, however, whole islets which did survive the treatment appeared to have similar <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u> function compared with untreated controls, and also clearly continued to express the reporter gene product both <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u>. With such a small number of cells being targeted by the particles, it may not be the transfected cells themselves which are responsible for insulin production, although this remains to be proven. We have shown, however, that islets exposed to both the vacuum and shock wave were still capable of normal function.

We feel this methodology offers an alternative for efficient transfection of intact islets, since cellular function is preserved and immunological status should not be adversely affected. It therefore holds promise for <u>ex vivo</u> gene therapy of isolated islets where genes for immunomodulating molecules such as cytokines, adhesion molecule-blocking or signal-blocking agents could be introduced into the islets before transplantation, thus rendering them more immunologically acceptable to a recipient.

60

Group	Luciferase Activity				
(n=4)		(Mean±SEM)			
Lipofection	1.6	1.4	0.8	0.6	1.1±0.2
Biolistics	64.2	69.3	24.8	12.1	42.6±14.2
Adenovirus	869.8	545.7	1348.8	1776.6	1136.0±271.0

Group (n=4)	Insulin	Stimulation index	
	2.8 mM glucose (pmol/islet)	20.0 mM glucose (pmol/islet)	
Control	125	353	2.8
	125	359	2.9
	147	449	3.1
	204	471	2.3
Mean±SEM	150±18	408±61	2.8±0.3
Biolistics	138	581	4.2
	146	482	3.3
	248	609	2.5
	413	836	2.0
Mean±SEM	236±64	627±150	3.0±1.0 ^a

Table 2-2. Insulin response of islets to static glucose challenge following

biolistic transformation.

^a P=0.9, Mann-Whitney U test



Figure 2-1. Effect of helium pressure and number of islets per biolistic exposure on reporter gene expression as assayed by luciferase production.



Figure 2-2. Scanning electron micrograph of a BALB/c mouse islet immediately after biolistic transfection, showing a hole 4 μ m in diameter in the cellular membrane (particles are approximately 2.5 μ m in diameter).



Figure 2-3. Natural scanning electron micrographs of the same biolistically transfected BALB/c mouse islet examined at two different electron-accelerating voltages.

A) Using an electron-accelerating voltage of 5 kV, a small number of gold particles can be seen on the surface of the islet.

B) Using an electron-accelerating voltage of 25 kV, a large number of particles can now be seen (arrows), indicating that the majority of the particles have a deeper intracellular or intercellular placement.



In vivo function of seven biolistically transfected BALB/c islets transplanted under the kidney capsule (500 islets/mouse) of alloxan-induced diabetic BALB/c recipients. Arrows indicate time of nephrectomy of the graft-bearing kidneys. Figure 2-4.

REFERENCES

- 1. Sanford J, Klein T, Wolf E, Allen N. Delivery of substances into cells and tissues using a particle bombardment process. J. Particle Sci. Technol. 1987; 5: 27-37.
- Armaleo D, Ye G-N, Klein TM, Shark KB, Sanford JC, Johnston SA. Biolistic nuclear transformation of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and other fungi. Curr Genet 1990; 17: 97-103.
- Boynton J, Gillham N, Harris E, et al. Chloroplast transformation in Chlamydomonas with high velocity microprojectiles. Science 1988; 240: 1534-1538.
- Johnston S, Anziano P, Shark K, Sanford J, Butow R. Transformation of yeast mitochondria by bombardment of cells with microprojectiles. Science 1988; 240: 1538-1541.
- 5. Johnston SA, Riedy M, DeVit M, Sanford JC, McElligott S, Williams RS. Biolistic transformation of animal tissue. In Vitro Cell. Dev. Biol. 1991; 27P: 11-14.
- Heiser WC. Gene transfer into mammalian cells by particle bombardment. Anal Biochem 1994; 217: 185-196.
- Cheng F-M, Joho KE. Effect of biolistic particle size on the efficiency of transfection of oocytes in Xenopus ovary tissue. Nucleic Acids Research 1994; 22: 3265-3266.
- 8. Gotoh M, Maki T, Kiyoizumi T, Satomi S, Monaco AP. An improved method for isolation of mouse pancreatic islets. Transplantation 1985; 40: 437-438.
- Williams RS, Johnston SA, Riedy M, DeVit MJ, McElligott SG, Sanford JC. Introduction of foreign genes into tissues of living mice by DNA-coated microprojectiles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1991; 88: 2726-2730.
- Korbutt G, Pipeleers D. Cold storage of rat pancreas before purification of islet βcells. Diabetes 1992; 41: 299-307.
- 11. Pipeleers D, Schuit F, In't Veld P, et al. Interplay of nutrients and hormones in the regulation of insulin release. Endocrinology 1985; 117: 817-823.

- 12. German M, Moss L, Rutter W. Regulation of insulin gene expression by glucose and calcium in transfected primary islet cultures. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 22063-22066.
- Welsh M, Claesson-Welsh L, Hallberg A, et al. Coexpression of the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) B chain and the PDGF b receptor in isolated pancreatic islet cells stimulates DNA synthesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1990; 87: 5807-5811.
- Welsh M, Andersson A. Transplantation of transfected pancreatic islets Stimulation of B cell DNA synthesis by the SRC oncogene. Transplantation 1994; 57: 297-299.
- Becker T, Noel R, Johnson J. Use of recombinant adenovirus vectors for highefficiency gene transfer into the islets of Langerhans. Diabetes 1993; 42 (suppl 2): 11A.
- Becker T, Beltran del Rio H, Noel R, Johnson J, Newgard C. Overexpression of hexokinase I in isolated islets of Langerhans via recombinant adenovirus. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 21234-21238.
- Newgard CB. Cellular engineering and gene therapy strategies for insulin replacement in diabetes. Diabetes 1994; 43: 341-350.
- Csete ME, Benhamou PY, Drazan KE, et al. Efficient gene transfer to pancreatic islets mediated by adenoviral vectors. Transplantation 1995; 59: 263-268.
- Yang Y, Nunes FA, Berencsi K, Gonczol E, Engelhardt JF, Wilson JM. Inactivation of E2a in recombinant adenoviruses improves the prospect for gene therapy in cystic fibrosis. Nature Genetics 1994; 7: 362-369.

CHAPTER III

EXPRESSION OF CTLA4-IG BY BIOLISTICALLY-TRANSFECTED MOUSE ISLETS PROMOTES ISLET ALLOGRAFT SURVIVAL¹

INTRODUCTION

Although great advances have been made in organ transplantation, all of the agents commonly used as systemic immunosuppressants have toxic side effects. Localized delivery of immunosuppressive molecules to the site of the engrafted tissue could theoretically ameliorate many of the hazardous effects of these agents on unrelated tissues, as well as avoid systemic immunosuppression which leaves the recipient vulnerable to infectious agents. In islet transplantation, local production of an immunoprotective protein could be achieved by co-transplantation of unrelated tissues which express the desired protein (1, 2). Alternatively, the islets themselves could be transformed to produce the immunoprotective molecule. It is the latter option which we have explored in the present study.

Several investigators have shown prolongation of allograft survival using systemically-administered CTLA4-Ig (3-5). Local production of murine CTLA4-Ig by co-transplanted cells derived from a muscle cell line also resulted in prolonged islet allograft survival when the muscle cells were syngeneic to the recipient (1). Ex vivo coating of mouse islets with murine CTLA4-Ig protein has also achieved long-term survival in a portion of allografts (6). For these reasons, we felt that CTLA4-Ig was a good candidate for an islet transplantation/gene therapy trial.

We have previously established a transfection method for islets using biolistics

¹ A version of this chapter has been accepted for publication. Gainer AL, Korbutt GS, Rajotte RV, Warnock GL, Elliott JF. Transplantation 1997. which results in transient gene expression (7). We now find that introduction of the gene for human CTLA4-Ig into CBA islets using this method results in statistically significant prolongation in allograft survival when the transfected islets are transplanted into diabetic BALB/c recipients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Islet isolation.

CBA mice (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor ME) were anesthetized using tribromoethanol (Avertin). Pancreatic islets were isolated using collagenase digestion (8) and purified on a dextran gradient. The islets were cultured overnight in 95% air/5% CO₂ at 37°C in Ham's F10 media supplemented with 14.3 mM NaHCO₃, 10 mM glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 mM nicotinamide, 0.5% bovine serum albumin, 50 mM IBMX (isobutyl-methyl-xanthine), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin.

2. Molecular constructs.

The cDNA encoding human CTLA4-Ig was modeled essentially on the construct of Linsley et al. (9). Our construct contained three DNA segments encoding the following elements: 1) the oncostatin M signal sequence (amino acids 1 to 25), 2) the extracellular domain of human CTLA4 (amino acids 26 to 150), and 3) the human $Fc\gamma I$ region, with cys to ser substitutions for all cys residues in the hinge region (amino acids 151 to 383). Our cloning strategy and the complete cDNA sequence appears in the Appendix (pages 162, 164). The cDNA encoding the fusion protein was excised with Xba I and Not I and inserted into a pUC-based eukaryotic expression vector (pPSC1) which contains the human

CMV (Towne strain) Immediate Early 1 promoter/enhancer + Intron A, as well as a downstream polyadenylation signal from SV40 virus (J.F.E., unpublished).

3. Transfection methods.

Islet transfection was performed as previously described (7). Each macrocarrier disc held 0.5 mg of 2.5 μ m gold particles (BioRad, Mississauga, Ont) coated with 3.3 μ g of DNA -- either the pPSC1 vector alone, or the same vector containing the CTLA4-Ig cDNA. One disc was used to blast 1000 islets. Initially the rupture disc was pierced manually, with the helium pressure set to 1200 psi, but since we could not be sure of the actual pressure of the shock wave released, we switched to using spontaneous rupture of discs graded to 400 psi. Following transfection, the islets were cultured for a further 40-48 h using the same conditions as described above.

4. Functional studies.

Following the culture period, transfected CBA islets were hand-picked (500 islets/recipient) and placed under the kidney capsule of alloxan-induced diabetic BALB/c recipients (90 mg/kg via the penile vein). Blood glucose was determined using a Medisense Companion 2 glucometer on samples taken from tail cuts. Readings were taken three times per week until the high risk period for rejection had passed (25 days), then once a week, on average. Grafts were deemed to have failed when blood glucose levels rose from initial normoglycemic levels (<10 mmol/L) to exceed 16.5 mmol/L (confirmed by a second reading taken 24 h later).

5. Histologic methods.

Following nephrectomy, engrafted kidneys were placed in Bouin's fixative for 2 h, and then paraffin-embedded. Mounted sections underwent routine hematoxylin/eosin and aldehyde fuchsin staining. Immunohistochemical staining of paraffin sections for insulin was performed at room temperature. The staining involved quenching with 10% hydrogen peroxide/80% methanol for 6 min, blocking for 15 min with 20% horse serum, incubation for 30 min with a 1:1000 dilution of primary guinea pig anti-porcine insulin antibody (DAKO Corp., Carpinteria, CA), and for 20 min with a 1:200 secondary biotinylated goat anti-guinea pig IgG antibody (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). A Vectastain ABC kit (Vector Laboratories) and a liquid DAB Substrate Pack (BioGenex, San Ramon, CA) were used for color development, per the manufacturers' instructions.

RESULTS

1. Allograft survival.

Following exposure to the biolistic blast, the majority of the CBA islets appeared intact, with a visible capsule. Using an inverted microscope and a magnification of 100X, gold particles could be clearly seen within most of the islets (data not shown).

Table 3-1 shows the survival of the various transfected islet allografts. Functional graft survival for control islets transfected with the empty expression plasmid vector ranged from 8-19 days, (mean \pm SD, 12.8 \pm 3.6 days), with no grafts surviving beyond 19 days. Amongst the CTLA4-Ig-transfected grafts, 6 of 12 survived similar to the control group, but the other 6 grafts survived until the time of nephrectomy at 50, 130 or 164 days (n=2 each). Overall, survival of the CTLA4-Ig-transfected islets was 66.8 \pm 61.5 days (mean \pm SD), when the day of nephrectomy was considered as the duration of graft survival. This differed significantly from the control group (p=0.01, Fisher's Exact Test for survival to 50 days). In 4 of the 6 CTLA4-Ig grafts surviving long-term, the animals reverted to the diabetic state following nephrectomy to remove the graft. In the remaining two animals, blood glucose levels remained within the normal range, indicating some return of endogenous pancreatic islet function during the post-transplant period. However,

macroscopically both of these kidneys had significant islet tissue present in the graft site at the time of nephrectomy. Further, microscopically both grafts showed abundant wellgranulated islet tissue present when histological and immunohistochemical analysis was performed (see below).

Figure 3-1 shows the blood glucose readings for the six BALB/c mice which had long-term survival of CTLA4-Ig-transfected CBA islets. In all cases, the recipient's blood glucose levels returned to < 10.0 mM by the second day post-transplantation. Four of the six recipients had quite stable readings over time, while two cases showed more variability in their blood sugar levels.

2. Histological appearance of grafts.

Figure 3-2 shows the histological and immunohistological appearance of a representative set of grafts, including a rejected control allograft (Fig. 3-2A; islets transfected with the empty plasmid vector alone), as well as CTLA4-Ig-transfected allografts which survived longer term, and were harvested at 50 (Fig. 3-2C), 130 (Figs. 3-2B and 3-2D) and 164 (Figs. 3-2E and 3-2F) days post-transplantation. Although there are still the remnants of a cellular infiltrate in the rejected control graft (Fig. 3-2A), the islets have been destroyed and largely replaced by fibrotic tissue. In longer surviving CTLA4-Ig-transfected grafts, islets staining intensely for insulin were present. This includes the 164 day graft shown in Figs. 3-2E and 3-2F, which is from one of the two animals which did not return to the diabetic state following nephrectomy. In other words, despite having regained some pancreatic function, there was still a very large insulin-producing graft present in the kidney. The long-term grafts are all accompanied by dense accumulations of mononuclear cells, although to variable degrees. Figure 3-2E and 3-2F are tissue sections taken at different levels within the same islet graft, but clearly show a significant difference in the number of mononuclear cells present. In all of the sections from long-term grafts,

the mononuclear cells appear in islands adjacent to the islets and there is no lymphocytic infiltration into the grafts (Fig. 3-2B shows detail of the 130 day graft shown in Fig. 3-2D).

DISCUSSION

Localized immunosuppression through gene therapy is attractive in islet transplantation because it has the potential to reduce or eliminate the need for systemic immunosuppression. This approach would provide specificity of immunosuppression, leaving the rest of the immune system unaffected. Stable transfection of the islets would be ideal, but this is not possible with currently available techniques. However, methods which achieve even transient expression can be used to prove the principle and to assess which genes will be most useful. With expression of human CTLA4-Ig, attained through biolistic transfection of mouse islets, we have achieved a long-term islet allograft survival rate of 50 % in a strongly allogeneic strain combination. This compares favorably with the success achieved when murine CTLA4-Ig was locally produced by co-transplanted muscle cells, where survival >51 days was observed in only 1 of 10 grafts (1). There are at least two possible explanations for these differing results. First, the close proximity of CTLA4-Ig molecules originating from intra-islet CTLA4-Ig-producing islet cells and B7 molecules on passenger APCs may facilitate blocking more effectively than the peripheral location of CTLA4-Ig-producing myocytes and the same APCs. Second, it was suggested by Chahine and colleagues that the muscle cells probably produce low levels of the CTLA4-Ig protein initially, while recovering from the shock of transplantation. This would not be such a concern in our case, since many of the B7 sites would already be blocked at the time of transplantation due to local protein production and binding during the pre-transplant in vitro culture period. Further limitations of the co-transplantation approach using immortalized

cell lines are the possibility of tumor formation and the necessity of the transplantable cell line tissue being syngeneic to the recipient. Lau et al. have more recently co-transplanted transfected primary myoblasts, rather than muscle cells derived from a cell line (2). However, this necessitates obtaining syngeneic tissue from the recipient before islet transplantation, which may not be clinically practical.

The fact that the direct pathway of antigen presentation (i.e. donor APCs) plays a major role in allograft rejection was confirmed by the study of Steurer et al. (6). When islets were pretreated with murine CTLA4-Ig before transplantation, 42 % of allografts survived long-term. The authors suggested that graft failures may have occurred because B7 expression was induced following transplantation, and there was no further exogenous CTLA4-Ig available for blocking. In essence, we are achieving a similar state of affairs, except that our protein is produced locally by the islets <u>in situ</u> rather than being added exogenously. In our gene therapy approach, the induced B7 should be blocked at least initially, since we anticipate ongoing production of CTLA4-Ig by the islets for at least a period of several weeks.

The failure to achieve higher long-term survival rates in our study may be due to a number of factors. In those grafts which fail, it is most likely that levels of CTLA4-Ig protein are not sufficient to provide complete blockage of all B7 sites. We have previously shown considerable variability in the amount of reporter protein produced by biolistically-transfected islets (7), probably for technical reasons inherent to the biolistic process itself, and we are continuing to explore this problem. Additionally, although human CTLA4-Ig has been shown to bind to murine B7 efficiently (10), murine CTLA4-Ig binds with a 10-fold higher affinity (6), and thus use of the murine gene might be expected to provide more complete B7 blocking and a higher success rate.

Our long-term allografts were accompanied by dense mononuclear cell periinfiltrates. This phenomenon was also observed by Steurer et al. (6) who identified the cells as predominantly CD4+, with a minority of CD8+ cells also present. A similar, if not identical final picture is also obtained when syngeneic islet grafts are transplanted into diabetic non-obese diabetic mice, simultaneous with the injection of complete Freund's adjuvant (11). Again, the majority of T cells present were found to be CD4+. In all models, the function of these accompanying mononuclear cells remains an enigma, but some form of dominant bystander immunosuppression must be considered.

In summary, we have shown that local production of CTLA4-Ig by biolisticallytransfected islets can provide long-term protection for mouse islet allografts. With continued technical advances in the biolistic transfection procedure, we anticipate that the rate of success would further increase. This model provides all the advantages of supplying specific immunoprotection localized to the site of the graft, without the disadvantages of having to create an appropriate syngeneic accompanying cell for co-transplantation or of having to create a recombinant virus for each and every immunomodulating molecule to be tested. Thus the approach can be used to rapidly screen immunomodulating molecules alone or in various combinations, to determine which molecule(s) will be most useful for blocking rejection responses.

76

Table 3-1. Survival of islet allografts: BALB/c mice transplanted with 500 biolistically transfected CBA islets.

DNA used for transfection	Number of days of post-transplantation normoglycemia (mean ± SD)	
pPSC1 vector only (n=10)	8, 8, 10, 11, 13, 13, 14, 15, 17, 19	
	(12.8 ± 3.6)	
CTLA4-Ig in pPSC1 vector (n=12)	10, 12, 18, 20, 20, 33,	
	50 ^a ,50 ^a , 130 ^{a,b} , 130 ^a , 164 ^{a,b} , 164 ^a	
	$(66.8 \pm 61.5)^{\circ}$	

^a nephrectomy performed at this time
^b blood glucose failed to return to the diabetic range following nephrectomy, but harvested grafts showed well-granulated islets (see Figs. 2E and 2F for the 164 day graft)
^c P = 0.01 (Fisher's Exact Test for survival ≥ 50 days)



Blood glucose concentrations in six alloxan-induced diabetic BALB/c mice transplanted on day 0 with 500 CBA islets which had been biolistically transfected with human CTLA4-Ig. Arrows indicate the time of nephrectomy of the engrafted kidneys. Figure 3-1.



Figure 3-2. Photomicrographs of biolistically transfected CBA mouse islet grafts harvested from BALB/c recipients.

A) H+E stained section of the renal sub-capsular space which received pPSC1 (vector alone) transfected islets. The graft rejected at 10 d and the kidney was harvested at 12 d.

B) H+E stained section of a CTLA4-Ig transfected islet allograft harvested from a normoglycemic mouse at 130 d post-transplantation. Mononuclear cells are present in dense aggregates adjacent to the islets, but are clearly not infiltrating the allograft.

C&D) Immunohistochemical staining for insulin (brown) in CTLA4-Ig transfected allografts harvested from normoglycemic mice at 50 d and 130 d respectively. Note that different sections of the same graft are shown in B and D.

E&F) Sections from a CTLA4-Ig transfected allograft harvested from a normoglycemic mouse at 164 d, cut at two different tissue levels and stained for insulin. Variable numbers of mononuclear cell aggregates are shown in E and F, within different areas of the allograft. The graft is from an animal which did not become hyperglycemic post-nephrectomy -- note that there is still a significant number of β -cells present.

REFERENCES

- Chahine AA, Yu M, McKernan MM, Stoeckert C, Lau HT. Immunomodulation of pancreatic islet allografts in mice with CTLA4Ig secreting muscle cells. Transplantation 1995; 59: 1313-1318.
- 2. Lau HT, Yu M, Fontana A, Stoeckert CJ. Prevention of islet allograft rejection with engineered myoblasts expressing FasL in mice. Science 1996; 273: 109-112.
- 3. Turka LA, Linsley PS, Lin H, et al. T-cell activation by the CD28 ligand B7 is required for cardiac allograft rejection in vivo. PNAS 1992; 89: 11102-11105.
- Lin H, Bolling Sf, Linsley PS, et al. Long-term acceptance of major histocompatibility complex mismatched cardiac allografts induced by CTLA4Ig plus donor-specific transfusion. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 1801-1806.
- Pearson TC, Alexander DZ, Winn KJ, Linsley PS, Lowry RP, Larsen CP. Transplantation tolerance induced by CTLA4-Ig. Transplantation 1994; 57: 1701-1706.
- Steurer W, Nickerson PW, Steele AW, Steiger J, Zheng XX, Strom TB. Ex vivo coating of islet cell allografts with murine CTLA4/Fc promotes graft tolerance. J Immunology 1995; 155: 1165-1174.
- Gainer AL, Korbutt GS, Rajotte RV, Warnock GL, Elliott JF. Successful biolistic transformation of mouse pancreatic islets while preserving cellular function. Transplantation 1996; 61: 1567-1571.
- 8. Gotoh M, Maki T, Kiyoizumi T, Satomi S, Monaco AP. An improved method for isolation of mouse pancreatic islets. Transplantation 1985; 40: 437-438.
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. J Exp Med 1991; 174: 561-569.

- 10. Lenschow DJ, Zeng Y, Thistlethwaite JR, et al. Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4Ig. Science 1992; 257: 789-792.
- Suarez-Pinzon W, Rajotte RV, Mosmann TR, Rabinovitch A. Both CD4+ and CD8+
 T-cells in syngeneic islet grafts in NOD mice produce interferon-gamma during β-cell
 destruction. Diabetes 1996; 45: 1350-1357.

CHAPTER IV

OPTIMIZATION OF THE BIOLISTIC TRANFECTION PROCESS IN MOUSE ISLETS.

INTRODUCTION

The term biolistics (derived from the words biological and ballistics) was coined by the inventors of the process, E D Wolf, N K Allen and J C Sanford, in 1984 (1). The process has also been referred to as the particle gun method, the microprojectile method, the gene gun method, the particle acceleration method and the bio-blaster method. In all cases, it is used to describe a process whereby microparticles travelling at high velocity are used to deliver substances into cells.

With the evolution of molecular techniques which allowed gene cloning, DNA sequencing and synthesis, the ability to deliver genes into cells has also become of utmost interest. As previously discussed, many processes have become available, each with their inherent advantages and disadvantages. An ideal gene delivery system would not only allow simple, rapid transformation of easily transformable cells, but also allow transformation of cells which have not been able to be transformed by other currently available techniques.

As a plant geneticist, Sanford was initially looking for a method to transform plant pollens (2). The biolistic methodology has now evolved to also allow transformation of prokaryotic bacteria (3, 4) and microbial eukaryotes such as yeast and fungi (5) and algae (1). Genomes of subcellular organelles such as chloroplasts (6, 7) and mitochondria (8, 9) have also been biolistically transformed. The process has more recently been extended to include animal cell lines (10), primary animal cells (11), and even intact animals(12) (13).

The advantages of biolistic transfection of pancreatic islets are several. First, islets have proven to be difficult to transfect using classical chemical methods. An islet is a

unique structure, composed of a dense cluster of disparate endocrine cell types surrounded by a capsule of connective tissue. Therefore, with the exception of viruses, it is difficult for the DNA to gain access to the cellular membranes of the individual cells. Second, biolistics is a non-viral transfection method. In as much as our ultimate goal is to use transfected islets in a transplant model to abrogate graft rejection, we do not want to introduce any kind of additional immunological stimulus into our system. Third, plasmid DNA, either singly or in combination, can be used directly for transfection. That is, there is no additional, lengthy preparation time after cloning, such as in recombinant adenovirus preparation.

1. Principle.

The biolistic process revolves around acceleration of DNA-coated particles to high velocity. Several methods of particle acceleration were initially assessed by Sanford's group (14). These included a simple air blast, use of centripetal acceleration, electrostatic acceleration, and the use of a 'macroprojectile' which would accelerate microparticles on its surface. The latter proved to be the most successful and underwent further development. The macroprojectile is driven to supersonic speed by means of a gas shock wave. This gas shock can be derived from the explosion of gunpowder (15), an electric explosion of a water droplet (16), a blast of compressed air (17) or the release of a helium shock wave following rupture of a membrane (14). There are several advantages of helium driven units over the other models. Helium is a much cleaner power source than gunpowder, which generates dirty debris within the apparatus. In addition, it is safer, and can be regulated at the source. Being a light gas, it expands quickly which means that it can accelerate particles to a higher velocity than can compressed air or nitrogen.

The macrocarrier can be composed of a high density polyethylene cylinder (DuPont gunpowder models), hollow polyethylene tubing (Agracetus model) or a circular Kapton membrane (BioRad model). In essence, the macrocarrier simply has to provide a surface to

83

carry the microcarrier particles on, and to be able to withstand the gas shock, sudden acceleration and abrupt deceleration (in the case of DuPont and BioRad models) which is inherent to the process.

Regardless of the apparatus used, the biolistic blast is generally released under vacuum since the microprojectiles are rapidly decelerated as they pass through a gas. This is increasingly the case as the particles become smaller. Also, by replacing the denser air by a low molecular gas such as helium, the shock wave produced may be potentially less damaging to the exposed tissue. In most units, therefore, the entire apparatus, including the tissue to be exposed, is contained within a vacuum chamber.

There are essentially two types of microparticles which are used for biolistics. Tungsten was the substance initially used, but the particles are extremely irregular in shape and heterogeneous in size, which prevents optimization of particle size for different cell types. Other disadvantages are the fact that it is potentially toxic to some types of cells, it is subject to surface oxidation which can affect DNA binding, and it catalytically degrades DNA which is bound to it over time (14). The advantages of tungsten are that it is inexpensive and easy to coat with DNA. Gold particles are currently the microprojectiles of choice, their major disadvantage being the expense. They are also not stable in aqueous suspensions, and agglomerate irreversibly over time. The DNA coating process seems to be more variable, and is affected by atmospheric humidity. The advantages of using gold are that the particles are round, relatively uniform in size, and are available in a range of diameters. This allows optimization of particle size for specific cell types. The most important advantage of gold, however, is the fact that it is a biologically inert substance. Gold has not been found to be toxic to any type of cell tested (14), and is approved by the appropriate regulatory agencies as a therapeutic agent in humans.

In our studies we have used a helium-driven macrocarrier disc system, and gold microparticles. Our unit is a hand-held prototype manufactured by BioRad, to which we have made a number of modifications. A schematic of the apparatus appears in Figure 4-1.

84

Basically, high pressure helium is restrained within a small cylinder by a membrane. The gold microprojectiles are coated with the DNA of interest, and then applied to the undersurface of a macrocarrier disc. The islet tissue is placed on the upper surface of an inverted cell strainer, at some distance directly below the macrocarrier disc. The entire system is encased within a mini vacuum chamber. Upon firing, the restraining membrane is either spontaneously ruptured by the increasing helium pressure, or by a manuallyactivated lance. This results in release of a high pressure helium shock wave which drives the macrocarrier disc at high velocity down onto a stopping screen (just above the islets) where it is arrested. The microprojectiles, however, continue at high velocity through the gaps in the stopping screen and bombard the tissue below. Following tearing through the cellular membrane, some particles come to rest within the cytoplasm of the cell. It is possible that others may pass right through a cell, although the density of the cytosol should decelerate the particles significantly. Other particles may not hit any islet tissue at all, and simply come to rest in the liquid medium below. The latter event is unique to our system since the islets are discrete, floating entities. In the case of a continuous monolayer of cells, all particles would bombard a cell (see Discussion).

2. Optimization.

Having shown that biolistic transfection of intact islets was possible (Chapter II), we decided to investigate the procedure more closely, in order to optimize the conditions and therefore achieve as efficient islet transfection rates as possible. There are a number of interactive parameters which affect the velocity of the macrocarrier disc and ultimately, the velocity of the microprojectiles. These include the pressure of the gas source (helium), the gap distance (distance from the rupture disc to macrocarrier), the macrocarrier flight distance, and the target distance (distance from the stopping screen [i.e. microprojectile launch site] to the target tissue). Obviously, higher pressures, shorter gap distances and longer macroprojectile flight distances all result in higher launch velocities. A longer microprojectile flight distance would result in lower impact velocity, but results in better particle dispersion and less cellular damage due to the shock wave. Additionally, smaller microprojectiles or decreased vacuum pressures would result in lower impact velocities.

In most chamber models, many of these parameters can be altered. However, in our model all of the distances between the elements are fixed. We therefore chose to consider the following three variables: the number of islets exposed per biolistic blast, the power source helium pressure, and the size of the gold particles used. In addition, we assessed the transfection efficiency using two different sample loading techniques. In all cases, firefly luciferase driven by the human Immediate Early CMV promoter was used as a reporter gene. Once the optimal conditions had been determined, a series of blasts were performed to determine the reproducibility of the procedure.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Islet isolation.

BALB/c mice were anesthetized using tribromoethanol (Avertin). Pancreatic islets were isolated using collagenase digestion (18), and purified on a dextran gradient followed by hand-picking. The islets were cultured overnight in 95% air/5% CO₂ at 37°C in Ham's F10 media supplemented with 14.3 mM NaHCO₃, 10 mM glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 mM nicotinamide, 0.5% bovine serum albumin, 50 mM IBMX (isobutyl-methyl-xanthine), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin.

2. Molecular constructs.

The firefly luciferase gene driven by the human Immediate Early CMV promoter/enhancer element in a pBR322-derived plasmid (kindly supplied by Dr. D. Drucker, University of Toronto) was used as a reporter construct in all cases.

3. Biolistic transfection.

Gold particles (BioRad) were used as microprojectiles and were found to have good uniformity by scanning electron microscopy (Hitachi S-2500, see Chapter II). Particles (30 mg) were washed initially with 95% ethanol, twice with sterile water, then pelleted and resuspended in 500 μ L of sterile water (final concentration of 60 mg/mL). Each disc was prepared using a separate DNA precipitation reaction, and the entire reaction mixture was loaded onto the macrocarrier disc. The DNA precipitation onto the gold particles was achieved by adding 3.3 μ g (2.4 μ L) of DNA (1.4 μ g/ μ L) to 8.3 μ L of Au particles (60 mg/mL), followed by 10.7 μ L of 2.5 M CaCl, (i.e. a volume equal to the volume of DNA and Au particles) and 2.1 μ L of 1 M spermidine (1/5 of the volume of CaCl₂ used). The mixture was vortexed, left to settle at room temperature for a minimum of 10 min, and spun in a microcentrifuge briefly. The pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, re-pelleted, washed with 95% ethanol, re-pelleted and resuspended in 10-15 µL of 95% ethanol. The central area (~7.5 mm in diameter) of a 2.54 cm in diameter, 0.06 mm in thickness Kapton macrocarrier disc (BioRad) was then covered with the particle slurry (~3 µg DNA) and allowed to dry in a desiccator. For exposure to the biolistic blast in the islet number, helium pressure and particle size studies, the islets were suspended in 0.10 mL of media on the top of an inverted cell strainer with a mesh size of 40 μ m (Falcon). The strainer and blasting apparatus was encased in a small vacuum chamber, (a modification to a hand-held version of the BioRad biolistic apparatus) of 15" Hg. Using this system, the target distance between the stopping screen and the suspended cells was 25 mm. Following the blast, the islets were resuspended in Ham's F10 media supplemented with 14.3 mM

NaHCO₃, 10 mM glucose, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10 mM nicotinamide, 0.5 % BSA, 50 mM IBMX (isobutyl-methyl-xanthine), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin, and incubated at 37°C in 95% air/5% CO₂. Control groups were put directly into culture.

In Study 1, an examination of the effect of different numbers of islets being exposed to each blast, groups of 250, 500 or approximately 1000 islets were used per blast, along with 1.6 µm particles and spontaneous disc rupture at a pressure rating of 400 psi of helium. On the basis of the results obtained, all further studies were carried out using 250 islets per blast. In Study 2, a study of the effects of helium source pressure, 1.6 μ m particles were used. As the rupture discs obtained from BioRad were rated to spontaneously rupture at a pressure of 400 psi, a source helium pressure of 400, 800 or 1200 psi of helium was obtained simply by using either one, two or three rupture discs respectively. In all cases, the helium pressure at the tank was set to 200 psi greater than the pressure required for disc rupture. Study 3, the effect of gold particle size, used spontaneous disc rupture at a pressure rating of 400 psi of helium and gold particles of 1.6, 2.2, 3.1 or 4.0 µm in diameter. The same weight of gold particles (0.5 mg) and amount of DNA (3.3 μ g) was used for DNA precipitation in all cases. Study 4 compared the effect of loading the islet sample in two different ways. In both cases, the islets were initially resuspended in 0.1 mL of media. In the first case, the islets were placed on a dry cell strainer, where they remained within the liquid drop (sitting drop). In the second case, the cell strainer was first loaded with 0.1 mL of media, which was then removed. When the islets were then loaded onto the pre-wet cell strainer, the liquid drop flowed through the mesh and became suspended on its bottom surface, while the islets remained on the upper surface of the mesh (hanging drop).

4. Reproducibility of blasting procedure.

In order to check the reproducibility of the blasting procedure itself, two series of 4 blasts each was done using the optimal conditions ascertained by the above studies.
Uncoated 1.6 μ m gold particles were loaded onto macrocarrier discs in the regular fashion. The gold particles were blasted either on to cell strainers or Petri dishes which had black electrical tape attached to them, sticky side up. Photographs were taken to document the appearance of the rupture and macrocarrier discs before and after the blast, as well as the distribution of the particles on the tissue-supporting surface.

5. Viability staining.

In the studies of helium pressures and particle sizes, a small representative sample of islets was removed just before the islets were harvested for the luciferase assays. A stock solution of fluorescein diacetate (Sigma, 0.1 mM in acetone) was diluted 1:100 with Hank's buffered salt solution. A further 1:10 dilution was made through addition of the cells in media, resulting in a final fluorescein diacetate concentration of 10 μ M. Since fluorescein diacetate is a nonpolar compound, it readily transverses the bipoloar membrane. Once inside a viable cell, it is hydrolyzed by esterases to form a polar green fluorescein product, which accumulates within the cell. Therefore, the degree of green fluorescence given off by the stained islets is a qualitative indication of the viability of the cells.

6. Luciferase assays.

To determine transfection efficiency, islets were harvested after 48 h of culture, counted and washed 3 times with fresh media. The resulting pellet was mixed with 50 μ L of cell lysis buffer consisting of 0.1 M Tris pH 7.8, 0.5% NP 40, and 1.0 mM dithiothreitol (DTT). The lysate was spun in a microcentrifuge x 16,000 g for 15 min at 4°C. Luciferase enzyme activity was measured immediately on a Lumat LB 9501 (Berthold) using 20 μ L of cellular lysate in 100 μ L of assay buffer consisting of 0.5 mM luciferin in 20 mM Tricine, 1 mM MgCO₃, 2.7 mM MgSO₄, 0.1 mM EDTA, 0.03 M DTT, 0.5 mM ATP, 0.3 mM Coenzyme A, and 1 ng/mL bovine serum albumin (Sigma Fraction V), final pH 7.8. Results are expressed as relative light units (RLU)/islet.

RESULTS

1. Effect of the number of islets exposed to the biolistic blast.

Since the islets were suspended in a droplet rather than arranged in a monolayer, we were concerned that the transfection efficiency may be affected by the density of the islets within the droplet. To test this, groups of either 250, 500 or approximately 1000 islets were used in each separate blast. The results obtained are shown in Table 4-1. The mean % recovery of islets when either 250, 500 or approximately 1,000 islets were exposed per blast is identical. Although mean values of RLU/islet appear to be quite different, there is no statistically significant difference between them, due to the large variation in values within each group. On the basis of these findings, it was decided that all further investigations could be carried out using 250 islets per blast.

2. Effect of different helium pressures per blast.

One of the few variables which can be changed using our system, is the pressure of the helium used to accelerate the gold particles on the macrocarrier disc. The results obtained using a helium source pressure of 400, 800 and 1200 psi are shown in Table 4-2. Although it appears that the % recovery of intact islets is less when a helium pressure of 1200 psi was used (33% compared to 55% and 51%), there is no statistically significant difference between the groups. In contrast, the amount of enzyme activity produced from the transfected gene (RLUs/islet) is significantly higher at the lowest helium pressure of 400 psi (1220 RLU/islet versus 55 RLU/islet and 114 RLU/islet at 800 and 1200 psi respectively).

The fact that higher helium pressures are more damaging to the islets is demonstrated in Figure 4-2. Islets blasted with a helium pressure of 400 psi appear intact, with a uniform pattern of intense fluorescence, indicating the presence of viable cells (Fig 4-2A). With an increase of helium pressure to 800 psi, the islets begin to have a somewhat moth-eaten appearance due to patches of non-viable cells (Fig 4-2B), and with 1200 psi there has been extensive damage to some islets, with very little viable tissue remaining (Fig 4-2C).

3. Effect of gold particle size.

Another parameter that can be varied in the biolistic procedure is the size of gold particle used as the microcarrier. BioRad provided us with uniformly-sized particles. In our studies we evaluated the effect of particles measuring 1.6, 2.2, 3.1 and 4.0 μ m in diameter on both gene expression and cell viability. The results appear in Table 4-3. There is no significant difference in the number of islets recovered when different particles sizes were used. Although the results are not statistically different due to the large range of values obtained, in most cases there appears to be substantially more luciferase expression with the 1.6 μ m particles. Similarly, the fluorescence staining for viability results show a progressive increase in cell damage with an increase in particle diameter, as shown in Figure 4-3. When 4.0 μ m particles are used, for example, some islets show only a small rim of remaining viable tissue on one side, or a few small islands of viable tissue (Fig 4-3D). On the basis of these results, we elected to use 1.6 μ m particles in all further studies since this meant we would be using a greater number of particles per blast, and thus targeting more islet cells. In addition, the 1.6 μ m particles are now commercially available which influenced our choice for purely practical reasons.

4. Effect of sample loading procedure.

During our studies, we noted that there appeared to be a difference in gene expression depending on whether the islets remained within a drop of media sitting on top of the cell strainer, or whether the media flowed through and hung below the strainer leaving the islets relatively dry on the top of the mesh. All of the above studies were performed with the islets suspended within the media drop sitting on top of the strainer. The results shown in Table 4-4 were obtained when a comparison was made of the two sample loading procedures, using 1.6 μ m particles and a helium pressure of 400 psi. There is no significant effect of the different loading procedures on islet recovery. There is, however, significantly more gene expression when the islets were placed on a pre-wet strainer, meaning that the media was hanging in a drop beneath the strainer. In this case, the mean RLUs/islet obtained is 18 times greater than that obtained when the islets were blasted within a drop of media sitting on top of the cell strainer.

An important point to note is that there is always a large variation in the values obtained within each group of study parameters, regardless of the factor being examined. Interestingly, there seems to be a fairly consistent difference of a factor of approximately 25 between the highest and lowest value of each of the optimal factors groups (250 islets/blast, 400 psi of helium, $1.6 \mu m$ gold particle, hanging drop of media). To superficially compare the blast-to-blast reproducibility of the blasting procedure itself, a series of blasts was performed using uncoated gold particles onto black tape attached to either cell strainer or Petri dish targets. The results are shown in Figures 4-4 and 4-5 respectively. In both cases, variability is evident in both the apparent amount and the distribution of gold particles on the macrocarrier disc prior to firing. Further, a random, often eccentric pattern of gold particles is obtained on both types of target following the blast. In some cases the eccentricity seems to result from the rupture disc initially bursting on one side rather than centrally (e.g. Figure 4-4, Sample 3). In some cases the macrocarrier disc is seen to have hit the stopping screen in a folded manner (Figure 4-5, Sample 4).

92

DISCUSSION

Our first study's purpose was to determine whether there was any difference in gene expression when different numbers of islets were exposed per blast. Happily, there was no significant difference in either islet recovery or gene expression with the different numbers of islets used. Therefore, we elected to use 250 islets per biolistic exposure for the remainder of the studies. The result was that we could get much more information per islet isolation and could cut down considerably on isolation expenses and the number of animals used for the optimization studies. However, with fewer islets, many more particles don't hit an islet at all during the bombardment process and are therefore simply wasted.

The rupture discs that we obtained from BioRad were manufactured so that each disc would rupture when a gas pressure of 400 psi was reached. Discs of differing rupture pressures were made by binding multiples of the discs together and were therefore available at rupture pressures which were multiples of 400. In our original islet studies, the helium tank pressure was set to 1200 psi, and a disc with a rating of 1600 psi was ruptured with a manually-operated lance 2-3 seconds after the helium had been turned on (see Chapter II). Due to the design of our machine, the pressure valves, the length of the helium lines and the way they entered into the apparatus, we later realized that 2-3 seconds was not long enough for the pressure to have reached maximum, and that the helium pressure at the rupture disc would have been considerably less than 1200 psi. For this reason, in our optimization studies we decided to use spontaneous rupture of the discs, which would ensure the pressure of the released shock wave. Rupture pressures of 400, 800 and 1200 psi were obtained by using either 1, 2 or 3 discs (400 psi each) respectively. Our data clearly show that the lowest helium pressure of 400 psi results in the best gene expression. Unfortunately, due to the nature of the discs, we are not able to go any lower than 400 psi using this spontaneous rupture procedure. It may well be that an even lower pressure is

optimal. Our results show that the number of recovered islets is less at higher helium pressures, and the fluorescent stains also show a progressive loss of viability with an increase in helium pressure. This is most likely due to the damaging effects of the shock wave itself to all of the exposed islets, rather than due to the velocity at which the particles bombard a small proportion of cells. In fact, it has been our experience that if islets are exposed to the shock wave twice, even without particles, there is extensive damage to the islets.

The optimal size of the gold particle to be used should be ascertained for each tissue system. In our islet studies, there was no significant difference between the different particle sizes, although there was a trend for smaller particles to be better. This was also reflected in the fluorescent staining, where there appeared to be more tissue damage with the larger particles. A smaller particle would have less impact velocity and one would intuitively expect that there would be less overall damage since the holes in the target membrane would be smaller. Note that the weight of gold used for particle preparation is the same (30 mg), regardless of the size used. This means that fewer particles are present with the larger diameters. An increased surface area may have compensated for this in terms of the amount of total DNA precipitation, resulting in similar amounts of foreign protein being produced in each group. However, the fact remains that fewer cells are targeted when larger particles are used. For the above reasons and the availability considerations, we elected to use $1.6 \,\mu$ m gold particles in all further studies.

Most of the previous experience using biolistic transfection has been with monolayers of cells comprising the target tissue. Our system is unique in that our tissue targets are large, discrete clusters of cells, some of which may even be overlapping during the bombardment procedure. In general, if the islets are suspended within a droplet, it has been our experience that they tend to cluster towards the centre of the drop. On the other hand, if they are well mixed before loading onto a pre-wet cell strainer, the media quickly flows through the mesh and the islets appear to be well distributed on the top of the membrane. Figure 4-6 illustrates the various possibilities when different tissue distributions are bombarded by the spray of DNA-coated gold particles. In fact, during the course of our studies, we had observed that on the occasions when the media flowed through the mesh and hung on the bottom, (and the data was therefore excluded from the study), there was a trend of higher gene expression. When the two sample loading procedures were formally compared, there was significantly more gene expression using the pre-wet strainer and hanging drop of media, with no adverse effect on islet recovery.

On the basis of all of the aforementioned studies, and given the limitations of our apparatus, the most optimal conditions for biolistic transfection of intact, isolated murine islets were determined to be:

1. Spontaneous disc rupture at 400 psi of helium.

2. Gold particles of $1.6 \,\mu m$ diameter.

3. Sample loading onto a pre-wet strainer with flow-through of the media.

These conditions will therefore be used in future studies of biolistic islet transfection with immunomodulatory molecules.

Unfortunately, despite careful attention to performing the entire transfection procedure as carefully and consistently as possible, there is still a large variability in transfection rates obtained. This is mostly due to the lack of reproducibility inherent in the machinery itself, but is also a result of the nature and architecture of the target tissue we are using, namely intact islets. Despite this drawback, we feel that biolistics offers an easy, safe and relatively efficient way to transfect this primary tissue which is resistant to most other transfection methodologies.

# per Blast	# Recovered	% Recovery	Total RLUs	RLUs/islet
1000	850	85	111193	131
800	520	65	13048	25
1075	650	60	74962	115
1000	650	65	238655	367
1000	570	<u>57</u>	4796973	8416
Mean (n=5)		66		1811
500	230	46	37611	164
500	360	72	49273	137
500	350	70	7885	23
500	280	56	164335	632
500	320	64	71724	224
500	425	<u>85</u>	11867	29
Mean (n=6)		66		202
250	180	72	50085	278
250	135	54	37942	281
250	200	80	29752	149
250	200	80	19444	97
250	210	84	29671	141
250	61	24	64456	1057
250	140	56	170572	1218
250	185	74	20773	112
250	165	<u>66</u>	411283	2493
Mean (n=9)		66		647

Table 4-1. The effect of the number of islets exposed per biolistic blast.

p > 0.05 between all groups, single factor ANOVA

Helium (psi)	# Recovered	% Recovery	Total RLUs	RLUs/islet
400 psi	61	24	64456	1057
400 psi	140	56	170572	1218
400 psi	185	74	20773	112
400 psi	165	<u>66</u>	411283	<u>2493</u>
Mean (n=4)		55		1220 *
800 psi	76	30	6027	79
800 psi	135	54	0	0
800 psi	155	62	20158	139
800 psi	140	<u>56</u>	0	_0
Mean (n=4)		51		$\frac{0}{55}$
1200 psi	63	25	16389	263
1200 psi	90	36	847	9
1200 psi	105	42	0	0
1200 psi	90	36	1815	23
1200 psi	60	<u>24</u>	13722	274
Mean (n=5)		33		114

 Table 4-2.
 The effect of different helium pressures per blast.

* p < 0.05, single factor ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc comparison

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	slet
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$,
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
Mean (n=9) $\overline{66}$ $\overline{647}$ 2.2180723333192.223594831373872.2103413787372.223092420Mean (n=4)75111	
Mean (n=9) 66 647 2.2180723333192.223594831373872.2103413787372.223092420Mean (n=4)75111	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
2.223092420Mean (n=4)75111	
Mean (n=4) 75 111	
Mean (n=4) 75 111	
3.1 105 42 0 0	
3.1 155 62 0 0	
3.1 185 74 0 0	
3.1 160 64 20076 134	
3.12158690Mean (n=5)6627	
Mean (n=5) 66 27	
4.0 60 24 6578 110	
4.0 195 78 3216 17	
4.0 140 56 319 2	
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	

 Table 4-3. The effect of gold particle size.

p > 0.05 between all groups, single factor ANOVA

Sample Drop	# Recovered	% Recovery	Total RLUs	RLU/isl
Sitting	180	72	50085	278
Sitting	135	54	37942	281
Sitting	200	80	29752	149
Sitting	200	80	19444	97
Sitting	210	84	29671	141
Sitting	61	24	64456	1057
Sitting	140	56	170572	1218
Sitting	185	74	20773	112
Sitting	165	<u>66</u>	411283	<u>2493</u>
Mean (n=9)		66		647
Hanging	165	66	3535171	21425
Hanging	187	75	2477635	13249
Hanging	110	44	522674	4752
Hanging	175	70	581743	3324
Hanging	110	44	127553	1160
Hanging	160	64	5055830	31599
Hanging	125	<u>50</u>	811010	_6488
Mean (n=7)		59		11714 *

•

Table 4-4. Comparison of sample in hanging drop vs. sitting drop	Table 4-4.	Comparison of sample in hanging drop vs. s	sitting	drop.
--	------------	--	---------	-------

* p < 0.05, Student's t-test







A. 400 psi helium





C. 1200 psi helium

B. 800 psi helium

Figure 4-2.

The effect of helium pressure on viability of blasted islets. Islets have been stained with fluorescein diacetate and examined under ultraviolet light following blasting using different helium source pressures. Viable cells are highly immunofluorescent.



A. 1.6 µm gold particles



C. 3.1 µm gold particles





D. 4.0 µm gold particles

Figure 4-3.

The effect of gold particle size on viability of blasted islets. Islets have been stained with fluorescein diacetate and examined under ultraviolet light following blasting with gold particles of different diameters. Viable cells are highly immunofluorescent.





.







Confluent Cellular Monolayer

- All particles will bombard a cell
 - Some cells may contain
 >1 particle

Centrally Clumped Islets

- Many particles will not bombard an islet
- Several islets may not be bombarded

Separated Islets

- Many particles will not bombard an islet
 - Most islets will be bombarded

Figure 4-6. Patterns of gold particle bombardment with different tissue loading procedures.

REFERENCES

- 1. Sanford JC. The biolistic process. TIBTECH 1988; 6: 299-302.
- 2. Sanford J, Klein T, Wolf E, Allen N. Delivery of substances into cells and tissues using a particle bombardment process. J. Particle Sci. Technol. 1987; 5: 27-37.
- 3. Shark K, Smith F, Harpending P, Rasmussen J, Sanford J. Biolistic transformation of a procaryote, Bacillus megaterium. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 1991; 57: 480-485.
- Smith F, Harpending P, Sanford J. Biolistic transformation of prokaryotes: factors that affect biolistic transformation of very small cells. J. Gen. Microbiol. 1992; 138: 239-248.
- Armaleo D, Ye G-N, Klein TM, Shark KB, Sanford JC, Johnston SA. Biolistic nuclear transformation of Saccharomyces cerevisiae and other fungi. Curr Genet 1990; 17: 97-103.
- Boynton J, Gillham N, Harris E, et al. Chloroplast transformation in Chlamydomonas with high velocity microprojectiles. Science 1988; 240: 1534-1538.
- Daniell H, Vivekananda J, Nielsen B, Ye G, Tewari K, Sanford J. Transient foreign gene expression in chloroplasts of cultured tobacco cells after biolistic delivery of chloroplast vectors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1990; 87: 88-92.
- Johnston S, Anziano P, Shark K, Sanford J, Butow R. Transformation of yeast mitochondria by bombardment of cells with microprojectiles. Science 1988; 240: 1538-1541.
- 9. Fox T, Sanford J, McMullin T. Plasmids can stably transform yeast mitochondria lacking endogenous mtDNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA 1988; 85: 7288-7292.
- Heiser WC. Gene transfer into mammalian cells by particle bombardment. Anal Biochem 1994; 217: 185-196.
- Cheng F-M, Joho KE. Effect of biolistic particle size on the efficiency of transfection of oocytes in Xenopus ovary tissue. Nucleic Acids Research 1994; 22: 3265-66.

- Yang N, Burkholder J, Roberts B, Martinell B, McCabe D. In vivo and in vitro gene transfer to mammalian somatic cells by particle bombardment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1990; 87: 9568-9572.
- Williams RS, Johnston SA, Riedy M, DeVit MJ, McElligott SG, Sanford JC. Introduction of foreign genes into tissues of living mice by DNA-coated microprojectiles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1991; 88: 2726-30.
- Sanford JC, Smith FD, Russell JA. Optimizing the biolistic process for different biological applications. Methods in Enzymology, vol 217. New York: Academic Press, Inc, 1993: 483-509.
- Klein TM, Wolf ED, Wu R, Sanford JC. High-velocity microprojectiles for delivering nucleic acids into living cells. Nature 1987; 327: 70-73.
- Christou P, McCabe D, Swain W. Stable transformation of soybean callus by DNAcoated gold particles. Plant Physiol. 1988; 87: 671-674.
- Seki M, Komeda Y, Iida A, Yamada Y, Morikawa H. Transient expression of betaglucuronidase in Arabidopsis thaliana leaves and roots and Brassica napus stems using a pneumatic particle gun. Plant Mol. Biol. 1991; 17: 259-263.
- Gotoh M, Maki T, Kiyoizumi T, Satomi S, Monaco AP. An improved method for isolation of mouse pancreatic islets. Transplantation 1985; 40: 437-38.

CHAPTER V

PROLONGATION OF THE SURVIVAL OF BIOLISTICALLY TRANSFECTED MOUSE ISLET ALLOGRAFTS EXPRESSING HUMAN CTLA4-Ig, HUMAN SOLUBLE FAS LIGAND OR A COMBINATION OF HUMAN CTLA4-Ig AND HUMAN SOLUBLE FAS LIGAND.

INTRODUCTION

The aim of this study was to attain immunosuppression localized to a limited area around engrafted allogeneic islet tissue. We hoped to achieve this by transfecting the transplanted islets with genes for immunomodulatory molecules. CTLA4-Ig is a good candidate molecule for this therapy in allograft transplantation since it should result in blockade of the co-stimulatory signal which is generally required for T cell activation (see Chapters I and III). Indeed, we have previously shown that when mouse islets were biolistically transfected with human CTLA4-Ig, long-term allograft survival was the result in 50% of cases (1). We attributed the lack of uniform long-term survival mainly to the failure of the biolistic transfection process to consistently achieve adequate levels of protein expression. With subsequent technical modifications, particularly to the sample loading procedure, we were able to improve our protein expression levels approximately 20 fold. We therefore decided to investigate whether we could improve our rate of success of islet allograft survival with CTLA4-Ig under these new conditions.

We also elected to use the biolistic methodology to introduce a second promising immunoregulatory molecule, Fas ligand. The rationale for its use was discussed previously (Chapter I). Briefly, interaction of Fas ligand with a Fas receptor-bearing target cell results in apoptosis of the target (2). Fas receptor/Fas ligand interactions are thought to play an important role in the regulation of clonal expansion and subsequent limitation of T cell responses (3, 4). Activation of T cells <u>in vitro</u> initially results in upregulation of their Fas receptor expression (5). Lymphocyte Fas ligand expression is also upregulated (6-8). Interaction of the Fas receptor with Fas ligand then triggers the Fas receptor-bearing T cell to undergo apoptosis. It is generally believed that this process curtails immune responses and limits the size of the remaining antigen-specific populations (4).

In the transplantation setting, the rationale for use of Fas receptor/Fas ligand interactions to disrupt the allograft rejection process is as follows. T cells infiltrating the graft should have high levels of Fas receptor expression due to allo-activation (9). Soluble Fas ligand, produced by the engrafted tissue, should bind to the Fas receptors on the activated infiltrating lymphocytes and trigger apoptosis. The consequence would be survival of the allograft.

In the following study we have used biolistically-transfected mouse islets to examine the effect of locally produced human CTLA4-Ig alone, human soluble Fas ligand alone and the combination of the two molecules on mouse islet allograft survival.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. Islet isolation.

CBA mice (Jackson Laboratories, Bar Harbor, Maine) were anesthetized using tribromoethanol (Avertin). Pancreatic islets were isolated by shaking collagenase digestion and purified on a Ficoll density gradient followed by hand-picking. The islets were cultured for 24 h in 95% air/5% CO₂ at 37°C in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 12 mM HEPES, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 μ g/mL streptomycin and 20 μ g/mL amphotericin B. Islets from each isolation were hand-picked into aliquots of 500 and cultured under the same conditions for a further 24 h. Similar methods were used in the case of the syngeneic controls, except that the islet donors were BALB/c mice.

2. Molecular constructs.

The cDNA encoding human CTLA4-Ig was modeled essentially on the construct of Linsley et al. (10). Our construct contained three DNA segments encoding the following elements: 1) the oncostatin M signal sequence (amino acids 1 to 25), 2) the extracellular domain of human CTLA4 (amino acids 26 to 150), and 3) the human Fcyl region, with cys to ser substitutions for all cys residues in the hinge region (amino acids 151 to 383). These substitutions result in disruption of the disulfide bridges between the two strands of the Ig tail and are thought to also destabilize the complement binding sites of the Fc region. Specific restriction sites which did not affect the encoded amino acid sequence were incorporated between the three elements to allow substitutions in the future if desired (see Appendix for cloning details). The complete cDNA construct was sequenced and was verified as correct with the introduced restriction sites with one exception. A non-coding point mutation of thymidine for guanosine occurred at nucleotide position 726, within the region encoding for the immunoglobulin tail. The complete gene sequence appears in the Appendix. The cDNA encoding the fusion protein was excised with Xba I and Not I and inserted into a pUC-based eukaryotic expression vector (pPSC1) which contained the human CMV (Towne strain) Immediate Early 1 promoter/enhancer + Intron A as well as a downstream polyadenylation signal from SV40 virus (J.F.E., unpublished). The CTLA4-Ig protein produced by this construct bound to a cell line transformed with B7, as determined by flow cytometry. Since our construct was virtually identical to that produced by Peter Linsley (who has extensively characterized the molecule), no further in vitro functional tests of the molecule were done.

The cDNA encoding human soluble Fas ligand had been previously cloned in the laboratory of Dr. J.F. Elliott by Dr. Camille Hancock-Friesen (11). It was modeled on the

construct of Nagata's group (12), and consisted of a truncated form of the wild-type molecule which only encoded the extracellular portion of the Fas ligand molecule, preceded by the signal sequence for murine granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). The complete gene sequence appears in the Appendix. The construct had previously been shown to bind to Fas receptor and to cause cell death of Fas-expressing cells in a cytotoxicity assay (11).

3. Biolistic transfection.

Gold particles (BioRad) of 1.6 µm diameter were used as microprojectiles and were found to have good uniformity by scanning electron microscopy (Hitachi S-2500, see Chapter II). Particles (30 mg) were washed initially with 95% ethanol, twice with sterile water, then pelleted and resuspended in 500 μ L of sterile water (final concentration of 60 mg/mL). Each disc was prepared using a separate DNA precipitation reaction, and the entire reaction mixture was loaded onto the macrocarrier disc. Based on our previous studies, we felt that we had to increase the total amount of DNA used for transfection. Therefore, three different quantitative combinations of each DNA and gold particles were used in the initial study: 3.0 µg DNA on 0.5 mg gold (our original conditions), 6.0 µg DNA on 0.5 mg gold, and 6.0 µg DNA on 1.0 mg of gold. Based on the results, in the subsequent transplantation studies, $6.0 \,\mu g$ of DNA on 1.0 mg of gold was used. The appropriate DNA, consisting either of the expression vector alone (no gene insert), or the expression vector containing the gene for human CTLA4-Ig or human soluble Fas ligand, was added to 16.6 μ L of Au particles (60 mg/mL). In the case of the combination, a mixture of 3.0 µg each of the CTLA4-Ig and soluble Fas ligand preparations were used. The particles were resuspended and a volume of 2.5 M CaCl, equal to the total volume of DNA and Au particles, followed by 1 M spermidine (1/5 of the volume of CaCl, used) was quickly added and mixed well. The mixture was left to settle at room temperature for a minimum of 10 min, and then spun very briefly in a microcentrifuge. The pellet was

washed with 70% ethanol, re-pelleted, washed with 95% ethanol, re-pelleted and resuspended in 25 µL of 95% ethanol. Using a micropipettor, the particle slurry was then sprayed onto the central area (~7.5 mm in diameter) of a Kapton macrocarrier disc which was 2.54 cm in diameter and 0.06 mm in thickness (BioRad) and allowed to dry in a desiccator. For exposure to the biolistic blast, following 48 h of culture as outlined above, 500 islets were suspended in 0.10 mL of media, and placed on the top of an inverted cell strainer with a mesh size of 40 μ m (Falcon), the center of which had been pre-wet with 0.1 mL of media. The strainer and blasting apparatus was encased in a small vacuum chamber (a modification to a hand-held version of the BioRad biolistic apparatus) under 15" Hg of vacuum. Using this system, the target distance between the stopping screen and the suspended cells was 25 mm. Following the blast, the islets were resuspended in 2 mL of RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 12 mM HEPES, 2 mM L-glutamine, 10% heatinactivated fetal calf serum, 100 U/mL penicillin, 100 µg/mL streptomycin, and 20 µg/mL amphotericin B. The islets were then incubated at 37°C in 95% air/5% CO, for 48 h. Unblasted control groups simply had the media changed and were cultured in the same manner as the test groups.

4. Islet transplants.

Following a 48 h post-transfection period, 2 or 3 aliquots (a final total of approximately 400 islets) blasted with the same cDNA were pooled and transplanted beneath the kidney capsule of an alloxan-induced diabetic BALB/c recipient (85 mg/kg i.v. via penile vein injection). The cessation of graft survival was defined as blood glucose levels of 16.5 mM on three consecutive readings.

5. Insulin determinations.

Isolated islets were harvested into 1.0 mL of cold acid-alcohol (0.18 M HCl in 75% ethanol) and placed at 4°C for 48 h. The supernatant was removed and placed at -70°C.

The cellular pellet was further extracted at 4°C for 24 h with 0.5 mL of cold acid alcohol. The second supernatant was collected and added to the previously collected aliquot. Samples were stored at -70°C until assayed.

Approximately 15 days following the return of blood glucose levels to the diabetic range, the engrafted kidneys and pancreata were removed from the islet transplant recipients. The small portion of kidney containing the rejected graft was placed into 0.5 mL of cold acid alcohol, finely minced with scissors and extracted at 4°C for 48 h. The supernatant was removed, stored at -70°C, and a further extraction in another 0.5 mL of cold acid-alcohol was performed for 24 h. Supernatants were pooled and stored as outlined above. Insulin extraction on whole pancreata was performed in a similar fashion using 2.0 mL of cold acid-alcohol in each step (final volume of 4.0 mL). Samples were assayed using an insulin radioimmune assay kit (Linco Research Inc.).

6. ELISAs.

i) Human CTLA4-Ig

Round-bottomed 96-well plates (Nunc) were loaded with 50 μ L/well of a 1/1000 dilution of AffiniPure goat anti-human IgG, Fc γ fragment specific antibody (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., 1.8 mg/mL) in 50 mM carbonate-bicarbonate buffer, pH 9.6 (Sigma), incubated for 30 min at 37°C, and stored at 4°C for no more than 3 days before use. Plates were blocked with 1% bovine serum albumin in PBS-Tween (1%) at 37°C for 1 h. Triplicate wells of 50 μ L of either sample or standard (ChromPure Human IgG, Fc fragment, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc.) diluted in RPMI were incubated for 1 h at 37°C. A 1/5000 dilution of alkaline phosphatase-conjugated AffiniPure goat anti-human IgG (Jackson, 0.6 mg/mL) in 1% PBS-T (50 μ L) was added and incubated at 37°C for 1 h. For detection, 50 μ L of pNPP (1.0 mg/mL in 0.1 M glycine buffer, 1.0 mM MgCl₂, 1.0 mM ZnCl₂, pH 10.4) was added per well, and the plate incubated for a minimum of 45 min at 37°C. The reaction was stopped with 50 μ L of 3 N

NaOH per well. Plates were read on a Dynatech MRX microplate reader at a wavelength of 410 nm and a reference wavelength of 570 nm.

ii) Human Fas ligand

These assays were performed by Dr. Wei-ping Min in Dr Elliott's laboratory. Briefly, round-bottomed 96-well plates (Nunc) were coated with 50 μ L of a 1.0 μ g/mL solution of anti-human Fas ligand monoclonal antibody, kindly supplied by S. Nagata, Japan (*13*). Plates were incubated at 4°C overnight and then washed three times with PBS-Tween (0.1%). Sample or standard (prepared from the supernatant of COS cells transfected with the gene for soluble human Fas ligand) was added (50 μ L) and incubated at room temperature for 1 h. Following another three washes with PBS-T, 50 μ L of a 0.5 μ g/mL solution of a second biotinylated anti-human Fas ligand monoclonal antibody (also supplied by S. Nagata) was added and incubation and washing carried out as before. Finally, 50 μ L of a 1/4000 dilution of streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase (Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc.) was added and incubated for 45 min at room temperature. Colour was developed using TMB (Sigma Chemical Company, St. Louis, MO) and the reaction was stopped with 0.6 N H₂SO₄. Plates were read at 450 nm (test) and 570 nm (reference).

7. Histologic methods.

Following removal from the animal, engrafted kidneys or pancreata were placed in Bouin's fixative for 2 h, and then paraffin-embedded. Mounted sections underwent routine hematoxylin/eosin and aldehyde fuchsin staining. Immunohistochemical staining of paraffin sections for insulin was performed at room temperature as follows. Sections were quenched with 10% hydrogen peroxide/80% methanol for 6 min, blocked for 15 min with 20% horse serum, incubated for 30 min with a 1/1000 dilution of primary guinea pig antiporcine insulin antibody (DAKO Corp., Carpinteria, CA), and for 20 min with a 1/200 secondary biotinylated goat anti-guinea pig IgG antibody (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA). A Vectastain ABC kit (Vector Laboratories) and a liquid DAB Substrate Pack (BioGenex, San Ramon, CA) were used for color development, per the manufacturers' instructions.

RESULTS

Optimizing the amount of DNA and gold particles used for transfection

1. Assessing islet damage by insulin levels.

An initial study comparing the quantity of DNA and gold particles used for transfection was performed. When twice the DNA ($6 \mu g$) was used on the original amount of gold (0.5 mg), the particles became very clumped and difficult to resuspend following the DNA precipitation. As a result, the discs were very unevenly covered with large clumps of particles. For this reason that particular combination was not pursued. Use of $6 \mu g$ of DNA and 1.0 mg of gold particles overcame the clumping problem, and the islets subjectively appeared to contain many more gold particles microscopically than when $3.0 \mu g$ of DNA and 0.5 mg of gold were used.

We have used the ratio of the amount of insulin extracted from intact blasted islets to the amount of insulin released into the culture media following a 48 h post-transfection incubation as an indication of islet damage. The greater the amount of islet damage (with consequent insulin release into the surrounding media), the lower the ratio. Results appear in Table 5-1. Using our original conditions of 3 μ g of DNA loaded onto 0.5 mg of gold, the range of the insulin ratios was 0.8 - 2.6 (mean value of 1.8). When twice the amount of both DNA and gold was used (i.e. 6.0 μ g and 1.0 mg respectively), the range was 0.7 -3.6 (mean value of 2.2). This difference was statistically significant (p<0.05, two factor ANOVA), suggesting that there was somewhat less islet damage when both the amount of DNA and gold was doubled from that used previously. However, the mean insulin ratio for untreated islets was 5.1 (data not shown), again indicating that even with the better of the two conditions, there was still a considerable amount of islet damage (Chapter IV). There was also a statistically significant difference in ratios (p<0.05, two factor ANOVA) between the CTLA4-Ig-transfected and Fas ligand transfected groups, with the insulin ratios from the former group suggesting more islet damage.

2. Levels of transfected gene expression.

We measured the amount of CTLA4-Ig and Fas ligand secreted into the media during the 48 h incubation period which followed biolistic transfection of the islets. The ELISA results appear in Table 5-1. The lower limit of sensitivity was 75 pg/mL in both assays. In both DNA/gold groups, there was no detectable protein when islets were transfected with the empty vector alone. In the 3.0 μ g DNA/0.5 mg gold group, there was no cross-reactivity of the molecules. However in the group with the larger amounts of DNA and gold, a small amount of cross-reactivity with Fas ligand was detected in the CTLA4-Ig assay. The most notable point from the data is the enormous variability in the amount of transfected gene expression within each subgroup (see particularly the CTLA4-Ig subgroup). Obviously, the blast to blast variability continues to be a major problem. As a result of this, it is difficult to interpret the differences in levels between the groups. It does not appear that there is a linear reduction in protein produced when half as much DNA is used (e.g. CTLA4-Ig levels with the DNA combination are not half of the levels with CTLA4-Ig DNA alone). Similarly, it does not appear that protein production is doubled when the amount of DNA/gold used for transfection is doubled; the levels appear to be similar. In as much as subjectively the islets appeared to contain more particles, the protein production appeared to be similar, and the amount of cell damage was less, all further studies were performed using a total of $6.0 \,\mu g$ of DNA and $1.0 \,m g$ of gold particles.

Transfection control grafts

We performed insulin extractions on pancreata from five BALB/c mice of a similar age to the recipients used in our study. Results appear in Table 5-2. The range of insulin values for the normal untreated pancreata was 24.8 - 65.5 ng/mg of pancreas (mean value of 40.9 ng/mg of pancreas). In contrast, at the time of nephrectomy, the pancreatic insulin levels were minimal in the alloxan-treated recipients with the exception of three animals. These animals were cases of alloxan reversion since there were minimal amounts of insulin in the engrafted kidneys. Mean values of 0.4, 0.8 and 1.1 ng/mg of pancreas were obtained for the islets cultured for 24 h, 72 h and the islets blasted with uncoated (naked) gold particles respectively, when the values from the reverted pancreata were excluded.

The syngeneic, blasted grafts survived until the time of nephrectomy (mean survival time of 66 days). In contrast, the mean survival time of the 24 h viability allograft controls was 17 days. The mean survival times of the 72 h cultured and naked gold-blasted islet allografts were slightly longer and almost identical (21 and 22 days respectively). Two weeks after their blood glucose levels had reached 16.5 mM, nephrectomies were performed on the mice containing the rejected allografts. Extraction of the engrafted kidneys for insulin revealed very minimal levels in all three groups - in the range of 0.001 - 0.005 μ g of insulin with mean values of 0.002, 0.003 and 0.002 for the 24 h, 72 h culture and naked gold groups, respectively.

Transfected allogeneic islet transplants

1. Allograft survival

Table 5-3 shows the allograft survival times of the groups of islets which were transfected with the different DNA molecules. The two immunomodulatory molecules, CTLA4-Ig and Fas ligand, were inserted into different expression vectors, pPSC1 and

pSCD7 respectively. All of the control grafts consisting of islets transfected with either of the empty vectors alone (i.e. no gene insert) were rejected. The mean survival time was 23 days which was very similar to the 72 h cultured, non-transfected group (21 days) and those blasted with naked gold (22 days, Table 5-2). In all of the control cases, minimal or undetectable insulin remained in the engrafted kidneys (mean of 0.002 μ g) or the pancreata (mean of 1.3 ng/mg of pancreas). Again, these results were very similar to the values obtained for the naked gold particles (0.002 μ g and 1.1 ng/mg of pancreas respectively, Table 5-2).

The length of graft survival of transfected islets is also shown in Table 5-3. Interestingly, there is a bimodal distribution in all three groups (compare with Chapter III). The grafts either rejected around the time of the empty vector controls (approximately 20 days) or survived longer term (>45 days). The cessation of graft survival was originally defined as blood glucose levels of 16.5 mM on three consecutive readings. Two weeks after reaching this point, the pancreas and engrafted kidney were removed for insulin extraction. However, if normoglycemia was maintained until 60 days, then the engrafted kidney was removed and sent for histology and blood glucose levels were monitored for the next 5 days to verify a return to hyperglycemic levels. At that time, the pancreas was removed and extracted for insulin. Disappointingly, as shown in Table 5-3, in all of the cases that went to 60 days, there was no return to the diabetic state following the nephrectomies (three cases in each DNA group). This indicates that the pancreata had regained their insulin-secreting capacity some time over the life of the graft. Indeed, the insulin contents of the pancreata from these cases were very high (range of 9.6 - 23.6 ng/mg of pancreas), providing confirmation of alloxan reversion. Unfortunately, because of the study design, insulin extraction was not done on the engrafted kidneys which would have indicated how much viable islet tissue was still present. However, upon reexamination of the blood glucose readings from these animals, it was evident that in all cases there had been a sudden increase in blood glucose levels from the baseline levels

around 6 mM to somewhere between 10 and 12.5 mM. The elevated blood glucose levels remained within that range for approximately 3-5 days, and then returned to euglycemic levels (Figure 5-1). Interestingly, in all of these cases but one (#23), this spike in blood glucose occurred around 50 days, which is very similar to the time when the other long term grafts rejected. It is reasonable to assume that this peak corresponded to the time of graft rejection but that shortly thereafter, the insulin produced by the pancreas reached high enough levels to restore the blood glucose to the normal range. Taking this into consideration, 4 of 8 grafts (50%) of CTLA4-Ig-transfected islets survived >45 days (#10-13). Survival frequencies for this length of time in the other groups were 4 of 5 grafts (80%) in the Fas ligand group and 3 of 7 grafts (43%, #23 classified as short term) in the combination of CTLA4-Ig and Fas ligand group.

One other point remains to be made in terms of allograft survival. As outlined above, this definition is an arbitrary one. We considered the graft to have failed when insufficient engrafted insulin-producing tissue remained to normalize blood glucose levels in a chemically-induced diabetic animal. It does not mean that the entire graft was destroyed and that there was no islet tissue remaining. Examination of the insulin levels from the kidneys containing rejected grafts confirmed this. In the CTLA4-Ig group, there was still a moderate amount of insulin-containing tissue in #8 (0.124 μ g), although normoglycemia was not sustained beyond 23 days. In the case of #10, which rejected at 47 days, there was still a considerable amount of protected insulin-producing tissue remaining (0.75 μ g of insulin compared to 0.002 μ g in controls). Unfortunately, it was not enough to reach the critical level required to maintain euglycemia. Similarly, in the Fas ligand group, the graft which survived to 50 days (#15) actually contained 1.074 μ g of insulin, well above the failed control grafts. In the DNA combination group, the graft which failed at 47 days (#22) contained a small amount of insulin (0.030 μ g), while the one which failed at 18 days (#20) had a moderate insulin level (0.260 μ g).

Finally, as previously mentioned, an untreated BALB/c pancreas from a mouse of similar age contained from 20 to 65 ng of insulin/mg of pancreatic tissue (Table 5-2). It is evident from the pancreatic insulin levels shown in Table 5-3, that levels were reasonably low at <21 days post-transplantation (0.4 - 1.7 ng/mg of pancreas). A value of 3.2 ng/mg of pancreas in a case at 25 days appears to be an exception. However, by 47 - 50 days, levels had increased to 2.1 (CTLA4-Ig group), 2.1 (Fas ligand group) and 4.9 ng/mg of pancreas (CTLA4-Ig/Fas ligand group). A rapid rise followed, since by 60 days the pancreatic levels had reached an average of 14.7 ng/mg of pancreas, enough to have returned the blood glucose levels to within the normal range.

2. Histology of kidneys harvested at 60 days.

Figures 5-2 through 5-4 are photomicrographs of the grafts which were harvested at 60 days. A summary of the histological appearance of the grafts appears in Table 5-4. Only one case (#13) in the CTLA4-Ig group shows a large well-granulated graft which is surrounded by mononuclear peri-infiltrates. Interestingly, this animal's jump in blood glucose levels at Day 50 was the least great, only reaching 10.4 mM with levels steadily declining back to normal over the following 5 days. In the other two long term CTLA4-Ig cases, no remaining islet tissue was seen in the sections examined, and the area of the grafts appeared relatively quiescent with little or no lymphocytic infiltration remaining. In the Fas ligand group, one case (#16) had some scattered islands of islet tissue remaining within a sea of mononuclear cells. The other two cases showed evidence of lymphocytic infiltration with no islet tissue remaining. In one case from the combination DNA group (#25), a few scattered islets were visible but most of the graft area was scar tissue with a moderate mononuclear cell infiltrate. The other case in this group showed very little evidence of active immune activity and was predominantly scar tissue.

Although all of these animals failed to return to the diabetic state following nephrectomy of the engrafted kidneys, and all had significant pancreatic insulin levels, no islets were seen in the pancreatic histological sections in half of them. This is due to the fact that only a small piece of pancreas was removed for histology since the rest was needed for insulin extraction. It emphasizes the point however, that a small number of histological sections may not be representative of the entire graft.

3. Relationship between allograft survival and pre-transplant transgene expression.

Table 5-5 shows the results of the ELISAs performed on the 48 h post-blast culture supernatants and the corresponding allograft survival times. Firstly, there are two aberrant false positive CTLA4-Ig values within the controls. They are probably the result of some cross-reactivity of the detecting antibody and a contaminant of some sort. The cases appear in order of increasing allograft survival. Unfortunately, it is evident that there is not a matching increase in levels of transgenic protein produced by the transfected islets. In other words, there is no correlation between the levels of protein produced within the pre-transplantation 48 h culture period and the length of allograft survival (correlation co-efficients of 0.159 for CTLA4-Ig group and 0.418 for Fas ligand group).

DISCUSSION

Optimizing the amount of DNA and gold particles used for transfection

In our earlier transplant study using CTLA4-Ig (Chapter III) we used $3.0 \mu g$ of DNA coated onto 0.5 mg of gold particles. We had concluded in that case that we were not reliably achieving an adequate amount of gene expression and subsequent protein production. We therefore felt that it was necessary to try to increase the amount of DNA used for transfection in this study. This would be of particular importance in the case of

the combination of the two immunomodulatory molecules, where only 1.5 µg of each DNA would be used if the previous total of 3.0 µg was maintained. Having therefore decided to double the amount of DNA employed, the question then arose as to whether the previous or double the amount of gold particles should be used. We understood that the ratio of DNA to gold particles was critical and had been carefully determined previously during the development of the biolistic procedure (personal communication, Bill Heiser, BioRad). This was borne out by our experience. When double the amount of DNA was used with the lesser amount of gold, the particles became irreversibly clumped into large aggregates during the DNA precipitation procedure. In contrast, irreversible clumping was not a problem if the amount of both the DNA and gold were doubled. However, the quality and type of DNA preparation itself also affected the outcome of particle preparation. For example, it has been our experience that if the DNA was prepared using a Qiagen Maxi Kit (Qiagen Inc., Chatsworth, CA), the particles tended to clump much more than if the DNA was purified on a cesium chloride/ethidium bromide gradient. In this study, cesium chloride preparations were used for both CTLA4-Ig and Fas ligand. Nevertheless, the CTLA4-Ig coated particles were consistently slightly clumpier and more difficult to work with. This probably accounts for the slightly more damaging effect of the CTLA4-Ig blasts than that of the other DNAs (Table 5-1). It is not clear why blasting with twice as many particles is less damaging (Table 5-1). Perhaps a finer spray of particles is produced, or the helium shock is dissipated more under these conditions.

As previously mentioned, the ELISA data in Table 5-1 reveals how variable the transfection efficiency is between blasts. In several cases protein production is not even detectable, while within the CTLA4-Ig group alone there is a 1000-fold difference between only 4 blasts. In addition, the lower level of sensitivity for the assays is 75 pg/mL. In many of our cases expression was near this level. These factors make interpretation of the ELISA results difficult. It is not clear what effect using twice the amount of DNA is having in terms of protein production. The decision to use 6.0 μ g of DNA and 1.0 mg of gold

particles for the rest of the studies was therefore based on the microscopic appearance of the islets and the insulin results which suggested less islet damage under these conditions.

Transfection control grafts

The syngeneic islet allografts consisted of BALB/c islets which had been biolistically-transfected with a non-immunoregulatory reporter gene (either ß-galactosidase or firefly luciferase). The long-term survival of the syngeneic grafts (a minimum of 65 days until they were harvested) demonstrates that biolistically-transfected islets are capable of long-term <u>in vivo</u> function.

Unfortunately, because we had used all of our previous lot of collagenase, we had to use a different collagenase preparation for this study. Therefore, we included a viability control group which consisted of isolated allogeneic islets which had simply been cultured overnight prior to transplantation. Good graft function was obtained, and the mean survival time was 17 days. However, due to an increase in islet friability with the new collagenase, this in turn meant that for the transfected islet groups, we had to increase the post-isolation/pre-blast culture period from 24 h (used previously) to 48 h. Since long term culture has been used in the past as a means of immunomodulation, we therefore felt it was important to ascertain the allograft survival of islets which had not been transfected but simply cultured for the 72 h period. The range of allograft survival times in this case was 14 - 26 days with a mean of 21 days (excluding the cases of alloxan reversion which will be discussed in the next section). Therefore it would seem that the culture period alone has indeed shifted our baseline to a small extent. The slightly prolonged survival times are thought to be the result of two processes. Firstly, the islets have been hand-picked three times during the procedure which removes much of the more allogeneic exocrine tissue and ductal elements. Secondly, passenger leukocytes within the grafts do not tolerate in vitro culture as well as the endocrine tissue. The overall effect is a decrease in the immunogenicity of the tissue which shows up as a slightly longer time to rejection.

We also wanted to address whether the gold particles themselves had any immunosuppressive effect. The range and mean survival time of allografts blasted with gold which had not been coated with any DNA (naked) were very similar to the 72 h culture controls. Therefore, it is clear that the gold alone did not play any immunological role.

Finally, the amount of insulin extracted from the pancreas of a BALB/c mouse of similar age to our recipients was between 25 and 65 ng/mg of pancreas. Clearly, in our 24 h, 72 h cultured and naked gold blasted control groups, which were harvested approximately 35 days after transplantation, the pancreata have not regained significant insulin-producing activity (average of 0.8 ng/mg of pancreas). Similarly, there is negligible insulin extracted from the kidneys containing the rejected grafts in all control groups (0.001 - 0.005 μ g of insulin).

Transfected allogeneic islet transplants

The results of the transplants using the empty vector controls (survival times, pancreas and engrafted kidney insulin contents) are very similar to the results of the 72 h culture and naked gold blasted controls. In other words, the presence of the empty DNA vector coated onto the gold particles does not have any effect.

The fact that the blood glucose levels did not return to the diabetic range in the grafts harvested at 60 days was disappointing to say the least. We have experienced similar problems in the past when using alloxan as a chemical inducer of diabetes. Its use is a double-edged sword: one wishes to determine maximal graft survival times, but it is well known that the incidence of the alloxan-treated pancreata regaining their insulin secreting capacity increases with time. It is interesting to note that, in general, the pancreatic insulin levels remain low in cases where the grafts are rejected in less than 26 days (72 h culture, naked gold, empty vector controls and transfected gene cases which had early rejection of
their grafts - Tables 5-2 and 5-3). There are two exceptions; one animal in each of the 72 h culture and naked gold groups were reversions, which may have occurred early since hyperglycemia was never observed. However, in the animals which rejected their grafts around 45 - 50 days, the pancreatic insulin levels have increased approximately three-fold from earlier levels. Following this there must be a rapid rise since, by 60 days, the mean pancreatic insulin content is 14.7 ng/mg of pancreas, about one third of normal levels. This is obviously enough to normalize the blood sugar levels of the animals. We feel therefore, that in the animals which had their kidneys harvested at 60 days, there was a functional islet graft which maintained normal blood sugar levels out to at least 45 days. We interpret the presence of a sudden spike in the blood glucose levels to represent rejection of the graft. Figure 5-5 is a graphical representation of four hypothetical scenarios which could possibly occur with relation to changes in graft and pancreatic insulin levels, and which could explain the blood glucose readings obtained in the study. According to this proposed model the following possibilities could occur. In the case of the controls, there is a small amount of rapid graft loss, but the graft initially meets the required critical islet mass and blood glucose levels are normalized. As a result of continued immune attack, the graft is rejected by approximately 20 days. There has not been any pancreatic reversion and therefore, a critical islet mass no longer exists and blood glucose levels rapidly rise to the hyperglycemic range where they remain. In the case of an indefinitely surviving graft, the graft continues to provide the critical islet mass. There is no pancreatic reversion (e.g. see the 130 d and 164 d survivors in Chapter III) and steady blood glucose levels within the normal range are maintained. The third scenario occurs when there is partial destruction of the graft over time. Initially, the pancreas is not producing insulin and the islet graft functions to maintain euglycemia. By approximately 45 days the pancreas is beginning to regain its insulin-secreting capacity, but with the subsequent demise of at least some of the islet graft, a critical islet mass is not maintained. A window is therefore created around 45 - 50 days, where insufficient insulin to maintain normoglycemia is being

produced, and blood glucose levels rise. Within the next few days, however, the pancreas rapidly regains its insulin-secreting capacity, the critical islet mass is re-established and blood glucose levels again return to normal. Similar events take place in the final situation, except that the islet graft is completely destroyed. In any event, a similar, short-lived window of elevated blood glucose levels is the result. It is not clear whether there is a relative difference in the final level or rate at which the pancreas regains its insulin-secretory function between the last two situations. Obviously the best way to closely follow the course of events would be to measure blood insulin levels. Unfortunately, this is not practical in a mouse model and we are left with the determination of blood sugar as an indirect reflection of insulin levels. While easy to perform, and relatively inexpensive, the blood glucose levels only provide us with information as to whether there is sufficient insulin being produced to maintain euglycemia, and do not reflect either the rate of decline in insulin levels produced by the graft or whether sub-optimal levels of insulin persist.

An interesting question is whether the presence of an islet graft has any influence on the incidence or kinetics of pancreatic reversion. It appears that the reversion process does not begin until after approximately 30 days. Once the reversion potential has been established, it is conceivable that the stress caused by the presence of hyperglycemia following demise of the graft speeds up the process of reversion which is why there is such a rapid increase in insulin production after the time of graft rejection. However, if the graft is rejected before 30 days, as in the control cases, the reversion potential has not been established and graft rejection results in hyperglycemia. An alternate possibility is that the islet graft itself produces some kind of factor which aids the reversion process at greater than 30 days. These questions could be answered in the first possibility by monitoring pancreatic reversion using a test system where exogenous insulin is provided continuously until 45 days versus 100 days. The use of syngeneic islet grafts which should survive indefinitely would address the second possibility. The use of blood sugar measurements is a reflection of graft survival as long as the levels revert to the hyperglycemic range upon removal of the graft. Elevated blood glucose levels indicate when there is no longer the critical mass of insulin-producing tissue present which is required to normalize blood sugars. It is obvious from the insulin levels present in the "rejected" grafts that some functional tissue still remains. This point is also confirmed by the presence of insulin-producing tissue in some of the histological sections of the kidneys bearing "rejected" grafts. It is fair to say that some islet tissue in these cases has been protected and therefore escaped immune destruction; there is just not enough tissue remaining to maintain normal blood sugar levels. A more accurate reflection of graft cell survival would be obtained with either insulin or C-peptide levels, the problem being that there is no way of determining whether they are of graft or pancreatic origin unless the graft is xenogeneic and therefore produces a protein which is distinct from the host.

Just as a critical level of insulin is required to maintain euglycemia, it appears that a critical level of the immunomodulatory proteins is also necessary to provide graft protection. This is suggested by the fact that we see a bimodal response with the islets transfected with either of the immunomodulatory genes: the grafts either reject over the same time frame as the controls or they survive long term. No spectrum of survival times is seen.

There does not appear to be any correlation between the levels of protective protein produced during the 48 h incubation period following transfection and allograft survival (Table 5-5). There are several possible explanations for this. The protein in the culture supernatant includes that produced by cells which are part of an intact islet, as well as that produced by single cells. However, only intact islets are later transplanted. It may be that protein produced from single cells represents a significant proportion of the total, since the cells may have been knocked off of the periphery of an islet when they were hit by a particle (i.e. were transfected). Additionally, perhaps the initial level of gene expression does not reflect the subsequent <u>in vivo</u> situation. It is possible that the islets which produce more protein initially lose expression more quickly later on, whereas the ones which take longer to recover may show expression for longer. In the case of CTLA4-Ig, the number or position of the APCs within the islet may also make a difference. For example, the majority of protein secreted by peripherally located cells may end up in the media. Other cells, situated nearer an APC may not produce as much protein, but a larger proportion of it would become bound to B7 molecules. In the case of Fas ligand, the protein has to diffuse through the tissue to reach infiltrating mononuclear cells so the physical location of the cells producing the protein may be important.

We have demonstrated long term allograft survival (>45 days) of transfected islets in 50% of cases using CTLA4-Ig, both in our earlier and later study. This compares favorably with the results reported by Chahine et al. who achieved survival >51 days in 1 of 10 allografts using a co-transplantation model (14). As discussed earlier (Chapter III), the improvement could be due to the geographical location of the CTLA4-Ig production, as well as the fact that our islets (and their APCs) had been exposed to CTLA4-Ig prior to their transplantation.

Our success rate of prolonged allograft survival using Fas ligand-transfected islets was 80%. Unfortunately, we had a smaller number of final cases within this group due to some technical failures during the study (the islets in these isolations were more friable resulting in small transplant volumes and subsequent failure to correct hyperglycemia). However, our Fas ligand results agree with those obtained by Lau et al. (15) who achieved successful long-term protection in 100 % of allografts using a co-transplantation model of islets and 2 x 10^6 myoblasts which had been transfected with Fas ligand. The same authors show a spectrum of survival dates, with a direct relationship between the length of survival and the number of co-transplanted myoblasts (and presumably the amount of CTLA4-Ig produced). Unfortunately, nephrectomy was not performed on any of the long-term survivors in the above group; a definite cause for caution in interpretation of their results in

light of our experience with spontaneous reversion of chemically-induced diabetic recipients.

One possible explanation for our inability to protect all grafts is that we do not achieve the minimal required level of protective protein in a number of cases due to the variability in our transfection efficiencies. This variability is clearly shown in Tables 5-1 and 5-5. Despite improvements to our methodology to increase transfection efficiency, we did not see any improvement in our success rate from that obtained previously with CTLA4-Ig (Chapter III). In some of the previous transplant studies, levels as high as 500 μ g of protein were administered repeatedly intravenously (*16*, *17*). Similarly, as mentioned above, Lau et al. found longer survival rates with larger amounts of protein production (*15*).

However, it is also possible that the 'failures' have a biological as opposed to technical cause. Although the direct antigen presentation pathway is thought to play a key role in allograft recognition (see Chapter 1), it is also likely that the indirect pathway also contributes. Antigens which are shed from the engrafted tissue may be taken up and presented by recipient antigen presenting cells in the regional lymph nodes. In this case, the transfected gene product is not present in the vicinity. This may be a partial explanation for the lower success rate seen with CTLA4-Ig vs. Fas ligand. With the former, T cells which had become activated in the lymph nodes may not be affected by the CTLA4-Ig which they encounter in the vicinity of the graft when they re-circulate. Indeed, studies have shown that the time of CTLA4-Ig is critical, having to be present within the first 2-3 days post-transplantation (*18, 19*). In the latter case, activated T cells should still be susceptible to the cytotoxic action of the Fas ligand in the graft vicinity, regardless of whether the activation occurred via the direct or indirect pathway.

Theoretically, the combination of the two molecules should achieve the best results since they should act in complementary fashion. Under optimal conditions, CTLA4-Ig should inhibit T cell activation through the direct pathway to a large extent, while Fas

ligand should cause destruction of any cells which do become activated through either insufficient B7 blockade or by indirect antigen presentation in a distant location. In our case, long term survival was only achieved in 43% of the grafts transfected with the combination of CTLA4-Ig and Fas ligand. Unfortunately, in this group our expression of each of the transfected genes was very low, with CTLA4-Ig being non-detectable in practically all cases, and Fas ligand being produced at very low levels in all cases but one. If a critical level of each molecule is required, perhaps the same amount of each DNA as was used in the single molecule studies (i.e. twice the total amount) should have been used. We were hesitant to attempt this since the ratio of DNA to gold particles seems to be critical. Alternatively, perhaps half of the islets should have been transfected with one molecule in higher concentration and the other half with the other molecule.

The quality of the collagenase preparation also contributed to a lower success rate in this study, since the islets were more fragile and susceptible to damage from the blast.

Despite the problems encountered with islet fragility, variability in transfection efficiency, insufficient gene expression and pancreatic alloxan reversion, we can conclude that both CTLA4-Ig and Fas ligand appear to be effective as locally produced immunosuppressive agents to achieve allograft protection. The hurdles which remain are to achieve more consistent transfection efficiencies and subsequent protein production, higher levels of protein production of each molecule when used in combination. This would allow better delineation of biological vs. technical limitations.

DNA	Insulin ratio (islets/media)	ELISA CTLA4-Ig	(pg/mL) Fas lig	Insulin ratio (islets/media)	ELISA CTLA4-Ig	(pg/mL) g Fas lig	Group Mean
	<u>3.0 µg D</u>	NA/0.5 mg	gold	<u>6.0 ца D</u>	NA/1.0 m	g gold	
Vector alone	1.8	ND	ND	1.6	ND	ND	2.0
	1.5	ND	ND	1.7	ND	ND	
	2.3	ND	ND	3.6	ND	ND	
	1.5	ND	ND	1.6	ND	ND	
Mean	1.8			2.1			
CTLA4-lg	0.9	76	ND	1.0	109	ND	1.4 ^a
	0.8	132	ND	0.7	77	ND	
	2.2	1226	ND	2.3	741	ND	
	<u>1.6</u>	7749	ND	1.4	7978	ND	
Mean	1.4			1.4			
Fas ligand	2.1	ND	326	2.7	85	ND	2.5 ^a
	2.6	ND	ND	3.2	ND	536	
	1.8	ND	512	3.6	121	367	
	<u>1.5</u>	ND	600	2.1	ND	283	
Mean	2.0			2.9			
CTLA4-lg/	2.3	165	333	2.4	440	407	2.1
Fas ligand	1.1	440	424	1.9	ND	ND	
	1.8	554	431	2.8	154	ND	
	<u>1.8</u>	229	317	2.6	337	561	
Mean	1.8			2.4			
Group Mean	1.8			2.2 ^b			

Table 5-1. The effect of the quantity of DNA and gold particles on islet damage and transgene expression.

^a p<0.05, two factor ANOVA, followed by Tukey's post-hoc analysis ^b p<0.05, two factor ANOVA

Group (n)	Weight (mg)	Total insulin (µg)	Insulin (ng/mg panc)	Total Insulin (µg)	Graft Surviva (d ays)
		Pancreat	a	Engrafted Kidney	
Untreated	463	11.47	24.8		
mice	475	13.18	27.8		
(n=5)	380	12.79	33.7		
	535	28.34	53.0		
	350	<u>22.93</u>	<u>65.5</u>		
Mean		17.74	40.9		
Syngeneic					66
grafts *					66
(n=4)					65
					<u>65</u>
Mean					66
24 h viability	246	0.15	0.6	0.003	17
controls	310	0.09	0.3	0.003	15
(n≈6)	277	0.10	0.3	0.003	19
(299	0.09	0.3	0.002	20
	281	0.10	0.4	0.002	15
	471	[4.8]	[10.1]	<u>0.001</u>	[60]
Mean		0.10	0.4	0.002	17
72 h culture	149	0.15	1.0	0.002	26
pre-tx	192	0.17	0.9	0.003	14
(n=7)	221	0.16	0.7	0.004	21
	235	0.14	0.6	0.005	19
	226	0.18	0.8	0.002	22
	296	0.27	0.9	0.002	26
	367	[5.3]	[14.4]	0.002	[60]
Mean		0.18	0.8	0.003	21
Blasted with	243	0.18	0.8	0.003	23
naked gold	212	0.26	1.2	0.003	23
pre-bx	289	0.16	0.6	0.003	18
(n=6)	322	0.38	1.2	0.002	23
(394	0.66	1.7	0.001	23
	451	[<u>5.00]</u>	[11.0]	0.001	[60]
Mean		0.33	1.1	0.002	22

 Table 5-2.
 Graft survival and insulin levels of transfection control grafts.

All recipients in transplant groups were alloxan-diabetic.

Values in brackets represent alloxan reversion and are not included in the calculation of the mean.

* Nephrectomy performed at this time. Blood glucose levels returned to the hyperglycemic range in all cases.

Group	#	Graft Survival (days)	BG Spike ^a (day)	Wt (mg)	Total Insulin (µg)	Insulin (ng/mg panc)	Total Insulin (µg)
					Pancreas		Engrafted Kidney
pPSC1 ^b	1	20		319	0.38	1.2	ND
(n=2)	2	29		317	0.62	2.0	0.004
pCSD7 ^c	3	15		300	0.23	0.8	ND
(n=3)	4	21		292	0.50	1.7	0.002
	5	<u>30</u>		291	0.30	1.0	0.002
Mean		23			0.41	1.3	0.002
CTLA4-ig	6	15		325	0.33	1.0	ND
(n=8)	7	18		319	0.49	1.5	0.002
	8	21		350	0.13	0.4	0.124
	9	25		348	1.10	3.2	ND
	10	47		256	0.54	2.1	0.750
	11	60 ^d	46	345	6.43	18.6	NA
	12	60 ^d	47	390	6.85	17.6	NA
	13	60 ^d	50	426	4.85	11.4	NA
as Ligand *	14	23		292	0.19	0.6	ND
(n=5)	15	50		454	0.98	2.1	1.074
	16	60 [⊄]	50	336	3.23	9.6	NA
	17	60 ^d	53	389	6.22	16.0	NA
	18	60ª	55	323	4.44	13.8	NA
TLA4-lg/	19	17		360	0.34	0.9	ND
Fas Ligand	20	18		332	0.24	0.7	0.260
(n=7)	21	20		355	0.16	0.5	0.002
	22	47		451	2.20	4.9	0.030
	23	60ª	23	362	4.02	11.1	NA
	24	60 ^d	48	341	8.05	23.6	NA
	25	60 ^d	55	317	3.23	10.2	NA

Table 5-3. Graft survival and insulin extractions of transfected islet transplants.

ND = non-detectable

NA = not available

* Day when blood glucose suddenly rose from baseline.

Levels failed to reach 16.5 mM and returned to normoglycemic range.

^b Empty vector used with CTLA4-Ig

^c Empty vector used with Fas ligand

٠

^d Blood glucose levels did not return to diabetic range following nephrectomy of engrafted kidney.

* p<0.05, Fisher's Exact Test for survival >45 days.

Group	#	BG Spike' (days)	Histological Ap Kidney	pearance Pancreas
CTLA4-Ig	11	46	No graft visible. No lymphocytic infiltrate, scarring.	No islets seen
	12	47	No graft visible. Small lymphocytic infiltrate.	Occasional islet seen.
	13	50	Large well-granulated graft. Large lymphocytic peri-infiltrate.	No islets seen.
Fas ligand	16	50	Scattered islands of graft. Large lymphocytic infiltrate.	Many islets seen.
	17	53	No graft visible. Moderate infiltrate.	No islets seen.
	18	55	No graft visible. Moderate infiltrate and scarring.	Occasional islets visible.
CTLA4-lg/ Fas ligand	24	48	No islets seen. Scarring, very little infiltrate.	No islets seen.
	25	55	Few scattered islets seen. Moderate lymphocytic infiltrate.	Several islets seen.

Table 5-4. Histological appearance of long term allografts harvested at 60 days.

* Day when blood glucose suddenly rose from baseline.

Levels failed to reach 16.5 mM and returned to normoglycemic range.

Group	Case #	Survival (days)	BG Spike (days)		(pg/mL) Fas Ligand
pPSC1	1	20		413	ND
	2	29		ND	ND
pCSD7	3	15		ND	ND
	4	21		ND	ND
	5	30		ND	ND
CTLA4-lg ^a	6	15		326	ND
•	7	18		325	ND
	8	21		428	ND
	9	25		148	ND
	10	47		229	ND
	11	60	46	1020	ND
	12	60	47	157	ND
	13	60	50	118	ND
Fas Ligand ^b	14	23		ND	190
•	15	50		ND	326
	16	60	50	ND	454
	17	60	53	204	145
	18	60	55	ND	331
CTLA4-lg/	19	17		ND	180
Fas Ligand	20	18		ND	426
-	21	20		90	ND
	23	23*		ND	114
	22	47		82	180
	24	60	48	ND	ND
	25	60	55	ND	ND

.

Table 5-5.Relationship between allograft survival and
pre-transplant transgene expression.

ND = non-detectable

NA = not available

^a correlation co-efficient = 0.159

^b correlation co-efficient = 0.418

* Assumed to have rejected at 23 d.



Figure 5-1. Blood glucose levels of mice bearing transfected long-term allografts, harvested at 60 days.

A. Diabetic BALB/c recipients who received CBA islets transfected with the gene encoding human CTLA4-Ig.

B. Diabetic BALB/c recipients who received CBA islets transfected with the gene encoding human soluble Fas ligand.

C. Diabetic BALB/c recipients who received CBA islets transfected with the genes encoding human CTLA4-Ig and human soluble Fas ligand.



Figure 5-2. Photomicrographs of histological sections from kidneys harvested at 60 days which were transplanted with allogeneic islets transfected with human CTLA4-Ig.

A. H + E stain of Sample #11, blood glucose spike at 46 days.

B. H + E stain of Sample #12, blood glucose spike at 47 days.

C. Insulin immunohistochemical stain of Sample #13, blood glucose spike at 50 days.

D. High power view of insulin immunohistochemical stain of Sample #13.

See Table 5-4 for interpretation.



Figure 5-3. Photomicrographs of histological sections from kidneys harvested at 60 days which were transplanted with allogeneic islets transfected with soluble human Fas ligand.

A. Insulin immunohistochemical stain of Sample #16, blood glucose spike at 50 days.

B. High power view of insulin immunohistochemical stain of Sample #16.

C. H + E stain of Sample #17, blood glucose spike at 53 days.

D. H + E stain of Sample #18, blood glucose spike at 55 days.

See Table 5-4 for interpretation.



Figure 5-4. Photomicrographs of histological sections from kidneys harvested at 60 days which were transplanted with allogeneic islets transfected with a combination of human CTLA4-Ig and human soluble Fas ligand.

A. H + E stain of Sample #24, blood glucose spike at 48 days.

B. Insulin immunohistochemical stain of Sample #25, blood glucose spike at 55 days.

C. High power view of insulin immunohistochemical stain of Sample #25.

See Table 5-4 for interpretation.



Figure 5-5. Hypothetical scenarios of allograft and pancreatic insulin content in alloxan-induced diabetic mice.

A. Rapidly rejected islet graft and no pancreatic reversion.

B. Indefinitely surviving islet graft and no pancreatic reversion.

C. Longterm survival of partial islet graft and pancreatic reversion.

D. Complete rejection of islet graft after prolonged survival and pancreatic reversion.

REFERENCES

- Gainer A, Korbutt G, Rajotte R, Warnock G, Elliott J. Expression of CTLA4-Ig by biolistically transfected mouse islets promotes islet allograft survival. Transplantation 1997, in press.
- 2. Bellgrau D, Gold D, Selawry H, Moore J, Franzusoff A, Duke RC. A role for CD95 ligand in preventing graft rejection. Nature 1995; 377: 630-632.
- 3. Larsen CP, Alexander DZ, Hendrix R, Ritchie SC, Pearson TC. Fas-mediated cytotoxicity. Transplantation 1995; 60: 221-224.
- 4. Nagata S, Golstein P. The Fas death factor. Science 1995; 267: 1449-1456.
- 5. Trauth B, Klas C, Peters A, et al. Monoclonal antibody-mediated tumor regression by induction of apoptosis. Science 1989; 245: 301-305.
- Anel A, Buferne M, Boyer C, Schmitt-Verhulst A, Golstein P. T cell receptorinduced Fas ligand expression in cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones is blocked by protein tyrosine kinase inhibitors and cyclosporine A. Eur J Imm 1994; 24: 2469-2476.
- Vignaux F, Vivier E, Malissen B, Depraetere V, Nagata S, Golstein P. TCR/CD3 coupling to Fas-based cytotoxicity. J Exp Med 1995; 181: 781-786.
- Suda T, Okazaki T, Naito Y, et al. Expression of the Fas ligand in cells of T cell lineage. J Immun 1995; 154: 3806-3813.
- 9. Griffith TS, Brunner T, Fletcher SM, Green DR, Ferguson TA. Fas ligand-induced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. Science 1995; 270: 1189-92.
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. J Exp Med 1991; 174: 561-569.

- Hancock-Friesen C. A strategy of local immunomodulation: Engineering Fas ligand expression by islet allografts to prevent rejection. MSc thesis. Department of Surgery. Edmonton, Alberta: University of Alberta, 1997.
- Tanaka M, Suda T, Takahashi T, Nagata S. Expression of functional soluble form of human Fas ligand in activated lymphocytes. EMBO J 1995; 14: 1129-1135.
- Adachi M, Suematsu S, Kondo T, et al. Targeted mutation in the Fas gene causes hyperplasia in peripheral lymphoid organs and liver. Nature Genetics 1995; 11: 294-300.
- Chahine AA, Yu M, McKernan MM, Stoeckert C, Lau HT. Immunomodulation of pancreatic islet allografts in mice with CTLA4Ig secreting muscle cells. Transplantation 1995; 59: 1313-1318.
- 15. Lau HT, Yu M, Fontana A, Stoeckert CJ. Prevention of islet allograft rejection with engineered myoblasts expressing FasL in mice. Science 1996; 273: 109-112.
- 16. Yin D, Fathman CG. Induction of tolerance to heart allografts in high responder rats by combining anti-CD4 with CTLA4Ig. J Immunology 1995; 155: 1655-1659.
- Lin H, Bolling Sf, Linsley PS, et al. Long-term acceptance of major histocompatibility complex mismatched cardiac allografts induced by CTLA4Ig plus donor-specific transfusion. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 1801-1806.
- 18. Baliga P, Chavin KD, Qin L, et al. CTLA4Ig prolongs allograft survival while suppressing cell-mediated immunity. Transplantation 1994; 58: 1082-1090.
- Bolling S, Lin H, Turka L. The time course of CTLAIg effect on cardiac allograft rejection. Journal of Surgical Research 1996; 63: 320-323.

CHAPTER VI

GENERAL DISCUSSION

The appeal of successful islet transplantation as a treatment for Type I diabetes is obvious: it is the most physiologic method of insulin replacement with independence from multiple daily insulin injections, perhaps the most important consideration from a patient's point of view. Exogenous insulin independence would have enormous implications in terms of quality of life, and a return to a continuous euglycemic state would prevent any (further) disease complications. In essence, the disease would be cured. In order for this treatment modality to become a widespread reality for juvenile diabetics, however, we must be able to achieve long-term survival and function of the islet graft in the absence of chronically administered immunosuppressive drugs. This entails overcoming the problems of primary non-function of the graft as well as both the alloimmune and autoimmune rejection processes.

The intent of this study was to explore the feasibility of transfecting islets with genes for immunomodulating molecules before transplanting them as a source of insulinproducing tissue, in the hopes of preventing allograft rejection. The appeal of this gene therapy approach is that it would allow localized immunosuppression, limited to the area of the graft. Chronic administration of oral pharmaceutical agents, their toxic side effects and the resultant susceptibility to particular pathogens could therefore be avoided. Direct transfection of the islets would achieve two purposes. Firstly, it would eliminate the need for a second type of tissue that would have to be immunocompatible, transfectable and non-mobile (so that it remained in the area of the engrafted islets). Secondly, toxic side effects of the immunoregulatory molecules themselves could be minimized. The two main questions to be addressed were: 1) How could intact islets be transfected? 2) What genes could be tried to achieve the desired effects? We used an allogeneic mouse model consisting of isolated CBA (H-2^k) islets transplanted into BALB/c (H-2^d) recipients to explore the answers to these questions.

BIOLISTIC TRANSFECTION OF INTACT ISLETS

Although several studies have shown that lipofection (1, 2) and electroporation (1, 2)3-5) can efficiently transfect dispersed islet cells, there is only one study that reports successful transfection by lipofection using intact islets (6). In the present study, transfection using Lipofectamine (GIBCO/BRL) on intact mouse islets was unsuccessful (7). As discussed in Chapter I, this transfection inefficiency is probably due to a combination of the overall architecture of an islet and the presence of DNA-degrading acid proteases in the lysosomes of the islet cells. However, it was felt that further pursuit of a non-viral transfection method was worthwhile for a number of reasons. Gene therapy which utilizes adenoviral vectors has been limited by the fact that infection of adult immunocompetent hosts produces only transient recombinent gene expression in vivo. Due to the immune responses which are produced, it has thus far not been possible to successfully readminister virus of the same serotype (8-13). Both cellular and humoral imnmune responses are responsible for both the transient gene expression and for the inability to readminister virus following an initial infection (14-16). In the case of currently available retroviruses, the risk of oncogenesis limits their widespread applicability. Biolistics seemed an obvious choice to pursue since it had been used to successfully transfect a variety of primary tissues which were previously found to be either difficult or impossible to transfect by more widely-used techniques (17, 18). Due to the nature of the biolistic transfection process, neither the islet architecture or the lysosomal contents present

a problem since the naked DNA is physically forced into the cytoplasm of the cells. The studies presented in Chapter II have clearly shown that biolistics is a feasible transfection method for intact mouse islets (7). Furthermore, it was verified that the surviving transfected islets maintained their insulin secretory capacity to glucose both <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u>.

1) Advantages

Perhaps the greatest point in favour of biolistics is that it is a non-viral transfection method. The benefits are twofold. The first benefit is the lack of an immune response to the gold particles used as the DNA carrier. Although currently available adenoviral transfection methods have been shown to be very efficient on islets (19-21), we have reservations about their use in transplantation due to the immune responses mounted against the viral proteins (22). We approached these studies with the ultimate goal of human islet transplantation in mind. Since the islets themselves are the transfection targets, viral transfection and subsequent viral protein production could result in immune clearance of the islet graft. It could be argued that this point shouldn't be a concern since our approach should block anti-viral as well as anti-graft immune responses. However, it is doubtful that we would be successful in blocking all responses, and it would provide additional target antigens to the system. Even if the graft was not destroyed, it seems counterproductive to invoke any kind of immune response, when the actual goal of the procedure is to dampen the immune response to the transplanted tissue. The advantage of using gold particles as the DNA microcarrier is that gold is a chemically inert substance. Further, gold has long been approved for use in humans, most often being employed in patients with auto-inflammatory conditions. In these cases, there is no inflammatory response to the gold. Indeed, in our mouse studies, there is no difference in the mean survival times between untreated islets and those which have been blasted with 'naked' gold particles (Chapter V).

The second benefit of biolistics is that once the gene is cloned, no further lengthy preparation time is required. Recombinant viruses are labour-intensive and can take months to prepare. Further, a viable product can sometimes be difficult to obtain. Indeed, our initial attempts to prepare a CTLA4-Ig-producing adenovirus were time-consuming and unsuccessful. Despite the wealth of supporting literature in this area, there are still no reports of studies employing a CTLA4-Ig-expressing adenovirus. There are two major problems that can be encountered during recombinant adenoviral preparation: 1) The product is toxic to the cells. 2) The size of the virus exceeds the limits of packaging or the insert is unstable. Unfortunately, these problems only become apparent after considerable time and effort has been wasted. In contrast, biolistics provides a means to quickly screen molecules in terms of their therapeutic potential. Although it may not be the transfection method ultimately used (see Limitations below), perhaps only molecules which appeared to show some potential on an initial screen would be further pursued with lengthy and costly procedures.

2) Limitations

Despite the advantages outlined above, there were significant drawbacks to using biolistics on intact islets. First, we encountered significant islet/cell loss from the exposure to the biolistic blast. The islet recovery (number of islets remaining following the blast) ranged anywhere from ~35% to 70%. This varied with the helium pressure, gold particle size, and method of sample exposure used (hanging drop versus sitting drop). The factor noted to have the greatest impact however, was the state of the islets before exposure to the biolistic blast. The presence of a microscopically visible capsule surrounding the islet appeared to be critical. This in turn was influenced by the type and lot number of collagenase used to perform the digestion. For example, compared to the previous studies in Chapters II, III and IV, the studies performed in Chapter V required that the islets be cultured for an additional 24 h prior to exposure to the blast, in order to regain a robust

capsule. Blasts done before this additional culture period resulted in total disruption of the islets. This was because a different lot of collagenase had to be used for the digestions in the later study, all of the previous lot having been consumed. Again, the lack of availability of large amounts of a reproducible, effective collagenase continues to be an ongoing frustration within the realm of islet isolation.

A second limitation of the biolistic method for islet transfection is the low transfection efficiency achieved. Approximately 3 - 5% of the total cells within an islet were originally found to be transfected (Chapter II). Although the levels of transfected gene expression were later improved from this by about a factor of 18 (Chapter IV), we know that the accumulated total transgenic protein produced over a 48 h period was only in the order of picograms (Chapter V).

Related to the transfection efficiency is the problem of considerable variability in the amount of protein (encoded by the transfected gene) which was achieved from one blast to another. Within all of the groups of blasts performed, including both the <u>in vitro</u> and <u>in vivo</u> studies, there was often a factor of 25 to 30 between the highest and lowest values of reporter product obtained (a factor of 1000 in the CTLA4-Ig group in Chapter V). This occurred despite careful attention to performing the procedure as consistently as possible. The problem seemed to be inherent to the technology used, as considerable differences were seen in the pattern of tearing of the rupture discs, and the angle at which the macrocarrier discs hit the stopping screen when repetitive blasts were performed (Chapter IV). This variability may be, in part, responsible for the partial success rates in our gene therapy trials (Chapters III and V). Perhaps we are only achieving sufficient protein levels to provide protection in some cases, but in others the level of gene expression is simply too low.

Finally, as outlined in the introductory chapter, biolistics only achieves transient gene expression as the DNA remains in an episomal form. In our system, gene expression was found to decline steadily, with levels at 4 weeks post-transfection being 1/8 of those at

1 week post-transfection (Chapter II). Whilst transient expression may be sufficient in some instances, successful gene therapy in many cases would require ongoing expression of the transfected gene.

GENE THERAPY AND ISLET TRANSPLANTATION

1. Human CTLA4-Ig.

Our studies have shown long-term allograft survival in 50% of cases transfected with CTLA4-Ig (Chapters III and V). Interestingly, in general it appears that the grafts either survive long term or they reject around the time of the controls i.e. the process either works or it doesn't; we do not see a spectrum of intermediate survival times. This would seem to suggest that there is a minimum level of protein required in order to achieve the protective effect. Apart from the blast to blast variability in transfection efficiency noted above, there are a number of other possible explanations for why only a proportion of our cases attained long term survival.

We synthesized human CTLA4-Ig since it had previously been shown to be effective in mice (23-25), and because the ultimate aim is to explore this approach within the context of human islet transplantation. More recently murine CTLA4-Ig has been cloned (26, 27). Although the mechanisms of action are the same, the murine CTLA4-Ig molecule has been found to have approximately ten times higher binding affinity to the murine B7 molecule than the human counterpart (26). Perhaps if murine CTLA4-Ig had been used in our studies, the greater affinity between the two molecules would have resulted in more effective blockade of lymphocytic activation and a greater success rate in long-term allograft survival. Steurer et al. argue compellingly that the higher binding efficiency of the murine molecule is responsible for their improved islet allograft survival rates over other groups (27). However, it is possible that a molecule with too high an affinity for B7 may in fact be detrimental. Since it is now believed that B7 binding of CTLA4 on activated T cells plays a role in down-regulation, or containment, of the immune response (28), high affinity binding of CTLA4-Ig to the B7 which results in long-term blockade could in fact result in a de-regulated immune response.

Within the literature, it is very difficult to make comparisons between the in vivo CTLA4-Ig studies, due to the differences in routes of protein administration, dosing schedules, types of recipient animals, species from which DNA was cloned, etc. Early in vitro studies showed >75 % inhibition of murine T cell proliferation when concentrations of 0.1 - 1.0 µg/mL of human CTLA4-Ig were used (29). Later studies increased the levels from 1.0 - 10.0 μ g/mL, but found 50 % inhibition using 10.0 ng/mL (30). However, in these cases the amount of stimulating and responder cells were in the neighbourhood of 3×10^5 lymphocytes. Our ELISA results indicate that anywhere between 80 and 1020 pg/mL of human CTLA4-Ig were produced by the biolistically-transfected islets within 48 h of culture post-transfection. However, for reasons discussed previously (Chapter V), it is difficult to know how this number relates to the amount of protein which is produced at the time of, or following transplantation. Similarly, in vivo studies which have employed human CTLA4-Ig protein have injected 50 µg q2d x 14 d (23, 24), 75 μ g qd x 3 d (31), 100 μ g on Day 0 and Day 1 of transplantation (25), 500 μ g i.p. on Day 0 of transplantation alone, or x 7 d (32), and 500 μ g on Day 0 and Day 2 of transplantation (30). Considering that the CTLA4-Ig molecule has a biphasic clearance with $T_{1/2}$ of approximately 4 h and 30 h, and that clearance of higher doses is more complex and dose-related (31), these values are again very difficult to relate to our situation.

Perhaps more relevant to our situation, are the co-transplantation studies which also result in localized expression of the transfected gene. Chahine et al. reported that 10⁵ cells of the clone which they co-transplanted produced 70 ng/mL of CTLA4-Ig over a 36 h period (*33*). This is several hundred times more than we detected in our islet system

(Chapter V). However, despite this high <u>in vitro</u> production, only 3 of 7 recipients of the cells had any detectable serum levels of CTLA4-Ig. In the co-transplantation studies which utilized Fas ligand-expressing myoblasts, protein production was not quantified, but was instead detected by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (34).

Another concern is that with binding of the CTLA4-Ig to APCs, the $Fc\gamma I$ tail would bind complement and the APC would undergo lysis. While this would perhaps result in a decrease in overall immunogenicity, the achievement of anergy would no longer be a possibility (since a strong Class II Signal 1 in the absence of Signal 2 would not be present). Further, with the mutations introduced into the hinge area of the Ig tail of our molecule, the two heavy chain molecules are no longer cross-linked, and the complement binding sites are most likely destabilized (personal communication, Peter Linsley).

There is also the possibility that an immune response may be raised by the mouse to the human CTLA4-Ig protein and that the protein would be cleared from the system. Even if this were to be the case, it is unlikely to play a major role in this setting since we know that the transfected gene expression is limited in duration through the nature of the biolistic process.

A final problem also relates to the transient nature of the transgene expression. Despite initial graft protection, there is still the possibility of new thymic emigrants directed against the graft being released after the expression of the transfected gene has ceased. This could result in graft rejection further down the road.

2. Human soluble Fas ligand.

In our studies we achieved allograft survival >45 days in 80% of our cases. Although this was a somewhat smaller sample group than the others, it is in agreement with results obtained by Lau et al. who used a co-transplantation model (34). Similar arguments to those used with human CTLA4-Ig pertain to the use of human Fas ligand in a murine model. We employed a human Fas ligand molecule to bind to murine Fas receptors on activated lymphocytes. Therefore, the problems of humanspecific immune responses and differing binding constants may also apply.

Theoretically, the Fas ligand could require much higher levels of secreted protein than the CTLA4-Ig system for a number of reasons. In both systems, it is assumed that a certain critical level of protein is required for binding. The distance between the proteinproducing islet cell and the target cell to be bound therefore becomes important. Due to loss through diffusion and dilution, more protein would be required for distantly located infiltrating lymphocytes (Fas ligand system) than for proximally located intra-islet APCs (CTLA4-Ig system). Additionally, 2 or 3 Ia-positive cells (APCs) were found within canine islets (*35*). In the CTLA4-Ig system, the amount of protein required is therefore limited to that needed to bind all of the B7 sites on this limited number of cells. Conversely, Fas ligand's mode of action is to bind to (and cause destruction of) activated T cells. The numbers of activated, infiltrating lymphocytes would be considerable, requiring relatively large amounts of protein to bind to them all.

Having said this, our studies do not show more effective results with CTLA4-Ig than with Fas ligand. This would seem to suggest that the quantity of the protein which is present is not the only important factor. Other mechanisms, such as indirect antigen presentation by recipient APCs in distant locations may also play a role (as discussed in Chapter V). In theory, it seems that a combination of the two molecules should be most effective: In the best of scenarios, T cell activation should largely be prevented by the CTLA4-Ig, but any cells which do in fact become activated could then be destroyed by apoptosis following binding of Fas ligand. Unfortunately, our results have not shown this to be the case. By using half as much of each of the cDNAs in order to keep the total amount constant, we achieved very little protein production of either molecule as reflected by our ELISA results.

ACHIEVEMENTS OF THIS STUDY

The achievements of this study are severalfold. This data is unique, in first exploring the concept of biolistic transfection of intact islets. Presentation of our data at the International Pancreas and Islet Transplantation Association's meeting in Miami, in 1995 generated considerable interest. While several other groups are now pursuing the concept we are still the only ones to date who have published on the subject. It would be fair to say that we are regarded as one of the leaders in the field of biolistic islet transfection.

Along similar lines, due to our development of this transfection technique, our data is unique in first demonstrating results of an <u>in vivo</u> trial using islets directly transfected with immunomodulatory molecules (CTLA4-Ig). While our long-term allograft survival success was only partial, we feel that we have demonstrated 'proof of principle' in terms of usefulness of both CTLA4-Ig and Fas ligand in prevention of allograft rejection. Indeed, our results confirm, in principle, earlier findings by several groups that CTLA4-Ig prolongs allograft survival. We have achieved the highest rates of long-term allograft survival to date with local production of CTLA4-Ig, with considerable improvement over the results shown Chahine et al. (*33*). In the case of soluble Fas ligand, our findings were similar to those of Lau et al. (*34*). Both of these groups were using co-transplant models of islet transplantation. The findings of all of the studies in this treatise have already provided useful information for the design of future experiments in this area. Using the biolistic apparatus, it should be straight-forward to insert any molecule of choice within various transplant combinations (see below).

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Several points of interest raised by this work are worthy of pursuit. The transfection issues are as follows. Non-viral transfection methods for use in islets are worth developing, both for the immunological and time-frame reasons discussed above. If the biolistic method is to continue to be used, the blast to blast variability has to be improved. This probably means a change in technology from those relying on disc rupture. In fact, Bio-Rad seems to have already realized the limitations of the disc rupture models and is apparently now focusing on developing a different type of helium-based model. In addition, the problem of having to use more limited amounts of each DNA when studying a combination of molecules has to be overcome.

Alternatively, newer non-viral methods of transfection could be explored. Lipofection reagents continue to be improved. A small degree of islet dissociation prior to the lipofection procedure may improve transfection efficiency. By far the highest efficiencies have been obtained using recombinant adenoviruses. The use of adenoviruspolylysine complexes which utilize the adenovirus receptor look to be promising. New methodologies and modifications are appearing at a rapid rate so the outlook for better transfection efficiencies is fairly optimistic. In addition to transfection efficiency, higher levels of gene expression may be obtained with more efficient and/or more tissue-specific promoter/enhancer elements. In the case of CTLA4-Ig, the levels of protein present could be augmented by preincubation of the islets with CTLA4-Ig protein prior to transplantation. In this situation, most or all of the B7 sites on the islet APCs would be initially blocked in vitro and the islets would only have to produce enough protein for ongoing blockade.

The immunological questions raised by these studies are many. Obviously we have not addressed the specific mechanisms responsible for allograft protection. Has anergy in fact been achieved? Does a true state of tolerance exist? What is the nature of the lymphocytic peri-infiltrate? Does it play some sort of active role in graft protection (e.g. are there 'suppresser cells' present)? Could evidence of apoptosis be detected earlier on in the case of the Fas ligand protected allografts? These are all areas which deserve further investigation to answer the mechanistic questions raised.

Finally, now that the tools and procedures have been developed and are in place, it should be relatively easy to extend this approach to other combinations of molcules or to transfer it to other transplantation systems. For example, new molecules or combinations could be tested. The most obvious candidates would be molecules designed to interfere with the other co-stimulatory pathways such as the CD2:LFA-3 or CD40:CD40 ligand interaction. Biolistics could provide a immediate screening method for such combinations, rather than having to await the production of each of the recombinant adenoviruses. Alternatively, the effect of CTLA4-Ig, Fas ligand or both could be examined in terms of the autoimmune processes responsible for the initial onset and recurrence of Type I disease. Their effects could also be investigated within the xenograft arena. Further, this system could be employed to examine the effects of other immune regulating molecules such as cytokines on graft rejection. Complement regulators such as Decay Accelerating Factor (DAF) could be produced to examine their effectiveness in blockade of xenograft destruction. The effects of non-immunologic molecules could also be tested. Such molecules would include islet-specific trophic substances or angiogenic factors such as TGF-ß which may improve engraftment of the transplanted tissue. As our molecular understanding of these processes continues to grow, so does the list of potential candidates for testing within this system.

The usefulness of this study could extend into a wide range of disciplines. Within the larger picture, the biolistic approach which has been developed here could be adapted for use with many types of tissues. Similarly, the molecules which have been cloned for use in this study could be utilized to answer a number of immunological questions unrelated to transplantation. It is hoped that both of these tools will prove useful in the future as the era of gene therapy pertaining to many diverse areas of medicine rapidly approaches.

REFERENCES

- Welsh M, Claesson-Welsh L, Hallberg A, et al. Coexpression of the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) B chain and the PDGF b receptor in isolated pancreatic islet cells stimulates DNA synthesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1990; 87: 5807-5811.
- Saldeen J, Curiel DT, Eizirik DL, et al. Efficient gene transfer to dispersed human pancreatic islet cells in vitro using adenovirus-polylysine/DNA complexes or polycationic liposomes. Diabetes 1996; 45: 1197-1203.
- 3. Welsh M, Welsh N, Nilsson T, et al. Stimulation of pancreatic islet beta-cell replication by oncogenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1988; 85: 116-120.
- 4. German M, Moss L, Rutter W. Regulation of insulin gene expression by glucose and calcium in transfected primary islet cultures. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 22063-22066.
- 5. German M. Glucose sensing in pancreatic islet beta cells: The key role of glukinase and the glycolytic intermediates. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1993; 90: 1781-1785.
- Welsh M, Andersson A. Transplantation of transfected pancreatic islets Stimulation of B cell DNA synthesis by the SRC oncogene. Transplantation 1994; 57: 297-299.
- Gainer AL, Korbutt GS, Rajotte RV, Warnock GL, Elliott JF. Successful biolistic transformation of mouse pancreatic islets while preserving cellular function. Transplantation 1996; 61: 1567-1571.
- Dai Y, Schwarz E, Gu D, Zhang W, Sarvetnick N, Verma I. Cellular and humoral immune responses to adenoviral vectors containing factor IX gene: Tolerization of factor IX and vector antigens allows for long-term expression. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 1995; 92: 1401-1405.
- Smith T, Mehaffey M, Kayda D, et al. Adenovirus mediated expression of therapeutic plasma levels of human factor IX in mice. Nature Genetics 1993; 5: 397-402.

- Kozarsky K, McKinley D, Austin L, Raper S, Stratford-Perricaudet L, Wilson J. In vivo correction of low density lipoprotein receptor deficiency in the Watanabe heritable hyperlipidemic rabbit with recombinant adenoviruses. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 13695-13702.
- Quantin B, Perricaudet L, Tajbakhsh J, Mandel J. Adenovirus as an expression vector in muscle cells in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad Sci USA 1992; 89: 2581-2584.
- Rosenfeld M, Yoshimura K, Trapnell B, et al. In vivo transfer of the human cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene to the airway epithelium. Cell 1992; 68: 143-155.
- 13. Barr E, Carroll J, Kalynych A, et al. Efficient catheter-mediated gene transfer into the heart using replication-defective adenovirus. Gene Therapy 1994; 1: 51-58.
- Yang Y. MHC class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes to viral antigens destroy hepatocytes in mice infected with E1-deleted recombinant adenoviruses. Immunity 1994; 1: 433-442.
- Yang Y. Cellular immunity to viral antigens limits E1-deleted adenoviruses for gene therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994; 91: 4407-4411.
- Yang Y, Li Q, Ertl H, Wilson J. Cellular and humoral immune responses to viral antigens create barriers to lung-directed gene therapy with recombinant adenoviruses. J Virol 1995; 69: 2004-2015.
- Heiser WC. Gene transfer into mammalian cells by particle bombardment. Anal Biochem 1994; 217: 185-196.
- Cheng F-M, Joho KE. Effect of biolistic particle size on the efficiency of transfection of oocytes in Xenopus ovary tissue. Nucleic Acids Research 1994; 22: 3265-3266.
- Becker T, Beltran del Rio H, Noel R, Johnson J, Newgard C. Overexpression of hexokinase I in isolated islets of Langerhans via recombinant adenovirus. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 21234-21238.

- 20. Becker T, Noel R, Johnson J. Use of recombinant adenovirus vectors for high-efficiency gene transfer into the islets of Langerhans. Diabetes 1993; 42 (suppl 2): 11A.
- 21. Csete ME, Benhamou PY, Drazan KE, et al. Efficient gene transfer to pancreatic islets mediated by adenoviral vectors. Transplantation 1995; 59: 263-268.
- McCoy RD, Davidson BL, Roessler BJ, et al. Pulmonary inflammation induced by incomplete or inactivated adenoviral particles. Human Gene Therapy 1995; 6: 1553-1560.
- 23. Lenschow DJ, Zeng Y, Thistlethwaite JR, et al. Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4Ig. Science 1992; 257: 789-792.
- Pearson TC, Alexander DZ, Winn KJ, Linsley PS, Lowry RP, Larsen CP. Transplantation tolerance induced by CTLA4-Ig. Transplantation 1994; 57: 1701-1706.
- 25. Baliga P, Chavin KD, Qin L, et al. CTLA4Ig prolongs allograft survival while suppressing cell-mediated immunity. Transplantation 1994; 58: 1082-1090.
- 26. Wallace P, Johnson J, MacMaster J, Kennedy K, Gladstone P, Linsley P. CTLA4Ig treatment ameliorates the lethality of murine graft-versus-host defense across major histocompatibility complex barriers. Transplantation 1994; 58: 602-610.
- Steurer W, Nickerson PW, Steele AW, Steiger J, Zheng XX, Strom TB. Ex vivo coating of islet cell allografts with murine CTLA4/Fc promotes graft tolerance. J Immunology 1995; 155: 1165-1174.
- 28. Bluestone J. New perspectives of CD28-B7-mediated T cell costimulation. Immunity 1995; 2: 555-559.
- Linsley PS, Brady W, Urnes M, Grosmaire LS, Damle NK, Ledbetter JA. CTLA-4 is a second receptor for the B cell activation antigen B7. J Exp Med 1991; 174: 561-569.

- 30. Yin D, Fathman CG. Induction of tolerance to heart allografts in high responder rats by combining anti-CD4 with CTLA4Ig. J Immunology 1995; 155: 1655-1659.
- 31. Linsley PS, Wallace PM, Johnson J, et al. Immunosuppression in vivo by a soluble form of the CTLA-4 T cell activation molecule. Science 1992; 257: 792-794.
- Lin H, Bolling Sf, Linsley PS, et al. Long-term acceptance of major histocompatibility complex mismatched cardiac allografts induced by CTLA4Ig plus donor-specific transfusion. J Exp Med 1993; 178: 1801-1806.
- Chahine AA, Yu M, McKernan MM, Stoeckert C, Lau HT. Immunomodulation of pancreatic islet allografts in mice with CTLA4Ig secreting muscle cells. Transplantation 1995; 59: 1313-1318.
- 34. Lau HT, Yu M, Fontana A, Stoeckert CJ. Prevention of islet allograft rejection with engineered myoblasts expressing FasL in mice. Science 1996; 273: 109-112.
- 35. Lacy P. Transplantation of pancreatic islets. Ann Rev Immunol 1984; 2: 183-198.

APPENDIX

DETAILS OF GENE CONSTRUCTION

A.	Signal Sequence OncoM	CTLA4 Exon 1 Human CTLA4	CTLA4 Exon 2 Hinge	cH Human IgCγ,	Ť
ഫ്	Signal Sequence	Extracytopidsmic portion of Eas again f	tion of Eastagan - 283 -		
	Murine G-CSF	Soluble human Fas ligand	ו Fas ligand		

Figure A-1. Schematic of immunomodulatory molecules used in allotransplant studies.
 A. Human CTLA4-Ig showing constitutive sections of the fusion protein gene.
 B. Soluble human Fas ligand showing constitutive sections of the truncated molecule.

A series of cassettes were synthesized which were sequentially ligated together. Each cassette contained specific restriction sites that had been introduced by primers which encoded for the appropriate point mutations but which did not affect the amino acid sequence (i.e. non-coding mutations).

1. Exon 1 (excluding the last 3 amino acid residues) of human CTLA4 was cloned from genomic (placental) DNA using PCR with a combination of Taq polymerase and Vent polymerase in a 10:1 ratio. Primers contained specific sites shown below.

Product 1: Apa I-Xba I-Bst XI-Bst XI-Bgi II-Nar I-Not I

2. The Oncostatin M signal sequence was synthesized by filling in the ends of overlapping oligonucleotides (60mers) which had been previously purified on a 15% acrylamide gel.

Product 2: Xba I-Bst XI

3. The Onco M signal sequence (Product 2) was ligated into the gene (Product 1) through the Xba I and Bst XI sites.

Product 3: Apa I-Xba I-Bst XI-Bst XI-Bgl II-Nar I-Not I

4. The proximal portion of Exon 2 (first 8 amino acid residues) spliced to the hinge portion of human $IgC\gamma 1$ (17 amino acid residues) was synthesized from overlapping oligonucleotides (53mers) as Step 2 above.

Product 4: Bgl II-Bel I-Bel I-

5. The human $IgC\gamma 1$ tail was synthesized by PCR from cDNA.

Product 5: Apa I-Nar I-

6. The hinge cassette (Product 4) cut with Bgl II and Nar I and the $IgC\gamma 1$ cassette (Product 5) were force cloned by a two step ligation into the gene to form the final product.

Product 6:		
Apa I-Xba I-	-Bgl II-Bcl I-	-Nar I-

Figure A-2. Cloning strategy for human CTLA4-Ig All enzymes were purchased from New England Biolabs (Beverly, MA).

1. Exon 1 of human CTLA4.

Forward: GGGCCCTCTAGAGCCATGCACGTGGCCCAGCCTGC Reverse: GCGGCCGCGGCGCCAGATCTGGGCTCCGTTGCCTATGCCC

2. Oncostatin M signal sequence.

Forward: GCTCTAGAGCCCACCATGGGGGGTACTGCTCACACAGAGGACG CTGCTAAGCTTGGTCCTT Reverse: ACTCCACGTGCATGGCCATGCTCGCCATGCTTGGAAACAGGAG TGCAAGGACCAAGCTTA

3. Exon 2 of human CTLA4 and hinge region of human IgC γ 1.

Forward: AGATCTATGTAATTGATCCAGAACCGTGCCCAGATTCTGATCA AGAGCCCAAAT

Reverse: GGCGCCGGGGACGGTGGGGGATGTGTGAGTTTTGTCAGAAGAT TTGGGCTCTTGA

4. Human IgCγ1 tail.

Forward: GGGCCCGGCGCCTGAACTCCTGGGGGGGACCGTC Reverse: GCGGCCGCTCATTTACCCCGGAGACAGGGAGA

Figure A-3. Synthetic oligonucleotides used in synthesis of human CTLA4-Ig.

Xba I Koziak Hind III 1 getetagageceace ATG GGG GTA CTG CTC ACA CAG AGG ACG CTG CT<u>A AGC TTG</u> GTC CTT GCA 1 M G V L L T Q R T L L <u>S</u> L V L A 63 16 MGVLLTQRTLL Bst XI 123 64 CTC CTG TTT CCA AGC ATG GCG AGC ATG G<u>CC ATG CAC GTG G</u>CC CAG CCT GCT GTG GTA CTG 36 17 L E P S M A S M A MHV AOPA 183 124 GCC AGC AGC CGA GGC ATC GCC AGC TTT GTG TGT GAG TAT GCA TCT CCA GGC AAA GCC ACT IAS S 56 G F v CE Y А P G к A 37 A S S R 184 GAG GTC CGG GTG ACA GTG CTT CGG CAG GCT GAC AGC CAG GTG ACT GAA GTC TGT GCG GCA 243 76 ΕV CAA R V Т v L R QA DSQV T 244 ACC TAC ATG ATG GGG AAT GAG TTG ACC TTC CTA GAT GAT TCC ATC TGC ACG GGC ACC TCC 303 r 96 YMMGNELTELDDS С Т G Т S 77 T 304 AGT GGA AAT CAA GTG AAC CTC ACT ATC CAA GGA CTG AGG GCC ATG GAC ACG GGA CTC TAC 363 97 S G N Q V N L T I Q G L R A M D T G L 116 423 364 ATC TGC AAG GTG GAG CTC ATG TAC CCA CCG CCA TAC TAC CTG GGC ATA GGC AAC GGA GCC V E L M Y P P P Y Y L G 1.36 I G N G A 117 I C K Bcl I Bgl II 424 CAG ATC TAT GTA ATT GAT CCA GAA CCG TGC CCA GAT TCT GAT CAA GAG CCC AAA TCT TCT 483 156 Г Р Р Е Р С Р Р S D Q Е PKSS Ŷ v 137 0 I Nar I 484 GAC AAA ACT CAC ACA TCC CCA CCG TCC CCG GCG CCT GAA CTC CTG GGG GGA CCG TCA GTC 543 PELLGG 176 P S v нтзррдр A 157 D K T 544 TTC CTC TTC CCC CCA AAA CCC AAG GAC ACC CTC ATG ATC TCC CGG ACC CCT GAG GTC ACA 603 196 177 E E P P K P K D T L M Í S R т P E 604 TGC GTG GTG GTG GAC GTG AGC CAC GAA GAC CCT GAG GTC AAG TTC AAC TGG TAC GTG GAC 663 216 HEDPEVKF N W Y v D 197 C V V v D V S 723 664 GGC GTG GAG GTG CAT AAT GCC AAG ACA AAG CCG CGG GAG GAG CAG TAC AAC AGC ACG TAC 236 Е N Ť Y EVHNAKTKP R ε QΥ S 217 G 724 CGT GTG GTC AGC GTC CTC ACC GTC CTG CAC CAG GAC TGG CTG AAT GGC AAG GAG TAC AAG 783 256 LHQDWLNGKEY 237 R v S v L Т v 843 784 TGC AAG GTC TCC AAC AAA GCC CTC CCA GCC CCC ATC GAG AAA ACC ATC TCC AAA GCC AAA 276 S N K A L P A P I E K А ĸ Т I S К v 257 C K 844 GGG CAG CCC CGA GAA CCA CAG GTG TAC ACC CTG CCC CCA TCC CGG GAT GAG CTG ACC AAG 903 296 ם VYTLPPS R E 277 G O P R E P Q 963 904 AAC CAG GTC AGC CTG ACC TGC CTG GTC AAA GGC TTC TAT CCC AGC GAC ATC GCC GTG GAG 316 D A V E тсьvкдеур s I 297 N VSL 0 964 TGG GAG AGC AAT GGG CAG CCG GAG AAC AAC CAC AAG ACC ACG CCT CCC GTG CTG GAC TCC 1023 NHKTTPPVLDS 336 S N G O P E N 317 W E 1024 GAC GGC TCC TTC TTC CTC TAC AGC AAG CTC ACC GTG GAC AAG AGC AGG TGG CAG CAG GGG 1083 356 FELYSKLTVDKS R w 0 0 G 337 D G S 1084 AAC GTC TTC TCA TGC TCC GTG ATG CAT GAG GCT CTG CAC AAC CAC TAC ACG CAG AAG AGC 1143 376 ток 357 N V F S C S V M H E A L H N н Ү Not I 1175 1144 CTC TCC CTG TCT CCG GGT AAA TGA geggeege 384 377 L S L S P G K

DNA sequence 1175 b.p. gctctagagccc ... atgagcggccgc

Figure A-4. DNA sequence of the human CTLA4-Ig gene construct.

A single non-coding mutation of thymidine for guanosine appears at position 726. Introduced restriction sites, Koziak sequence and cys to ser substitutions are underlined.

linear

DNA sequence 577 b.p. acgcgtccaccA ... CTAAgcggccgc linear

1 acceptecace and get car ett tet gee cag agg ege ang ang eta atg gee etg cag etg 62 1 M A Q L S A Q R R M K L M A L Q L 17 63 CTG CTG TGG CAA AGT GCA CTA TGG TCA GGA CGA GAG GCC GTT CCC CTG GTC ACT GTC AGC 122 18 L W Q S A L W S G R E A V P L V T V S 37 123 GCT CTA GAA CCC CCT GAA AAA AAG GAG CTG AGG MAA GTG GCC CAT TTA ACA GGC AAG TCC 182 38 A L E P P E K K E L R K V A H L T G K S 57 183 ANC TCA AGG TCC ATG CCT CTG GAA TGG GAA GAC ACC TAT GGA ATT GTC CTG CTT TCT GGA 242 58 N S R S M P L E W E D T Y G I V L L S G 77 243 GTG ANG TAT ANG ANG GGT GGC CTT GTG ATC ANT GAA ACT GGG CTG TAC TTT GTA TAT TCC 302 78 V K Y K K G G L V I N E T G L Y F V Y S 97 303 ANA GTA TAC THE COG GET CAN TET THE AND AND CTG CEE CTG AGE CAC ANG GTE TAC ATG 362 98 K V Y F R G Q S C N N L P L S H K V Y M 117 363 AGG AAC TCT AAG TAT CCC CAG GAT CTG GTG ATG ATG GAG GGG AAG ATG ATG AGC TAC TGC 422 118 R N S K Y P Q D L V M M E G K M M S Y C 137 423 ACT ACT GGG CAG ATG TGG GCC CGC AGC AGC TAC CTG GGG GCA GTG TTC AAT CTT ACC AGT 482 138 T T G Q M W A R S S Y L G A V F N L T S 157 483 GCT GAT CAT TTA TAT GTC AAC GTA TCT GAG CTC TCT CTG GTC AAT TTT GAG GAA TCT CAG 542 158 A D H L Y V N V S E L S L V N F E E S Q 177 543 ACG TIT TIC GGC TIA TAT AAG CIC TAA geggeege 577 178 T F F G L Y K L · 186

Figure A-5. DNA sequence of the human soluble Fas ligand gene construct.

-